

open access journal Italian Journal of Agronomy

Rivista di Agronomia A Journal of Agroecosystem Management

ISSN 1125-4718

www.agronomy.it

2018 | volume 13(s1)

The Ecoremed protocol for an integrated agronomic approach to characterization and remediation of contaminated soils

> **Guest editors** Massimo Fagnano, Nunzio Fiorentino



Italian Journal of Agronomy

Editors

- Michele Perniola, School of Agriculture, Forest, Food and Environmental Science, University of Basilicata, viale dell'Ateneo Lucano 10, 85100 Potenza, Italy. Tel. +39.0971.205381 / +39.320.3606258 E-mail: perniola@unibas.it
- Michele Rinaldi, Council for Agricultural Research and Economics, Research Centre for Cereal and Industrial Crops, S.S. 673 km 25,200, 71122 Foggia, Italy. Tel. +39.0881.742972 int 415 E-mail: michele.rinaldi@crea.gov.it

Editorial Advisory Board

- Arturo Alvino Department of Agricultural, Environmental and Food Sciences, University of Molise, Italy
- Mariana Amato School of Agriculture, Forest, Food and Environmental Science, University of Basilicata, Potenza, Italy
- Gaetano Amato Department of Agricultural and Forest Sciences, University of Palermo, Italy
- Paolo Annicchiarico Centre for Fodder Crops and Dairy Productions, Council for Agricultural Research and Economics, Lodi, Italy
- Luca Bechini Department of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences-Production, Landscape, Agroenergy, University of Milan, Italy
- Paolo Benincasa Department of Agricultural, Food and Environmental Sciences, University of Perugia, Italy
- Iacopo Bernetti Department of Agriculture, University of Florence, Italy
- Giorgio Borreani Department of Agricultural, Forestry and Food Sciences, University of Turin, Italy
- Davide Cammarano James Hutton Institute Invergowrie, Dundee, Scotland, UK
- Vincenzo Candido School of Agriculture, Forest, Food and Environmental Science, University of Basilicata, Potenza, Italy
- Raffaele Casa Department of Agriculture, Forests, Nature and Energy, University of Tuscia, Viterbo, Italy
- Cristiano Casucci Department of Agricultural, Food and Environmental Sciences, Marche Polytechnic University, Ancona, Italy
- Enrico Ceotto Centre for Industrial Crops, Council for Agricultural Research and Economics, Bologna, Italy
- Giuseppe Corti Department of Agricultural, Food and Environmental Sciences, Marche Polytechnic University, Ancona, Italy
- Nicola Dal Ferro Department of Agronomy Food Natural Resources Animals Environment, University of Padua, Italy
- Anna Dalla Marta Department of Agrifood Production and Environmental Sciences, University of Florence, Italy
- Antonio Elia Department of Science of Agriculture, Food and Environment, University of Foggia, Italy

Christof Engels – Department of Animal and Plant Sciences, Plant Nutrition, Humboldt-University Berlin, Germany

Massimo Fagnano – Department of Agriculture, Federico II University, Naples, Italy

- Zina Flagella Department of Agricultural, Food and Environmental Sciences, University of Foggia, Italy
- Giuseppe Gatta Department of Agricultural, Food and Environmental Sciences, University of Foggia, Italy
- Marcella Giuliani Department of Agricultural, Food and Environmental Sciences, University of Foggia, Italy
- Anne Gobin Flemish Institute for Technological Research, Mol, Belgium
- Elisa Marraccini Department of Agronomy and Animal Sciences, Institut Polytechnique UniLaSalle, Beauvais, France
- Roberta Masin Department of Agronomy, Food, Natural Resources, Animals and Environment, University of Padua, Italy
- Giovanni Mauromicale Department of Agricultural and Food Science, University of Catania, Italy
- Jean Meynard NRA Institut National de La Recherche Agronomique, Paris, France
- Eric Ober National Institute of Agricultural Botany, Cambridge, United Kingdom
- Alberto Pardossi Department of Agriculture, Food and Environmental Science, University of Pisa, Italy
- Cristina Patané Insitute of Tree and Timber, National Research Council, Catania, Italy
- Pier Paolo Roggero Department of Agricultural Sciences and Desertification Research Centre, University of Sassari, Italy
- Dario Sacco Department of Agricultural, Forestry and Food Sciences, University of Turin, Italy
- Mahmoud F. Seleiman Department of Agricultural Science, University of Finland, Helsinki, Finland
- Claudio Stockle Department of Biological Systems Engineering, Washington State University, Pullman, WA, USA
- Leonardo Sulas Institute for Animal Production System in Mediterranean Environment, National Research Council, Sassari, Italy
- Elena Valkama Bioeconomy and Environment Unit, the Natural Resources Institute Finland, Helsinki, Finland
- Gaetano Alessandro Vivaldi Department of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences, University of Bari, Italy

Editorial Staff

Paola Granata, Managing Editor Cristiana Poggi, Production Editor Tiziano Taccini, Technical Support

Publisher

PAGEPress Publications Via A. Cavagna Sangiuliani 5 27100 Pavia, Italy Tel. +39.0382.464340 – Fax. +39.0382.34872 info@pagepress.org – www.pagepress.org



Italian Journal of Agronomy

The Italian Journal of Agronomy (IJA) is the official journal of the Italian Society of Agronomy for the publication of original research papers reporting experimental and theoretical contributions to agronomy and crop science. Typical subjects covered by the IJA include: i) crop physiology, ii) crop production and management, iii) agroclimatology and modelling, iv) plant-soil relationships, v) crop quality and post-harvest physiology, vi) farming and cropping systems, vii) agroecosystems and the environment, viii) agricultural ecology, ix) advances in traditional and innovative crops, x) crop and system modelling.

Instructions to Authors

Manuscripts must be submitted online at www.agronomy.it *only*; do not submit via e-mail or surface mail.

Manuscripts must be written in English. Authors whose native language is not English are strongly recommended to have their manuscript checked by a language editing service, or by an English mother-tongue colleague prior to submission. Manuscripts should be saved and submitted as a single WORD file containing the full text, references, tables and figures. In case of acceptance, original text and figures must be provided for publication.

Original Articles should normally be divided into an abstract, introduction, materials and methods, results, discussion and references. The abstract should contain a maximum of 400 words. A maximum of 20 authors is permitted, and additional authors should be listed in an ad hoc appendix. Review Articles: no particular format is required for these articles. However, they should have an informative, unstructured abstract of about 250 words. Reviews may also include meta-analyses, guidelines and consensus papers by scientific societies or working groups. These studies must be conducted following proper, widely accepted ad hoc procedures. Short Communications are articles with a simple layout and containing limited data (no more than two figures or tables) and a small number of citations (not more than 25). They should be limited to 2,000 words of text (figure captions, table headings and reference lists are additional to this limit). Letters to the editor should be from 250 to 1,000 words in length. Authors of letters to the editor should provide a short title for their letter.

Manuscripts should be double spaced with numbered lines and wide margins and should be arranged as follows. Title page: including the full title, the name(s) of the author(s), their affiliation and the name of the corresponding author to whom proofs and requests for off-prints should be sent. Abstract: should not exceed 400 words. Keywords: three to six keywords characterizing the content of the article in alphabetical order. Introduction: a brief introduction. Materials and methods: this section should provide sufficient information and references on the techniques adopted to permit their replication. Results: the content of this section should permit full comprehension of the data reported in figures and tables. Discussion: this should underline the significance of the results and place them in the context of previous research. Acknowledgements: a brief text. References (see below for style). References to personal communications and unpublished data should be incorporated in the text and not placed under the numbered

References. Units: authors are recommended to use the International System of Units (SI). Scientific names: common names of organisms should always be accompanied, when first cited, by their complete scientific name in italics (genus, species, attribution and, if appropriate, cultivar). Formulae: mathematical formulae must be carefully typed, possibly using the equation editor of Microsoft Word when a paper contains several equations they should be identified with a number in parentheses (e.g. Eq. 1). Please note that each accepted paper will undergo technical and scientific copyediting before publication. Tables: tables are numbered consecutively in Arabic numbers without no. before the number. References should be made in the text to each table. The desired style of presentation can be found in published articles. Titles of tables should be descriptive enough to be able to stand alone. Do not present the same data in tabular and graphic form. Figures: figures are numbered consecutively in Arabic numbers. References should be made in the text to each figure. Each figure should have a caption. The term figure is used also for graphs and photos. Symbols and abbreviations used in figures can be defined in the figure caption or note or within the figure itself. Please avoid the use of bold face or greater size for the characters. Symbols and abbreviations used in figures can be defined in the figure caption or note or within the figure itself. The figures must be submitted as .tif or .jpg files, with the following digital resolution: 1. Color (saved as CMYK): minimum 300 dpi; 2. Black and white/grays: minimum 600 dpi; lettering of figures must be clearly labelled. Movies can be submitted and uploaded as Supplementary Files during the manuscript submission procedure. Dimension should not exceed 5 MB. Citations in the *text:* the journal follows the author, year style of citation. When a citation has one, two or three authors, cite the reference throughout using the name(s) and the date. When a citation has more than three authors, cite the reference throughout the text with et al. following the last name of the first author. When two or more references are included in a grouping within a sentence, they are arranged and separated by a semicolon. The first criterion is the year (former citations precede recent ones); multiple citations for a given year are further arranged alphabetically and multiple citations for the same initial letter are arranged as follows: first the citation with one author, secondly the citation with two authors, then the other (with et al.). When the same author has two references with different dates, cite them in chronological order, separating the dates with a comma; when the same author has two references with the same date, arrange the dates as a and b (also in the reference list) and separated by a comma. Example: (Foury, 1967, 1972; Burns et al., 1970; Allen et al., 1990; Basnizki and Zohary, 1994; White et al., 1990a, 1990b). Citation should be made in the text to each reference. Citations are listed in strict alphabetical order by first author' last names. Use capital and lower case letters for authors' names. If all authors are identical for two or more citations, chronological order of publication should dictate the order of citations. When more than one paper in a given year is listed by authors whose names are in the same order in each paper, the papers are arranged in alphabetical order of the paper title. Use the following system to arrange your references:

1. periodicals: Hennighausen LG, Sippel AE, 1982. Characterization and cloning of the mRNAs specific for the lactating mouse mammary gland. Eur. J. Biochem. 125:131-41.

2. books: National Research Council, 2001. Nutrient Requirements of Dairy Cattle. 7th rev. ed. National Academy Press, Washington, DC, USA.



3. multi-authors books: Brouwer I, 1965. Report of the subcommittee on constants and factors. In: KL Blaxter (ed.) Energy metabolism. EAAP Publ. N. 11, Academic Press Ltd., London, UK, pp 441-3.

4. proceedings: Rossi A, Bianchi B, 1998. How writing the references. Proc. 4th World Congr. Appl. Livest. Prod., Armidale, Australia, 26:44-6. or Blanco P, Nigro B, 1970. Not numbered volumes. Page 127 (or pp 12-18) in Proc. 3rd Int. Conf. Cattle Dis., Philadelphia, PA, USA.

5. thesis: Rossi P, 1999. Stima di parametri genetici nella razza Reggiana. Degree Diss., Università di Milano, Italy.

6. material from a www site: Food and Drug Administration, 2001. Available from: http://www.fda.gov

7. in press: Manuscripts that have been accepted for publication but are not yet published can be listed in the literature cited with the designation (In press) following the journal title.

8. other: Citations such as personal communication, unpublished data, *etc.* should be incorporated in the text and NOT placed into the Reference section.

Copyright

All material published by PAGEPress Publications, whether submitted to or created by PAGEPress, is published under an Open Access license that lets others remix, and build upon your work non-commercially, and although their new works must also acknowledge you and be non-commercial, they don't have to license their derivative works on the same terms.

PAGEPress strives to set the highest standards of excellence in all aspects of its activities, whether this be its journal image, its style of presentation, the quality of the editorial process at every level, the transparency of its operations and procedures, its accessibility to the scientific community and the public, and its educational value.

PAGEPress welcomes and actively seeks opportunities to work together with any group (scientific/scholarly societies, physicians, patient advocacy groups, educational organizations) and any publisher who shares our commitment to Open Access and to making scientific information available for the benefit of science and the public good.

PAGEPress charges authors a price that reflects the actual costs of publication. However, the ability of authors to pay publication charges will never be a consideration in the decision as to whether to publish.

PAGEPress aims to be a truly international organization by providing access to the scientific literature to anyone, anywhere, by publishing works from every nation, and by engaging a geographically diverse group of scientists in the editorial process.

Peer-review policy

All manuscript submitted to our journals are critically assessed by external and/or inhouse experts in accordance with the principles of Peer Review, which is fundamental to the scientific publication process and the dissemination of sound science. Each paper is first assigned by the Editors to an appropriate Associate Editor who has knowledge of the field discussed in the manuscript. The first step of manuscript selection takes place entirely inhouse and has two major objectives: a) to establish the article's appropriateness for our journals' readership; b) to define the manuscript's priority ranking relative to other manuscripts under consideration, since the number of papers that the journal receives is much greater than that it can publish. If a manuscript does not receive a sufficiently high priority score to warrant publication, the editors will proceed to a quick rejection. The remaining articles are reviewed by at least two different external referees (second step or classical peerreview). Authorship. All persons designated as authors should qualify for authorship according to the CSE' criteria (http://www.councilscienceeditors.org/i4a/pages/index.cfm? pageid=3355). Each author should have participated sufficiently in the work to take public responsibility for the content. Authorship credit should be based only on substantial contributions to (a) conception and design, or analysis and interpretation of data; and to (b) drafting the article or revising it critically for important intellectual content; and on (c) final approval of the version to be published. These three conditions must all be met. Participation solely in the acquisition of funding or the collection of data does not justify authorship. General supervision of the research group is not sufficient for authorship. Any part of an article critical to its main conclusions must be the responsibility of at least one author. Authors should provide a brief description of their individual contributions.

Italian Journal of Agronomy

Rivista trimestrale registrata al Tribunale di Udine n. 3/97 del 12-2-1997.

Direttore Responsabile: Michele Perniola.

Proprietà: Società Italiana di Agronomia. Stampa: Press Up s.r.l.

via La Spezia, 118/C 00055 - Ladispoli (RM) Tel. e Fax: +39.076.15.27.351.

2017 Impact factor: 0.579 [©]JCR Clarivate Analytics



Noncommercialuse

Italian Journal of Agronomy volume 13(s1), 2018

The Ecoremed protocol for an integrated agronomic approach to characterization and remediation of contaminated soils

Guest editors

Massimo Fagnano, Nunzio Fiorentino

Table of Contents

Definition of a site as contaminated: Problems related to agricultural soils

Massimo Fagnano1

Geography of soil contamination for characterization and precision remediation of potentially contaminated sites

Assessing the bioavailability of potentially toxic elements in soil: A proposed approach

Claudia Rocco, Diana Agrelli, Maria Tafuro, Antonio Giandonato Caporale, Paola Adamo16

Use of the native vascular flora for risk assessment and management of an industrial contaminated soil

Assisted phytoremediation for restoring soil fertility in contaminated and degraded land

Bioassays for evaluation of sanitary risks from food crops cultivated in potentially contaminated sites

Responses of bacterial community structure and diversity to soil eco-friendly bioremediation treatments of two multi-contaminated fields

Valeria Ventorino, Vincenza Faraco, Ida Romano, Olimpia Pepe53

Monitoring and modelling the role of phytoremediation to mitigate non-point source cadmium pollution and groundwater contamination at field scale

All articles are also available at http://www.agroengineering.org



Noncommercialuse



Definition of a site as contaminated: Problems related to agricultural soils

Massimo Fagnano

Department of Agricultural Sciences, University of Naples Federico II, Portici (NA), Italy

Abstract

For defining a soil as contaminated and to be remediated, it is necessary to make a risk analysis for assessing the risks for human health and environment and the exposure pathways to contaminants. The tools currently available, consider only the direct risks for people who frequent a residential or commercial/industrial site, but the risks related to agricultural soils are not laid down in Italian legislation. In this last case, the risks for human health can be defined as indirect since they are due to the uptake of contaminants by the food crops and to the consequent dietary exposure of population. Therefore, the risks of contamination of food chain are represented only by the bioavailable fraction of potentially toxic elements (PTEs) that can be absorbed by crops, rather than by the total content of PTEs into the soil that often is not mobile. Once environmental characterization and risk analysis allow classification of an agricultural site as contaminated, then its remediation must be undertaken, but it must aim to progressively reduce the bioavailable portion of PTEs. In this regard, the use of environmentally friendly techniques based on the use of natural resources (e.g. vegetation and soil microflora) resulted the most suitable both for the reduced costs and for the positive environmental impact. Indeed bio and phytoremediation allow protecting soil and its ecosystem services. The main steps of ecocompatible remediation of contaminated soils carried out in the Ecoremed projects are reported in this volume from the detailed geophysical and geochemical characterization, and the assessment of ecological and dietary risks, to the agriculture-based techniques for remediation and to the evaluation of the impact on ecosystem services of such soils.

Correspondence: Massimo Fagnano, Department of Agricultural Sciences, University of Naples Federico II, via Università 100, 80055 Portici (NA), Italy.

E-mail: fagnano@unina.it

Key words: Soil ecosystem services; bioavailability; direct and indirect risk assessment; ecocompatible remediation.

Acknowledgements: all the works presented in this issue were supported by the European Commission Project *Implementation of Eco-Compatible Protocols for Agricultural Soil Remediation in Litorale Domizio-Agro Aversano NIPS - ECOREMED* (LIFE11/ENV/IT/275). We also express our thanks to Mark Walters for his revision of English language of all the papers of this issue.

©Copyright M. Fagnano, 2018 Licensee PAGEPress, Italy Italian Journal of Agronomy 2018; 13(s1):1-5

This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Noncommercial License (by-nc 4.0) which permits any noncommercial use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

Legislative framework

Soil contamination is defined as a process, which is divided into two phases. The first phase involves comparison between the values found in a site and those reported in Table 1 of Annex 5 Part IV of the Italian Environmental Text (Law Decree 152, 2006) which defines the Contamination Threshold Concentration (CSC) in relation to soil use. In the case of public green areas and sites for residential use (column A), the CSCs are lower than for commercial or industrial sites (column B) because it is considered that the sites in question can be frequented for longer hours. No CSC values are provided for agricultural soils. In the event of exceeding the CSC values, the background values (BVs), whether natural or anthropic, must also be considered. Should the values of a particular site be higher than the CSC but lower than the BV, the site is considered NOT contaminated.

In this regard it is worth recalling some of the definitions in Art. 240 of the above-mentioned Law Decree (Table 1). As regards CSCs, from a comparative examination between the values present in the European regulations, albeit with some differences in the classifications of use, it is evident that the Italian legal values are much lower than in other countries (Table 2). The enormous variability of values gives rise to some doubts regarding their toxicological significance. It would appear that the various countries have set the thresholds on a statistical basis, *i.e.* considering the average level of contamination in their respective territories, and increasing the thresholds in the presence of widespread contamination. For example, the fact that a soil with 300 mg/kg of lead is considered potentially contaminated only in Finland and Italy, but not in other countries, has otherwise little sense. Similar examples could be made for all other metals and metalloids, but it is worth stressing the cases of beryllium and tin, because the exceedance of their respective CSCs has led to injudicious land confiscation in the region of Campania. The CSC of beryllium is extremely low in Italy (2 mg/kg), and in accordance with it, all the Italian soils would be classified as potentially contaminated (Figure 1).

The fact that beryllium (together with other minerals) is naturally contained in all volcanic rocks, but also that it is practically insoluble and therefore not absorbed by plants or leached into the groundwater, was not taken into account. Indeed, hardly any European country has set the threshold for beryllium and those which did so (the Czech Republic, the Netherlands and Slovakia) have set much higher thresholds (20-30 mg kg⁻¹).

As regards tin, Italy originally set a much lower threshold than other countries (1 mg kg⁻¹ vs 900 in the Netherlands). Following a report to the Environment Ministry, within the context of the activities of the Working Group of the Ministerial Directive 23 December 2013 (Art. 1, subsection 1 of Legislative Decree 136, 2013 converted into Law 6, 2014), in which this value could only be a material error, it has been corrected (Art. 13, subsection 3b of Law 116, 2014), replacing the word *tin* with *organic stannic compounds*.

Returning to contaminants that might be hazardous to human health and to the environment, as recalled by Art. 240 of the Single



can reach the human target through inhalation, ingestion and skin

contact. The risks for the environment linked to the leaching of

rect risks for end users who could consume the products obtained

on contaminated sites must also be taken into consideration.

In the case of agricultural soils, in addition to direct risks, indi-

contaminants into groundwater are also considered.

Environmental Text, in order for a site to be termed *contaminated* an analysis of health and environmental risk has to be performed. However, the procedure as well as the tools available (*e.g.* Software Risknet 2.0, 2017 or ISPRA, 2009) takes into account only the direct risks for those who frequent the sites and is therefore related to hours of exposure to contaminated soil particles that

Table 1. Art. 240 (definition) of the Legislative Decree 152/06.

Subsect.	lext
b	Contamination Threshold Concentration (CSC): the levels of contamination of environmental matrices that constitute values above which the characterization of the site and the site-specific risk analysis are required, as identified in Annex 5 to the fourth part of this decree. In the case in which the potentially contaminated site is located in an area affected by anthropic or natural phenomena that have led to the exceedance of one or more CSC, the latter are assumed equal to the existing baseline value for all the exceeded parameters
C	Risk threshold concentration (CSR): the levels of contamination of environmental matrices, to be determined case by case with the application of site-specific risk analysis procedure according to the principles illustrated in Annex 1 to the fourth part of this decree and on the basis of the findings of the characterization plan, which if exceeded requires safety measures and remediation. The concentration levels thereby defined constitute acceptable levels for the site
d	Potentially contaminated site: a site in which one or more values of the pollutant concentrations found in environmental matrices are higher than the CSC, prior to carrying out characterization and of site-specific health and environmental risk analysis which allow the contamination status to be determined on the basis of CSR Contaminated site: a site in which the values of CSR are exceeded
f	Non-contaminated site: a site in which the contamination detected in the environmental matrix is lower than the CSC or, if greater, is nonetheless lower than the CSR determined by site-specific health and environmental risk analysis
n	Operative safety measures/securing the site: all the actions performed in a site which is still active aimed at ensuring an adequate level of safety for people and the environment, prior to further permanent safety measures or remediation being carried out on cessation of activity. This also includes contamination containment measures to be carried out until execution of the remediation or until permanent safety measures, in order to prevent the spread of contamination within the same matrix or between different matrixes. In such cases appropriate plans for monitoring and control must be prepared that allow the effectiveness of the adopted solutions to be verified
0	Permanent safety measures/securing the site: all the actions appropriate to permanently isolating the polluting sources with respect to the surrounding environmental matrixes and to ensuring a definitive, high level of safety for people and for the environment. In such cases plans must be provided for monitoring and control and limitations in use with respect to technical forecasts
р	Remediation: all the measures appropriate to eliminating the sources of pollution and the pollutants or to reducing their concentrations in the soil, in the subsoil and in the groundwater to a level equal to or lower than the CSR values
q	Environmental restoration: the actions of environmental and landscaping restoration, also complementary to remediation or permanent safety measures, that allow the site to be restored to the effective and final usability for intended use in compliance with technical specifications

PTEs					European	countries					
	AUT	BE(F)	BE(V)	CZE	DNK	FIN	ITA	NLD	POL	SVC	UK
As	50	110	300	70	20	50	20	55	22.5	50	20
Be				20			2	30		30	
Cd	10	6	30	20	5	10	2	12	5.5	20	2
Со				300		100	20	240	45	300	
Cr	250		520	500	1000	200	150	380	170	800	130
Cu	600	400	290	600	1000	150	120	190	100	500	
Hg	10	15	56	10	3	2	1	10	4	10	8
Pb	500	700	700	300	400	200	100	530	150	600	450
Ni	140	470	300	250	30	100	120	210	75	500	
Sb	5			40		10	10	15			
Se							3	100		20	35
Sn				300			1	900	40	300	
Tl	10						1	15			
V				450		150	90	250		500	
Zn		1000	710	2500	1000	250	150	720	325	3000	

Table 2. Screening values (in Italy, CSC) to define the potentially unacceptable risk for sites for residential use. From Carlon, 2007.

AUT, Austria; BEF, Belgium Flanders; BEV, Belgium Walloon; CZE, Czech Republic; DNK, Denmark; FIN, Finland; ITA, Italy; NLD, Netherlands; POL, Poland; SVC, Slovakia; UK, United Kingdom.



However, as mentioned above, the Italian Environmental Text does not provide CSCs for agricultural soils, for which there is no specific procedure. Art. 241 of the Single Environmental Text makes the following provision: a *regulation on remediation, environmental restoration and emergency operative and permanent safety measures, of the areas for agricultural production and husbandry,* was adopted by decree of the Minister for the environment and land and sea protection in concert with the Ministers for Industry, Health and Agriculture and Forestry policy.

The above regulation, albeit drawn up by a technical committee, which included the presence of the working group of the Ministerial Directive of December 23, 2013 (Environmental



Figure 1. Beryllium background values in Europe (From Foregs, 2005). Geochemical Atlas of Europe, copyright © 2005 EuroGeo Surveys/the Geological Survey of Finland.



Ministry, 2014), has not yet been adopted. In summary, the regulation, which is applied to soil surfaces to be used for agricultural crops, grazing and husbandry, defines: i) the values or range of screening values (Contamination Threshold Concentrations, CSCs) above which site-specific risk assessments must be carried out to ascertain the mobility of contaminants, their transfer to plants, bioavailability and bioaccumulation; ii) the procedure to apply for the execution of site-specific risk assessments associated to pollutant concentrations above the CSC in soils for agricultural production and husbandry - Health Risk Assessment (ISS, 2013); iii) the intervention modes (safety measures, remediation, environmental restoration) for the areas in which unacceptable risk has been detected in order to restore soil functions for agricultural production and husbandry.

The approach of Ecoremed protocol

Environmental characterization

Currently, in the absence of specific regulations, in the LIFE ECOREMED project (Fagnano, 2017) we relied on the provisions in the draft of the regulation mentioned above, and we validated chemical tests on contaminant bioavailability (Rocco *et al.*, 2018) and biological tests on contaminant absorption and accumulation in vulnerable crops (Duri *et al.*, 2018) in order to obtain information about the risks of contaminant accumulation in the edible parts of agricultural products that therefore constitute a threat to the health of consumers.

Furthermore, the analysis of Italian environmental legislation highlighted other weaknesses in relation to setting up the sampling scheme and the depth of the soil layer to be sampled for environmental characterization. In Decree 152 (2006) there are no mandatory rules regarding rational sampling schemes or sampling layers. Normally reference is made to previous laws (Annex 2 to Ministerial Decree 471, 1999), which establish that one sample per hectare be taken and a composite sample of the 0-1 m layer be collected. Clearly, a soil sample 10 cm in diameter cannot be representative of an area of 10,000 m² and pollution levels, which are often higher in the top centimetres of soils, could be drastically underestimated if they were diluted in a 1 m layer. For this reason, in the Ecoremed project, several activities were carried out to set

up a strategy to attain more representative and more realistic information on the environmental quality of the study areas. In initial research carried out on the Giugliano site (Rocco et al., 2016), discrete and composite samples were compared with two sampling grids (3x3 m and 10x10 m). Our findings demonstrated that making a composite sample causes a dilution effect that leads to underestimating pollution levels, at the risk of overlooking several pollution hotspots: values from composite samples (i.e. 276 ppm) were always lower than the discrete samples that make them up (i.e. 1707 ppm). In other research conducted at Trentola-Ducenta (Capolupo et al., 2015), we sought to verify whether high-resolution aerial photographs taken by drones could allow analysis of the micromorphology of a lowland field, thus highlighting microbasins in which the accumulation of sediments, and hence of contaminants, could have a higher probability of occurring. Identification of such points is required to steer the subsequent scheme for direct samplings of soil. This method allowed identification of five areas (microbasins) in which copper concentrations were higher.

In a third study made at Giugliano, we requested collaboration from a research group working on another LIFE project (LIFE08 ENV/IT/000408 - SoilConsWeb) which proposed a preliminary series of geophysical measurements to identify anomalies which would then be analysed with direct excavation of pits or soil profiles (Langella *et al.*, 2018).

Opening a soil profile also allows the stratigraphy and possible presence of contaminated materials to be analysed, thus making it possible to choose the layers most representing the form of contamination. For example, from the data gained from *Trench 5* it is evident that the most contaminated layers are only those between 50 and 80 cm: in this case the average sample of the 0-1 m layer would have underestimated the level of contamination.

Furthermore, the reliability of rapid low-cost methods was assessed to design a map of contamination levels so as to guide a subsequent rational sampling scheme of the whole site area (6 ha in this case). With a measurement campaign conducted with X-ray fluorescence (XRF), it was possible to identify, in a few days' work, the areas severely contaminated by chromium, on which then to perform direct sampling for analyses with the official methods.

This approach seemed realistically the most feasible, given costs, times (both extremely low), but mainly the quality and representativeness of the data obtained. The methodological details in question will be presented in Langella *et al.* (2018).

	Table 3.	Conditions	required by	v current reg	gulations and	d characteristics	s of the b	piomass p	produced in	phytor	estoration	plants
--	----------	-------------------	-------------	---------------	---------------	-------------------	------------	-----------	-------------	--------	------------	--------

Conditions required by Art. 148b, Law Decree 152/06	Characteristics of phytoremediation
The substance or the object originates from a production process of which it constitutes an integral part, and whose primary purpose is not production of such substance or object	The service is soil phytorestoration, and hence it is impossible not to produce the vegetables that are obtained, being an integral and essential part of the process
It is certain that the substance or the object will be used, in the course of the same or in a subsequent production process, by the producer or by a third party The substance or object can be used directly without any further processing other than normal industrial practice	The <i>plant</i> material will be used in the same production process (<i>e.g.</i> burial of the spontaneous flora, collection of the Brassicaceae and other species intentionally used, cutting and eventual chipping of the wood components) for further agronomic applications in situ according to good agronomic techniques, or <i>ex situ</i> in biomass treatment plants
Further use is lawful, <i>i.e.</i> the substance or object fulfils, for the specific use, all requirements concerning such products and the protection of health and the environment, and will not lead to a negative impact on the environment or human health	The use of biomass for soil fertilization has been a normal agricultural practice for millennia and as such is absolutely legal, as is also legal the use of plant biomass, both for industrial applications, such as the production of electricity or wood, and for those civil purposes (<i>e.g.</i> firewood for residential heating)



Once environmental characterization and risk analysis allow classification of an agricultural site as contaminated, then its remediation must be undertaken. Such remediation must aim to progressively reduce the bioavailable portion of PTEs (potentially toxic elements, so-called heavy metals).

In this regard, the use of environmentally friendly techniques provided by the Ecoremed protocol (Fiorentino *et al.*, 2018; Ventorino *et al.*, 2018) for the restoration of contaminated farmland in the Agro Aversano, is also mentioned in Law 6, 2014 (Art. 2, subsection 4) which, concerning the Commission which must coordinate the restoration measures of the so-called Land of Fires, reads: *The Commission must also provide, within the measures for remediation and ecosystem rebalancing, for the use of natural regeneration and agroecological systems, through plants with phyto-cleansing properties in accordance with current legislation.*

Therefore, the Ecoremed protocol based on the use of natural resources (vegetation and soil microflora) can be applied, according to the Italian legislation for the operations of remediation, safety measures and environmental restoration, according to the site characteristics and the intervention objectives.

The ecosystem services provided by phytoremediation also extend to reduction of percolate and contaminant leaching, thus also protecting groundwater from contamination (Palladino *et al.*, 2018).

The different fields of use also affect the quality of the biomass of the species used, and in accordance with current legislation, they are to be considered a byproduct of phytoremediation. Indeed, the characteristic of protocols like that of the ECOREMED project is the application of phytorestoration with plant species that have intrinsic qualitative and commercial properties that make the application advantageous, not only in purely scientific terms but also from the economic standpoint: the use of materials produced in the phytoremediation cycle can indeed contribute, albeit in part, to the plant management costs required to implement it. Therefore, agri-food production aside, it is evident that the biomass obtained has economic and commercial properties which, while not constituting the scientific/technical objective of the programme, are commercially exploitable in other production cycles, according to industrial practices. This feature allows that all the produced plant material has all the intrinsic properties of a byproduct, as defined in Decree 152 (2006), Art. 184b, hence completely excluding the nature of waste.

For purely explanatory purposes, in Table 3 we report the conditions required by legislation (see Law Decree 152, 2006 and subsequent amendments, Art. 184b c.1) for the classification of a byproduct. What remains excluded is the use of biomass derived from phytoremediation in anaerobic digestion plants. In this case the agricultural use of the digestate is forbidden: it must be subjected to drying processes to reduce the risk of dispersion of hazardous substances possibly contained in it, and then used for energy recovery operations, among which incineration is preferred, as provided for by DIM 5046 of 25/02/2016 (GU no. 90 of 18/04/2016 - S.O. no. 9).

That said, research conducted in the framework of the Ecoremed project (Giudicianni *et al.*, 2017a; 2017b) allowed us to determine that pyrolysis, concentrating potentially toxic elements (PTEs) in the solid product (so-called Biochar), is the best process with the lowest environmental impact for treating biomass produced in phytoremediation plants.

References

- Capolupo A, Pindozzi S, Okello C, Fiorentino N, Boccia L, 2015. Photogrammetry for environmental monitoring: the use of drones and hydrological models for detection of soil contaminated by copper. Sci. Total Environ. 514:298-306.
- Carlon C, 2007. Derivation methods of soil screening values in Europe. EC-JRC, Ispra EUR 22805-EN, 306 pp.
- Decree 5046, 2016. Available from: https://www.politicheagricole.it/ flex/cm/pages/ServeBLOB.php/L/IT/IDPagina/9780
- Decree 152, 2006. Available from: http://www.camera.it/parlam /leggi/deleghe/06152dl6.htm
- Decree 136, 2013. Available from: http://www.bonifiche.minambiente.it/dl 136 13.html
- Duri LG, Fiorentino N, Cozzolino E, Ottaiano L, Agrelli D, Fagnano M, 2018. Bioassays for evaluation of sanitary risks from food crops cultivated in potentially contaminated sites. Ital. J. Agron. 13(s1):45-52.
- Environment Ministry, 2014. Available from: http://www.bonifiche. minambiente.it/contenuti%5Cgruppi%5Caree_agricole%5CRE-GOLAMENTO A MISE SALUTE E MPAAF.pdf
- Fagnano M (ed.), 2017. Operative handbook for eco-compatible remediation of degraded soils. Available from: www.ecoremed.it
- Fiorentino N, Mori M, Cenvinzo V, Duri LG, Gioia L, Visconti D, Fagnano M, 2018. Assisted phytoremediation for restoring soil fertility in contaminated and degraded land. Ital. J. Agron. 13(s1):34-44.
- Foregs, 2005. Available from: http://weppi.gtk.fi/publ/foregsatlas/ maps table.php
- Giudicianni P, Pindozzi S, Grottola CM, Stanzione F, Faugno S, Fagnano M, Fiorentino N, Ragucci R, 2017a. Pyrolysis for exploitation of biomasses selected for soil phytoremediation: Characterization of gaseous and solid products. Waste Manag. 61:288-99.
- Giudicianni P, Pindozzi S, Grottola CM, Stanzione F, Faugno S, Fagnano M, Fiorentino N, Ragucci R, 2017b. Effect of feedstock and temperature on the distribution of heavy metals in char from slow steam pyrolysis of contaminated biomasses. Chem. Engin. Trans. 58:505-10.
- ISPRA 2009. Available from: http://www.isprambiente.gov.it /it/temi/ siti-contaminati/analisi-di-rischio
- ISS, 2013. Available from: http://www.iss.it/iasa/?lang=1&tipo =41
- Langella G, Agrillo A, Basile A, De Mascellis R, Manna P, Moretti P, Mileti FA, Terribile F, Vingiani S, 2018. Geography of soil contamination for characterization and precision remediation of potentially contaminated sites. Ital. J. Agron. 13(s1): 6-15.
- Law 6, 2014. Available from: http://www.gazzettaufficiale.it/eli/id/ 2014/02/08/14G00013/sg
- Palladino M, Nasta P, Capolupo A, Romano N, 2018. Monitoring and modelling the role of phytoremediation to mitigate non-point source cadmium pollution and groundwater contamination at field scale. Ital. J. Agron. 13(s1):59-68.
- Risknet 2.0, 2017. Available from: http://www.reconnet.net/ Risknet% 202 download.html
- Rocco C, Duro I, Di Rosa S, Fagnano M, Fiorentino N, Vetromile A, Adamo P, 2016. Composite vs. discrete soil sampling in assessing soil pollution of agricultural sites affected by solid waste disposal. J. Geochem. Explor. 170:30-8.
- Rocco C, Agrelli D, Tafuro M, Caporale AG, Adamo P, 2018. Assessing the bioavailability of potentially toxic elements in soil: a proposed approach. Ital. J. Agron. 13(s1):16-22.
- Ventorino V, Faraco V, Romano I, Pepe O, 2018. Responses of bacterial community structure and diversity to soil eco-friendly bioremediation treatments of two multi-contaminated fields. Ital. J. Agron. 13(s1):53-58.



Geography of soil contamination for characterization and precision remediation of potentially contaminated sites

Giuliano Langella,^{1,2} Antonietta Agrillo,¹ Angelo Basile,^{2,3} Roberto De Mascellis,^{2,3} Piero Manna,^{2,3} Pierpaolo Moretti,¹ Florindo Antonio Mileti,¹ Fabio Terribile,^{1,2} Simona Vingiani^{1,2}

¹Dipartimento di Agraria, Università degli Studi di Napoli Federico II, Portici (NA); ²Centro di Ricerca Interdipartimentale sulla "Earth Critical Zone" per il supporto alla gestione del paesaggio e dell'agroambiente, Università degli Studi di Napoli Federico II, Portici (NA); ³CNR-ISAFOM, Istituto per i sistemi Agricoli e Forestali del Mediterraneo, Ercolano (NA), Italy

Abstract

One of the fundamental problems experienced when evaluations are required (e.g. for reclamation, phytoremediation, containment, etc.) on agricultural or industrial contaminated sites is the geospatial variability of pollutants. The general lack of ex-ante information on type, quantity, and location of potentially hazardous substances requires the use of proper investigation tools to identify their spatial distribution. In this work we focused on developing and applying an integrated approach based on the following steps: i) preliminary investigations (analysis of aerial photos from different periods of time); ii) indirect investigations (by geophysical and spectrometric methods such as ARP, DUAL-EM, Profiler, Gamma-ray and X-ray fluorescence); iii) direct investigations (pedological and micromorphological); iv) stochastic modelling and critical risk of chemical concentrations being exceeded. The investigated area is located in the region of Campania (southern Italy), close to the main regional volcanic districts (Phlegraean Fields and Somma-Vesuvius). Maps of the apparent electrical resistivity and conductivity, as well as that of the gamma-ray dose, were obtained for the site in question. On analysing the maps, a good correspondence was found among the outputs obtained from measurements at depths between 0 and 2 m, with a spatial resolution that is slightly better for ARP. The procedure of Normalized Sum of Relative Differences on Geophysical Covariates (NSRDGC) was applied to the 15 maps in order to obtain an integrated variability map of all the surveyed anomalies using the proximal sensors. The resulting map identified the most homoge-

Correspondence: Vingiani Simona, Dipartimento di Agraria e Centro di Ricerca Interdipartimentale sulla "Earth Critical Zone" per il supporto alla gestione del paesaggio e dell'agroambiente, Università degli Studi di Napoli Federico II, Via Università 100, 80055 Portici (NA), Italy. E-mail: simona.vingiani@unina.it

Key words: Soil property variation; proximal sensing; electrical resistivity; soil mapping; soil contamination.

©Copyright G. Langella et al., 2018 Licensee PAGEPress, Italy Italian Journal of Agronomy 2018; 13(s1):6-15

This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Noncommercial License (by-nc 4.0) which permits any noncommercial use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited. neous areas where five soil profiles and eight trenches were dug. Field morphological observations enabled three different types of anthropogenic materials enriched in Cr and Zn to be identified. According to their morphology in depth, these materials were not emplaced in a single event. Earth movement and landfilling were carried out at several times in the same area, where a mix of contaminated materials and natural soil is found in the first metre, whereas organic materials are visible separately, probably as a consequence of separate excavations and landfill. Soil micromorphology observations evidenced the presence of Cr-enriched organic materials and secondary crystalline gypsum minerals as well as organic matter coatings inside pores. Such observations suggest the possible fate of some contaminants, highlighting soil mineral and organic associations, as well as the presence of pedofeatures indicating downward movement of colloidal materials.

Introduction

Soil spatial variability is a key issue for land management both in agriculture (e.g. precision farming) (Corwin and Lesch, 2003; Mzuku et al., 2005; Aggelopoulou et al., 2010; 2011; Fulton et al., 2011) and in other environmental contexts (e.g. contaminated sites) (da Silva et al., 2017; Wang et al., 2017; Shaheen and Iqbal, 2018). When contaminated sites are investigated a twofold spatial variability is experienced due to: i) natural spatial variability of soil properties; and ii) anthropogenic spatial variability due to the sources of the contamination. Moreover, the actual spatial distribution of anthropogenic soil contaminants is almost always unknown. This is the case of most industrial sites where the detailed history of contamination is often lost in time. This is due to two main factors: the loss of historic information of industrial land use for each area of a specific industrial site, and its modification over time (e.g. placing/removal of materials). This also holds for most illegal waste dumping, for which type/quantity and especially localization of contaminants are unknown.

Given the above considerations, it is evident that in both analysis and subsequent remediation of contaminated sites, this lack of ex-ante information on the geography of contamination (type/quantity/location) requires that proper investigation tools be adopted to achieve an understanding of the spatial distribution of contamination.

This specific contribution aims to focus on how to acquire such detailed knowledge of the spatial distribution of contamination despite the evidence that this is often neglected and ignored. The regulatory criteria to be adopted in Italy in the case of poten-



tial contamination refer to Law Decree 152/06 - Part IV- Title V, according to which a site must be considered potentially contaminated if element concentrations (even only for one element) exceed the established screening values (CSCs). In such cases, environmental characterization of the site has to be performed. Although the law considers the geospatial component of the hypothetical pollution source, its factual application requires a very broad sampling aggregation scheme where soil surface refers to a composite sample in the 0-1 m depth range, that could lead to dilute the contaminants, thereby underestimating their concentrations (Rocco et al., 2016). According to the law, there are no obligations either for the sampling method to be used (free or systematic) or for the number of sampling points. In many real applications sampling density often refers to the old Decree 471/99 (Annex 2), whereby establishing: i) areas <1 hectare requires at least five sampling points; ii) areas between 1 and 5 ha requires 5 to 15 sampling points; and iii) areas > 5-25 ha requires 15-60 sampling points. These longestablished specifications have actually become a standard to which many of the characterization studies of Italian contaminated sites refer. Here we question whether such a small number of observations is really sufficient to define the spatial distribution (in terms of surfaces and depth) of soil contamination. We consider whether the entire site of interest is really contaminated or only parts of it - and also - the extent of this contamination at each detailed location. For the above reasons, here we elaborate a methodological integrated approach, combining many different techniques, aiming to produce a model of contaminant spatial distribution as close as possible to reality.

The approach that we developed is based on the following steps: i) preliminary investigations; ii) indirect investigations; iii) direct investigations; iv) stochastic modelling and critical risk of chemical concentrations exceeded. We considered that almost all geophysical methods are non-destructive, very sensitive and used for describing subsurface properties in engineering, geological, environmental and forensic problems, without digging. There are many methods that differ in the detection of soil physical properties (such as electrical resistivity/conductivity, magnetic susceptibility, velocity of P or S waves). Therefore, the choice of the best method is related to the purpose of prospecting and it is impossible to know in advance which method will perform best. Moreover, such investigations generally enable rapid acquisition of data and can help to transform point-based soil analysis into information on continuous spatial soil properties. Such approaches are already well established in several contexts requiring rapid non-destructive high-resolution soil investigations, such as viticultural zoning at farm scale (Bonfante et al., 2015; Tardaguila et al., 2018). For all the above reasons, a geospatial survey, using multi-frequency electromagnetic (EM) conductivity meters (such as Profiler EMP-400 and DUAL-EM), automatic resistivity profiling (ARP) and gamma-ray spectrometry as indirect methods, was carried out in order to acquire knowledge on the geospatial distribution of soil physical properties, like electrical resistivity/conductivity, to be used as proxy for understanding the location of buried waste. The maps obtained and related signal anomaly were processed (using geostatistical methods) and represented the basis for a direct survey focusing on the areas where the highest composite anomaly signals occur. A geophysical anomaly (i.e. an area where geophysical properties differ from those of the surrounding areas) is due to differences in soil properties and can thus represent a waste burial site in the surveyed area. Profiles and trenches were dug so as to identify: i) possible relationships between anomalies and waste occurrence; and ii) sampling and analyses of allochthonous/contaminated materials. The body of information thereby obtained enables the spatial nature of contamination to be ascertained as a prerequisite for optimal characterization and remediation of a contaminated site.

Materials and methods

Environmental setting

The investigated area is located at Giugliano in Campania (San Giuseppiello site), in the province of Naples, in Campania (southern Italy). The 60,000 m² site consists of farmland which, according to preliminary characterization, was potentially contaminated by Cr, Zn and heavy hydrocarbons (C>12) due to illegal burying of tannery sludge and waste. The field, previously used for fruit orchards and arable crops, is subjected to a phytoremediation programme (Fiorentino *et al.*, 2018).

Geologically, the site is located in the Piana Campana graben, to the North of the Phlegrean Fields and NW of the Somma-Vesuvius complex, which are the main active volcanoes of Campania. In this lowland environment a preferential accumulation of pyroclastic deposits is found (Di Vito et al., 2013; Orsi et al., 2004) due to the proximity to these eruptive centres. Therefore, the soils of the site surroundings are the result of a different extent of andosolization, which gave rise to formation of soils classified as Pachi-Vitric Andosols (di Gennaro et al., 2002) and Hypereutric Cambisols (Aric, Humic, Loamic, Tephric) (Vingiani et al., 2018a; 2018b). These soils are known from the literature for their excellent properties (Nanzyo, 2002; Shoji and Takahashi, 2003; Shoji et al., 1993) that give high chemical and physical fertility to ecosystems (Maeda et al., 1977; Quantin, 1990), both in volcanic districts and in non-volcanic mountain landscapes (Mileti et al., 2018; Vingiani et al., 2013; Vingiani et al., 2014). In spite of these positive properties, Andosols and andic soils have an inner fragility to land degradation and pollution (Kabata-Pendias, 2001; Latrille et al., 2003; Tanneberg et al., 2001; Vingiani et al., 2015; Zhao et al., 2006), which renders the investigated area highly vulnerable.

Aerial photo analysis and geophysical prospecting

As the first step, all the existing information (topographic and land use maps, aerial photos, etc.) on the site was collected in order to identify recent changes that might help identify anomalies or simple modifications of interest. The periods of interest were those preceding and following waste burial. We analysed the aerial photos obtained from the National Geoportal (WMS services) and Google Earth, considering five years, in the period from 1989 to the present. Then we proceeded with the geospatial surveys, applying geophysical methods. Geophysical modelling provides generalized and non-unique solutions to questions concerning the geometry of natural/anthropogenic soil horizons. The methodological approach applied involves the combined use of several indirect surveys to characterize the site, such as automatic resistivity profiling (ARP) and frequency domain electromagnetic induction (Profilers EMP400 and DUAL-EM 642 S). Among the geophysical tools applied in soil science, electrical methods are considered potentially useful to characterize soil. The ARP technique allows to measure the apparent electrical resistivity of soil. This property is related to the spatial and temporal variability of many other soil physical properties (such as structure, water content or fluid composition). Apparent soil electrical resistivity results from the *combination* of all the soil component resistances in the investigated volume. The ARP equipment was developed by Geocarta SA. It consists in a patented mobile multi-electrode system in which several electrodes (eight gear wheels) are automatically inserted into the soil and made to advance (by passive rotation on the soil) during field acquisition (speed ≤ 8 m/s). The distances between the dipoles are 0.5, 1.0 and 1.7 m. In this way it is possible to survey simultaneously a vertical section at three depths. The ARP equipment was towed by a quad and the GPS position for all the measurements was recorded. In addition, electromagnetic induction (EMI) methods in the frequency domain were used to measure the electrical conductivity (the inverse of electrical resistivity) of the subsurface. Two instruments with different characteristics (DUAL-EM 642-S and Profiler EMP-400) were used and acquisition required just one day per technique.

The DUAL-EM 642S induction electromagnetometer (DUAL-EM Inc., Canada) was used with three pairs of sensors arranged in DUAL configuration, separated by 2, 4 and 6 m. Each pair of sensors is able to measure simultaneously at two different depths. Thus DUALEM-642S is able to simultaneously acquire a profile of apparent electrical resistivity (ρ a) and apparent magnetic susceptibility (χ a) at six different depths and can be configured in two modes: co-planar (HCP) and perpendicular (PRP).

These configurations, which correspond to different measurement depths, make the DUAL-EM-642S very suitable for analysis of both ρa and χa up to 9 m depth. Measurements were made according to parallel profiles with a distance of about 2-4 m.

The Profiler EMP-400 is a portable, digital multi-frequency electromagnetic induction sensor. The user can collect from one (1) to three (3) frequencies simultaneously. The system bandwidth extends from 1 kHz to 16 kHz in 1 kHz steps. The magnitude of the in-phase and quadrature components of the induced secondary field, as well as the apparent conductivity and magnetic susceptibility, are collected and stored for each reading along with a time stamp and GPS data.

Unlike conventional resistivity techniques, with electromagnetic induction sensors no ground contact was required. However, all the systems used allow almost continuous acquisitions to be carried out, with a spacing of about two metres between one row and the next. A single day acquisition was required for each technique. All the available information (maps) was processed in a GIS environment in order to define the areas characterized by anomalies of the signal, greater homogeneity and heterogeneity.

ARP and Profiler EMP-400 data were generally acquired through the parallel profile sampling scheme with 10 cm spacings along the transects, while interfiles between transects ranged between less than 1 m (ARP) to 5-6 m (Profiler).

Another indirect method used, not correlated with those described above, is gamma-ray spectrometry. The gamma-ray spectrometer is designed to measure natural and artificial radioisotopes in the ground. The instrument always measures the complete spectrum, from which it evaluates the cps values in ROIs and calculates the concentrations of elements K [%], eU [ppm] and eTh [ppm]. The natural dose rate (in nGy/h) is calculated from measured concentrations of K, eU and eTh according to IAEA recommendations. The measurements were performed as points and the position of the measured site has been set using external GPS. Using (geo)statistic interpolation it was possible to spatialize the point-based information of K [%], eU [ppm], eTh [ppm] and the natural dose rate (in nGy/h) as was done for resistivity data.

Positioning of soil trenches and profiles

The whole set of observations was crossed using a multivariate statistical approach in order to carry out a rational sampling campaign aimed at complete site characterization. Indeed, the indirect surveys (Profiler, DUAL-EM, ARP, and Gamma-ray) produced a



total of 15 information layers as follows: Profiler electrical apparent conductivity at 15 KHz, 10 KHz and 5 KHz; DUAL-EM resistivity at depths 1.0 m, 2.0 m, 3.0 m, 3.2 m, 6.4 m and 9.5 m; ARP resistivity at depths 0.5 m, 1.0 m and 1.7 m; Gamma-ray K [%], eU [ppm] and eTh [ppm].

Each instrument produced a specific density and location of the signal points, for which the data were merged to report all the information on a regular grid at 5 m resolution (high resolution to offset the high density and possible anomalies measured by the instruments). In order to highlight and maximize the global anomaly given by the contribution of all the geophysical sensors, the Normalized Sum of Relative Differences on Geophysical Covariates (NSRDGC) was then calculated as follows:

$$NSRDGC_{t} = \sum_{i=1}^{15} \sum_{n=1}^{8} \frac{abs(v_{t}^{i} - v_{n}^{i})}{v_{t}^{i}}$$
(1)

for each *t* target pixel, where V_t is the value of the i-th geophysical signal at *t* target pixel, V_n is the value of the i-th geophysical signal at n-th neighbour pixel, *n* accounts for the 8-adjacent pixels of the target pixel, and *i* accounts for the list of 15 geophysical signals.

The NSRDGC is calculated on the 1 m resolution grid according to the following steps: i) for each target pixel, a list of 15 values according to the number of sensors and frequencies (i.e. auxiliary covariates) is retrieved from the proximal sensing measurements (e.g. for signal number two we have V_n^2); ii) for each auxiliary covariate, the list of 8-adjacent pixels to the target pixel is produced and stored in the vector $V_{1to 8}^2$; iii) the NSRDGC_t at target pixel t is calculated by summing the absolute differences of the target pixel with respect to the 8-adjacent pixels and to the values in the neighbourhood given by the 15 auxiliary covariates. By extending the calculation on the whole regular grid, the hotspot map was generated by aggregating all the collected geophysical signals. Relatively high pixel values are found where an important leap occurred between one point and the points around. This procedure was practical since the resulting map aided identification of the areas in which to dig profiles and trenches, according to the spatial distribution of major and/or minor variations in the data fused information. Eight trenches were located at the major geophysical contrasts in order to identify the spatial variability of the site while five profiles were located in the most homogeneous units. Trench size varied between 4 and 7 m in length, with a depth and width of about 2 m, while the profiles had a length of about 2 m, but with the same depth and width. One or two representative profiles were sampled per trench and a photographic report was also produced for a vertical and horizontal reconstruction of the trenches. For each profile morphological description (FAO, 2006) and undisturbed sampling for micromorphological analyses were also carried out, as well as bulk sampling for further chemical and physical analyses.

XRF and micromorphological analyses

A portable handheld XRF analyzer was used for rapid identification of the materials most contaminated by potentially toxic elements (PTEs) directly in the field in order to address the following soil sampling procedure for assessing PTE content and bioavailability (Rocco *et al.*, 2018). Twenty-one elements (As, Ca, Cd, Cr, Cu, Fe, K, Mn, Nb, Ni, Pb, Rb, Sn, Sr, Th, Ti, U, V, Zn, Zr and Y) were measured on smooth uniform surfaces, with complete contact between instrument and sample surface to minimize surface effects. Scanning was carried out with a Delta Professional (Olympus, DPO-4000) using a large window (8 mm²). The instrument features a



Ta/Au X-ray tube operating at 15–40 kV with integrated large area silicon drift detector (165 eV). Innov-X software was used in Soil mode, which consists of three beams operating sequentially, with acquisition times of 30 seconds per beam. Then, the most significant materials, in terms of soil contamination, were selected and a total of 35 undisturbed samples were collected from soil trenches and profiles by means of Kubiena boxes (5x10x5 cm). Samples were impregnated with polyester crystic resin and large (10x5x0.003 cm) thin sections were produced using the FitzPatrick methodology (1984, 1993). Thin sections were analysed under optical microscope in plain (PPL) and crossed (XPL) polarized light. XRF analyses were also performed on soil thin sections using a small spot collimator (analysis area of 0.07 cm²), to have a preliminary assessment of micro-pedofeatures contamination.

Results and discussion

Through the study of the aerial photos, we identified changes in land use (from orchard to arable) in different sites as well as the occurrence of traces of temporary roadways that could well have been caused by the transit of heavy vehicles. The photos in question are shown in Figure 1.

Nevertheless, it is self-evident that these signs of heavy vehicle transit are not helpful for understanding the distribution of contaminants in the area. Indeed, the pictures would be useful only if the illegal spillage was associated with the acquisition of simultaneous remotely sensed images (as in the case of drones). Needless to add, such data are very rare when dealing with illegal activities. Indeed,



Figure 1. Aerial photos of the study area from 1989 to the present day.



waste spill activities are generally carried out very quickly and most often overnight.

Mapping of geophysical properties and gamma-ray spectrometry

The geoelectric, electromagnetic and spectrometric investigations carried out in the surveyed site by ARP, DUAL-EM, Profiler and Gamma-ray spectrometry enabled the mapping of the apparent electrical resistivity and conductivity and gamma-ray dose of the investigated site. Analysing the maps obtained from measurement (surface acquisition scheme in Figure 2) at depths between 0 and 2 m (Figures 3-6), it may be stated that there is good correspondence between the outputs of the various instruments, with a spatial resolution that is slightly better for the ARP. In further detail, maps show that part of the variability of the observed geophysical anomalies can be explained by the different land use that most likely results in different soil moisture and hence the differences observed between the investigated soils. In particular: i) the area with low resistivity located at the W site (shown in blue in Figure 3) has a land use of uncultivated grassland amongst prevailing orchard; ii) the N-S variability of geophysical anomalies, which is evident throughout the survey area, may reflect the arrangement of crop rows.

However, land use cannot explain all the other geophysical anomalies. In particular, long-range variability is clearly shown (Figures 3 and 5) with a large central area showing higher resistivity surrounded by two less resistive areas (of these two only the W area has non-arboreal land use). In addition, within each of these areas there is short-range variability with alternating - apparently chaotic - of highly variable resistivity areas. Moreover, the measurements made with different signal frequencies (*e.g.* the case for DUAL-EM is reported in Figures 4 and 5) and hence with different investigated volumes, highlight results with very different mapping areas, especially when observing short-range variability. For example, in Figure 5 (estimated volume depth: 3 m) there are many geophysical anomalies, completely different from the same survey reported in Figure 4 (estimated volume depth: 1.7 m).

It is evident that *a priori* it is impossible to ascertain the nature (natural *vs* anthropogenic) of such variability occurring among the 15 maps obtained from the different sensors used (Figure 7A). On the basis of the 15 maps we then applied the NSRDGC procedure in order to obtain an integrated map of the variability of all surveyed anomalies obtained by proximal sensors. Reported in Figure 7B the map clearly shows higher variability (larger violet circles) in a N-S direction with a few additional large patches. On the basis



Figure 2. Example of an acquisition path for the ARP technique.



Figure 4. Electrical resistivity map obtained using DUAL-EM (estimated volume depth 1 m).



Figure 3. Electrical resistivity map using ARP. Channel 3 - depth: 1.7 m.



Figure 5. Resistivity map obtained using DUAL-EM (estimated volume depth: 3 m).





of this NSRDGC information, we then located soil profiles in more homogeneous areas and soil trenches in more heterogeneous areas. In so doing, we paid special attention to avoid: i) N-S anomalies due simply to changes in land use; ii) anomalies close to manmade structures (walls, small houses and warehouses, *etc.*); and iii) anomalies already known in the SW portion of the field.

Trenches and profiles

The location of the pedological observations is shown in Figure 8. Soil morphological observations enabled identification of three different types of anthropogenic materials enriched in Cr and Zn: i) coarse material (2-7 cm) and sediments in well-identifiable place of the soil profile, such as in trench 1, where Cr reached a concentration of 2.7%; ii) organic surface material used as *compost* identified in profile 4; material rich in organic component, more or less mineralized, in trenches 2 and 4. Evidence from soil morphology with depth suggests that emplacement of these materials did not take place in a single event, but several earth movements and landfill were carried out in the same area and the effects of these movements were identified from the detailed observation of trenches 2 and 4 (Figure 9). The extreme complexity and variability of the landfill is clearly visible in trench 4, where a mix of



Figure 6. Electrical conductivity obtained using profiler with 15KHz frequency.

pollutants with natural soil is found in the first metre of the central area, whereas organic matter not present in the central part is visible laterally, probably as a consequence of successive excavations. As a general rule, illegal landfills are found in the first two metres, but they also occur at different depths. Indeed, in two of the open trenches (TR2 and TR4) the lower limit of the landfill was not identified and is thus considered to be deeper than 240 cm (bottom of the soil excavation). Further investigation should be carried out to ascertain the depth of the landfill by means of environmental



Figure 8. Location of the pedological (trench and profile) observations.



Figure 7. A) Maps obtained from the sensors used; B) map reporting the variability of the normalized sum of relative differences on geophysical covariates (NSRDGC).



Figure 9. Pictures from trenches 2 and 4.





Figure 10. Picture from trench 3.

core drills. Observations also showed that human impact greatly affected the areas along the field margins whereas within the less disturbed area anthropogenic materials were identified between an abandoned cottage and a shed (trench 3, Figure 10), albeit in smaller amounts and at lower depths compared with the marginal areas. Another less disturbed area was identified in correspondence of profile 2 (Figure 11), which shows signs of anthropic disturbance in the first metre, but starting from 100 cm displays a natural distribution of soil horizons. In this profile two buried soil cycles, typical of volcanic environments, truncated upwards by recent human activities are clearly visible.

Micromorphological analysis

The micromorphological study carried out on thin sections from selected soil horizons enabled the identification of interesting soil pedofeatures. In particular, in one of the most contaminated soils in the TR2: i) blackish aggregates of organic materials standing alone (Figure 12A and B) or mixed with mineral particles (Figure 12C and D); and ii) several carbonate fragments were recognized in deep horizons (175-185 cm). From analysis of the elemental composition (Table 1), the organic materials proved highly enriched in Cr (from 2109 to 3427 mg kg⁻¹), Fe (from 3243 to 4945 mg kg-1), Ca (from 83,907 to 124,982 mg kg-1), S (16,751 to 21,737 mg kg⁻¹) and to a lesser extent Zn (from 92 to 122 mg kg⁻¹), compared with the soil matrix (Table 1 with reference to the light brown soil matrix). Moreover, in many soil pores fine coatings were also identified (Figure 12E and F). As observed, coatings are made by alternate levels of pale yellowish and reddish layers, optically isotropic, indicating downward movements of organic materials with different chemical composition and at different times. Very frequently, acicular small crystals light grey in PPL (Figure 12D and E) and with high interference colours in XPL (Figure 12D and E) were found to be present in association with the organic materials. Due to their small size, general absence in volcanic materials of this environment and their occurrence within organic materials, they were interpreted as minerals of secondary origin. From their composition (Table 1), showing very high content of both S (47,597 mg kg⁻¹) and Ca (80,952 mg kg⁻¹), they were recognized as calcium sulphates and most probably gypsum.



Figure 11. Profile 2, as an example of undisturbed soil.





Table 1. Concentration of selected elements obtained by XRF analyses of soil pedofeatures identified by the micromorphological study.

	Light brown soil matrix 1	Light brown soil matrix 2	Blackish aggregate 1 mg kg ⁻¹	Blackish aggregate 2	Carbonate fragments	Acicular crystals
S	1814 ± 474	2686 ± 523	$21,737 \pm 1288$	$16,751 \pm 1136$	3607 ± 717	$47,\!597{\pm}1872$
К	6902 ± 243	$24,187\pm545$	1213 ± 126	2292 ± 154	2229 ± 155	1744 ± 132
Са	37,231±719	$30,028 \pm 592$	$124,982 \pm 2180$	83,907±1515	$123,984 \pm 2204$	$80,952 \pm 1441$
Ti	414 ± 25	884±37	917 ± 39	$967{\pm}41$	$206{\pm}21$	336 ± 23
V	$19{\pm}3$	29 ± 4	18±4	$34{\pm}51$	5 ± 3	11±3
Cr	37 ± 6	63 ± 7	3427 ± 68	2109 ± 47	22 ± 6	489±17
Mn	113±9	241 ± 12	86±16	73±14	1172 ± 29	78 ± 9
Fe	1340 ± 39	3536 ± 66	3243 ± 64	4945 ± 82	3365 ± 67	1938 ± 47
Zn	ND	32 ± 4	$92{\pm}6$	122 ± 6	54 ± 5	43±4
Sr	55 ± 5	58 ± 5	61±6	$51{\pm}56$	5 ± 6	49±5
Zr	$19{\pm}4$	33 ± 5	$35{\pm}5$	$47{\pm}62$	4±5	15±4



Figure 12. Optical micrographs of selected soil features. a) and b) Blackish aggregate of organic material in carbonate matrix (PPL and XPL, respectively); c) and d) organic material mixed with mineral component (PPL and XPL, respectively); e) and f) organic matter coatings inside a soil pore (PPL and XPL, respectively). PPL, plane polarized light; XPL, crossed polarized light.



Moreover, it is noteworthy that Cr content associated to these sulphate minerals is remarkable (489 mg kg^{-1}).

Conclusions

From the results obtained the geospatial complexity of contaminated sites, along with the complex spatial distribution of contaminants, appears evident. This has to be ascribed to the complex history of the site and type of deposition of pollutant materials.

It is self-evident that, in sites subject to high environmental risk, such site complexity should not be neglected, also given that a large set of proxy technologies (e.g. miniaturized sensors) is currently available and can be directly used in the field for precision soil sampling. The correspondence found between hot spots reported in the maps and presence of heavily contaminated materials in field observations (profiles and trenches) showed that it is indeed possible and sustainable to use a powerful approach that integrates various sensors (indirect measurements and direct surveys) to attain detailed geospatial knowledge of contaminated sites and encourage further applications. Moreover, the information thereby obtained can also reduce the number of samples and costs of analysis, and increase the accuracy in delineating site-specific problems (e.g. volume of soil contamination). Soil micromorphology application evidenced the presence of: i) organic materials enriched in Cr and surrounded by a carbonate matrix (or mixed with mineral particles) of allochthonous origin; ii) secondary crystalline gypsum minerals showing notable Cr content; and iii) peculiar soil features (such as organic matter coatings) close to the above mentioned organic materials, indicating movement inside pores of colloidal materials. These observations give a picture of the fate of some contaminants, such as the formation of the Cr-associated organic materials and secondary crystalline gypsum, as well as the downward movement of fine particles in depth as PTE carriers.

Finally, we should highlight the urgent need to improve existing legislation, including approaches like that, which we have shown. This would enable both proper characterization of the geography of contamination and hence proper site restoration. Indeed, the proposed approach is economically sustainable and detailed knowledge of contamination geography enables site-specific remediation techniques to be performed, thus avoiding treatment of non-contaminated soils.

It should be also emphasized that indirect techniques enable data to be acquired in a very short time (1 to 3 days' work per technique, for a survey of 6 ha) and can help transform point-based analysis of standard soil observations into information on continuous spatial soil properties. Homogeneous soil property areas can then be identified and studied in detail by direct investigations.

References

- Aggelopoulou KD, Wulfsohn D, Fountas S., Gemtos TA, Nanos GD, Blackmore S, 2010. Spatial variation in yield and quality in a small apple orchard. Precis. Agric. 11:538-56.
- Aggelopoulou KD, Pateras D, Fountas S, Gemtos TA, Nanos GD, 2011. Soil spatial variability and site-specific fertilization maps in an apple orchard. Precis. Agric. 12:118-29.
- De Benedetto D, Castrignanò A, Diacono M, Rinaldi M, Ruggieri S, Tamborrino R, 2013. Field partition by proximal and remote sensing data fusion. Biosyst. Engine. 114:372-83.

- Bonfante A, Agrillo A, Albrizio R, Basile A, Buonomo R, De Mascellis R, Gambuti A, Giorio P, Guida G, Langella G, Manna P, Minieri L, Moio L, Siani T, and Terribile F, 2015. Functional homogeneous zones (fHZs) in viticultural zoning procedure: an Italian case study on Aglianico vine. Soil 1:427-41.
- Corwin DL, Lesch SM, 2003. Application of Soil Electrical Conductivity to Precision Agriculture: Theory, Principles, and Guidelines. Agron. J. 95:455-71.
- da Silva FBV, do Nascimento CWA, Araújo PRM, da Silva FL, Lima LHV, 2017. Soil contamination by metals with high ecological risk in urban and rural areas. Int. J. Environ. Sci. Techn. 14:553-62.
- Di Gennaro A, Aronne G, De Mascellis R, Vingiani S, Sarnataro M, Abalsamo P, Cona F, Vitelli L, Arpaia G, 2002. I sistemi di terre della Campania. Monografia e carta 1:250.000, con legenda. S.E.L.C.A., Firenze, pp. 63.
- Di Vito MA, Castaldo N, de Vita S, Bishop J, Vecchio G, 2013. Human colonization and volcanic activity in the eastern Campania Plain (Italy) between the Eneolithic and Late Roman periods. Quat. Intern. 303:132-41.
- FAO (Food and Agriculture Organization), 2006. Guidelines for Soil Profile Description (Revised), 4th ed. Rome, Italy.
- Fiorentino N, Mori M, Cenvinzo V, Duri LG, Gioia L, Visconti D, Fagnano M, 2018. Assisted phytoremediation for restoring soil fertility in contaminated and degraded land. Ital. J. Agron. 13(s1):34-44.
- FitzPatrick EA, 1984. Micromorphology of soils. Chapman and Hall, London, pp. 433.
- FitzPatrick EA, 1993. Soil Microscopy and Micromorphology. Wiley, West Sussex, England, pp. 304.
- Fulton A, Schwankl L, Lynn K, Lampinen B, Edstrom J, Prichard T, 2011. Using EM and VERIS technology to assess land suitability for orchard and vineyard development. Irrig. Sci. 29:497-512.
- Mzuku M, Khosla R, Reich R, Inman D, Smith F, MacDonald L, 2005. Spatial Variability of Measured Soil Properties across Site-Specific Management Zones. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 69:1572-9.
- Nanzyo M, 2002. Unique properties of volcanic ash soils. Global Environ. Res. 6:99-112.
- Orsi G, Di Vito MA, Isaia R, 2004. Volcanic hazard assessment at the restless Campi Flegrei caldera. Bull. Volcan. 66:514-30.
- Rocco C, Duro I, Di Rosa S, Fagnano M, Fiorentino N, Vetromile A, Adamo P, 2016. Composite vs. discrete soil sampling in assessing soil pollution of agricultural sites affected by solid waste disposal. J. Geochem. Explor. 170:30-8.
- Rocco C, Agrelli D, Tafuro M, Caporale AG, Adamo P, 2018. Assessing the bioavailability of potentially toxic elements in soil: a proposed approach. Ital. J. Agron. 13(s1):16-22.
- Santos-Francés F, Martínez-Graña A, Zarza CÁ, Sánchez AG, Rojo PA, 2017. Spatial distribution of heavy metals and the environmental quality of soil in the Northern Plateau of Spain by geostatistical methods. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 14:568.
- Shaheen A and Javed Iqbal J, 2018. Spatial Distribution and Mobility Assessment of Carcinogenic Heavy Metals in Soil Profiles Using Geostatistics and Random Forest, Boruta Algorithm. Sustainability 10:799.
- Tardaguila J, Diago MP, Priori S, Oliveira M, 2018. Mapping and managing vineyard homogeneous zones through proximal geoelectrical sensing. Archiv. Agron. Soil Sci. 64:409-18.
- Vingiani S, Terribile F, Adamo P, 2013. Weathering and particle entrapment at the rock-lichen interface in Italian volcanic envi-



ronments. Geoderma 207-208:244-55.

- Vingiani S, Scarciglia F, Mileti FA, Donato P, Terribile F, 2014. Occurrence and origin of soils with andic properties in Calabria (southern Italy). Geoderma 232-4:500-16.
- Vingiani S, Mele G, De Mascellis R, Terribile F, Basile A, 2015. Volcanic soils and landslides: A case study of the island of Ischia (Southern Italy) and its relationship with other Campania events. Solid Earth 6:783-97.
- Vingiani S, Buonanno M, Coraggio S, D'Antonio A, De Mascellis R, di Gennaro A, Iamarino M, Langella G, Manna P, Moretti P,

Terribile F, 2018. Soils of the Aversa plain (southern Italy). J. Maps 14:312-20.

- Vingiani S, Minieri L, Albore Livadie C, Di Vito M, Terribile F, 2018. Pedological investigation of an early bronze age site in southern Italy. Geoarchaeol. 33:193-217.
- Wang G, Zhang S, Xiao L, Zhong Q, Li L, Xu G, Deng O, Pu Y, 2017. Heavy metals in soils from a typical industrial area in Sichuan, China: Spatial distribution, source identification, and ecological risk assessment. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 24:16618-30.

Noncommercialuse



Assessing the bioavailability of potentially toxic elements in soil: A proposed approach

Claudia Rocco,¹ Diana Agrelli,^{1,2} Maria Tafuro,² Antonio Giandonato Caporale,¹ Paola Adamo¹ ¹Department of Agricultural Sciences, University of Naples Federico II, Portici (NA); ²CIRAM -Interdepartmental Center for Environmental Research, University of Naples Federico II, Naples, Italy

Abstract

For risk assessment of soil contamination, there is a growing need for an approach based on the real risk for living organisms, hence considering the bioavailable fraction of contaminants. The maximum allowable limit of a contaminant in soil, as well as the target for restoration, could be established in relation to a level of bioavailable amount of contaminants considered safe and estimated by standardised procedures. In this work we propose a combination of single and sequential chemical extractions to assess the mobility and plant availability of potentially toxic elements (PTEs) in polluted agricultural soils under remediation. The proposed approach was tested in two pilot sites of Campania potentially polluted by Cu and Zn, before and one year after phytoremediation treatment with Eucalyptus camedulensis L. and Populus nigra L. Specifically, 1 mol L⁻¹ NH₄NO₃ (readily soluble and phytoavailable PTEs) and 0.05 mol L⁻¹ EDTA at pH 7 (potentially phytoavailable PTEs) single extractions and the EU-BCR sequential scheme (presumed main geochemical PTE forms) were applied. Overall, in the study sites, the estimation of PTE bioavailability by standardised chemical extractions appeared to be effective in monitoring the Zn and Cu plant-available fractions as well as the trend and effectiveness of phytoremediation treatment. After one year from planting, a significant reduction in Cu and Zn bioavailable amounts in soil was observed (NH₄NO₃: from 19 to 60% for Cu, from 43 to 92% for Zn; EDTA: from 4 to 27% for Cu and from 8 to 76% for Zn). Plant uptake was positively related with the bioavailability of PTEs in soil, with a general underestimation of Zn extracted in ammonium nitrate. Both single and sequential extractions suggested a higher mobility of Zn with respect to Cu in soil.

Correspondence: Diana Agrelli, Department of Agricultural Sciences, University of Naples Federico II, via Università 100, 80055 Portici (NA), Italy; CIRAM - Interdepartmental Center for Environmental Research, University of Naples Federico II, Via Mezzocannone 16, 80134 Naples, Italy.

E-mail: d.agrelli@unina.it

Key words: Polluted agricultural soil; heavy metals; bioavailability; chemical extractions; phytoremediation.

©Copyright C. Rocco et al., 2018 Licensee PAGEPress, Italy Italian Journal of Agronomy 2018; 13(s1):16-22

This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Noncommercial License (by-nc 4.0) which permits any noncommercial use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

Introduction

Despite their evident importance, environmental and human health risks related to soil contamination are still rarely assessed. This difficulty is, in part, due to the high variability in the soil characteristics of the sites of interest, the nature of the contaminants and the target organisms taken into account. Moreover, different evaluation criteria and different threshold levels of soil contaminants are adopted by various countries in Europe and worldwide (Carlon, 2007), most of which are based on the total content of contaminants (Kim et al., 2015). This approach may be useful to assess the extent of the contamination in soil, but is an extremely conservative method and increases the possibility of overestimating the risk, making remediation targets expensive and often unachievable (Kim et al., 2015; Adamo et al., 2018). In recent years, the ever-increasing need to define an approach based on the real risk for living organisms has led researchers to consider the bioavailable fraction of contaminants rather than their total content, *i.e.* the portion of the total content that is available and harmful to target organisms, such as humans, animals or plants, or that is mobile and therefore transferable to water or other sites (Harmsen, 2015; Kim et al., 2015; Adamo et al., 2018). Indeed, several studies have demonstrated that some of the total contaminant content remains immobile in soil or unavailable for living organisms, hence posing no hazard (Harmsen, 2015; Kim et al., 2015). Therefore, the maximum allowable limit of a contaminant in a soil, as well as the restoration target, could be established in relation to a bioavailable amount of the contaminants considered harmless in terms of transfer to the food chain or towards other environmental sectors, rather than in relation to their total content in the soil (Harmsen and Naidu, 2013; Harmsen, 2015).

Potentially toxic elements (PTEs) are inorganic contaminants, which are of great concern because of their persistence in soil and toxicity at certain concentrations (Cristaldi et al., 2017). Some of them are essential elements for living organisms (e.g. Cu, Zn, Ni), with toxic effects occurring only at high concentrations, while others (e.g. Cd, Pb) are not essential elements and can be toxic even at very low concentrations (Adamo et al., 2018). PTEs in soil may be both anthropogenic and natural in origin, and they are distributed between the soil solution and the various organic and mineral components of the soil. Generally, the PTE fraction in the soil solution is considered to be readily bioavailable for plants, while the fractions associated with soil organic or mineral components prone to be mobilizable in the soil solution are considered potentially bioavailable (Adamo et al., 2018). This PTE repartition is a dynamic equilibrium influenced both by the nature and chemical species of the contaminant and by the chemical and physical characteristics of the soil such as pH, organic carbon, clay and carbonate content, and exchange capacity, that influence PTE retention or release in the soil solution (Adamo et al., 2018). The PTEs in the soil from anthropogenic sources tend to be more mobile and





bioavailable than their geogenic counterparts (Mir *et al.*, 2017). All this makes the plant-bioavailable fraction of a given PTE site-specific and difficult to estimate without direct measurement.

Many chemical extractions are available to estimate the bioavailability of PTEs in a soil (single extractions) or their fractionation between the various geochemical forms in which they may exist in the soil (sequential chemical extractions), each of which is more or less suitable for a particular soil or a particular contaminant (Adamo et al., 2018). Some of these extractions have been standardised and taken into consideration in the national legislation of some countries, while others are undergoing standardisation, a process required to make bioavailability a concept that can be included in legislation and in policies for soil protection, as well as a tool for risk assessment (Harmsen, 2015; Kim et al., 2015). That said, it should be borne in mind that bioavailability may also vary according to the target organism considered. Different plant species can absorb and translocate different quantities of the same contaminant from the same soil and can influence the contaminant equilibrium in soil differently, such that the bioavailability measurement of a contaminant in soil is an indication that should be verified with the real absorption by the plant concerned (Kim et al., 2015; Adamo et al., 2018; Duri et al., 2018). In addition, the PTE dynamic equilibrium in soil should be considered in monitoring the remediation target, because the element decrease in the readily bioavailable fraction may be replenished through soil element re-equilibration (Keller and Hammer 2004; Harmsen and Naidu, 2013), and repeated monitoring over time should be done.

Implementation of bioavailability in regulation is still limited, mostly due to the large number of methods claiming to measure bioavailability, but also to the plethora of scientific definitions in use in the literature. The most effective action that scientists can take to support implementation of bioavailability within the monitoring and management of contaminated sites entails: i) choosing and proposing standardised methods for measuring bioavailability such that bioavailability can play a role in regulations; and ii) promoting discussion among stakeholders in order to make bioavailability comprehensible and also measurable. With this conviction in mind, and also with a view to supporting the current Italian debate on managing polluted farmland, in this work a selection of standardised chemical extraction methods were applied in two potentially PTE-contaminated agricultural sites under phytoremediation treatment within the ECOREMED project (LIFE11 ENV/IT/000275). The aim was to assess the mobility, plant availability and the distribution of the PTEs among the main soil geochemical forms before (T0) and after one year (T1) of phytoremediation and to improve predictions of PTE bioavailability from the amount of PTEs taken up by plants. In particular, we applied:

- 1 mol L⁻¹ ammonium nitrate extraction (ISO 19730:2008) to determine the readily bioavailable content of PTEs in soil. Element extraction is mainly caused by cation exchange and desorption of cations, favoured by the high ionic strength of the NH₄NO₃ solution. This extraction has yielded a good correlation with the absorption data of plants in agricultural soils (Adamo *et al.*, 2018), and is the official method applied in Germany (DIN 19730, 1997; BBodSchV, 1999), Slovakia (ASP, 2004) and Austria (Standard ON S 2088-2) to assess the risk of PTE transfer from the soil to plants in potentially polluted agricultural soils.
- 0.05 mol L⁻¹ EDTA at pH 7.0 (Rauret *et al.*, 2001) to determine the potentially bioavailable content of PTEs in soil. EDTA is a strong chelating agent, which can form stable chelates with

many metal ions and can remove organically-bound metals, along with part of the metals occluded in oxides and secondary clay minerals; the Measurement and Testing Programme of the European Commission has standardised this extraction method, and certified reference materials (BCR-700) were produced to assess the quality of the data obtained by using the procedure in question (Adamo *et al.*, 2018).

the EU-BCR sequential chemical extraction scheme (Rauret et al., 1999) to determine PTE distribution among the main soil geochemical forms. This is a four-step sequential extraction procedure proposed by the Measurements and Testing Programme - MAT (formerly BCR) - of the European Commission; it involves the sequential use of several reagents, fractionating the total amount of PTEs in soil into fractions which become progressively less mobile and bioavailable to plants [i.e. i) 0.11 mol L⁻¹ acetic acid (easily extractable fraction); ii) 0.5 mol L⁻¹ hydroxylamine hydrochloride (reducible fraction); iii) hydrogen peroxide/1 mol L⁻¹ ammonium acetate (oxidizable fraction); and iv) hydrochloric acid/nitric acid (residual fraction)]. According to the interaction between each reagent and the polluted soil, the presumed geochemical fractions of PTEs extracted in sequence are: i) soluble, exchangeable and associated to carbonates; ii) associated to amorphous Fe and Mn oxides; iii) bound to organic matter and sulphides; iv) occluded in non-siliceous minerals (Adamo et al., 2018). Certified reference materials for BCR sequential extractions have been produced to assess the quality of the data obtained by using this extraction procedure (CRM 601 and BCR 701).

Materials and methods

The study area and the pilot sites

In Campania (southern Italy), two National Interest Priority Sites (NIPSs) and three Regional Interest Priority Sites (RIPSs) were identified, amounting to a total area of about 200,000 ha with different levels and sources of pollution. One of these sites, namely the *Litorale Domitio-Agro Aversano*, encompassing the plains of the Garigliano and Volturno Rivers and partially the Phlegrean Fields volcanic area, and including much of the farmland in Naples and Caserta provinces, has been in the media limelight since 2008 because of widespread legal and illegal disposal and burning of waste, with consequences for soil and groundwater quality (Rocco *et al.*, 2016; Monaco *et al.*, 2015; Capra *et al.*, 2014).

In this work, in the framework of the LIFE-ECOREMED project, a 1000 m² rural area in the municipality of Giugliano (Naples) (GI) and a 3300 m² area in Trentola-Ducenta (Caserta) (TD) were used as pilot sites. The two sites were affected by illegal waste disposal. In GI, the waste was mainly from the *manufacture*, formulation, supply and use of coating (i.e. paints and varnishes) and end-of-life vehicles and their components (i.e., boat and car batteries) (William, 2005). In a few cases traces of waste burning were visible. In TD, waste predominantly consisted of mixed construction and demolition materials, including asphalt and plastic (Rocco et al., 2016). Based on preliminary analytical investigations on the PTE total content in the soils, the two sites were defined as potentially contaminated by Cu and Zn as they exceeded the Italian legal thresholds provided by L.D. 152/06 for public, private and residential green areas of 120 and 150 mg kg⁻¹, for Cu and Zn respectively. Detailed site characterisation, soil sampling and total metal content in soil at T0 are given in Rocco et al. (2016).

The approach for bioavailability assessment

Soil characterisation

The soils in question were characterised for their main physical and chemical properties in order to improve the interpretation of the analytical data. All soil samples were air-dried and sieved at 2 mm in accordance with the Italian official procedures (MiPAF, 2000) prior to determining moisture content at 105° C, pH–H₂O (1:2.5 soil:water ratio), electric conductivity (1:5 soil:water ratio), organic carbon (Walkley and Black method), cation exchange capacity (CEC) (BaCl₂+TEA at pH 8.1), exchangeable bases and carbonates (Dietrich-Fruehling calcimeter method). Particle size analysis (Andreasen's pipette method) was carried out by wet sieving and by sedimentation in aqueous media after organic matter oxidation by H₂O₂ treatment.

Extraction by 1 mol L^{-1} ammonium nitrate (procedure ISO 19730:2008)

Extraction by 1 mol L^{-1} ammonium nitrate is commonly used to determine the readily soluble and bioavailable content of PTEs in soil (Gryschko *et al.*, 2005). Soil samples (2 mm sieved soil) were extracted for 2 hours on an end-over-end shaker by 1 mol L^{-1} NH₄NO₃ solution in a soil/solution ratio of 1:2.5. The samples were then centrifuged and filtered. PTE content in the extract solution was measured by ICP-AES (inductively coupled plasmaatomic emission spectrometry) (Optima 7300DV, Perkin Elmer).

Extraction by 0.05 mol L⁻¹ EDTA at pH 7

Extraction by 0.05 mol L⁻¹ Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) at pH 7 is commonly used to determine the potentially bioavailable content of PTEs in soil (Rauret *et al.*, 1999; Adamo *et al.*, 2018). Soil samples (2 mm sieved soil) were extracted for one hour on an end-over-end shaker by 0.05 mol L⁻¹ EDTA at pH 7 solution in a soil/solution ratio of 1:10. The samples were then centrifuged and filtered. PTE content in the extract was measured by ICP-AES (inductively coupled plasma-atomic emission spectrometry) (Optima 7300DV, Perkin Elmer). Quality control of the extraction procedure was carried out using BCR700 certified standard material.

Sequential chemical extraction procedure

The EU-BCR sequential chemical extraction is used to determine PTE distribution among the soil geochemical fractions (Rauret et al., 1999; Adamo et al., 2018). Due to the higher values of soil contamination, the sequential extraction was performed only on selected samples of site GI. Soil samples (2 mm sieved soil) were extracted for 16 h on an end-over-end shaker by 0.11 mol L^{-1} acetic acid in a soil/solution ratio of 1:40, in order to extract the acid-soluble fraction (step 1) consisting of exchangeable metals and fraction bound to carbonates. It is the most labile metal fraction in the soil and hence the most dangerous for the environment. The extracts were separated from the solid residue by centrifugation at 3000 rpm for 20 min and the supernatants were filtered into a polyethylene container and then stored at 4°C prior to analysis. Soil residues were washed by adding 20 mL of distilled water, shaken for 15 min on an end-over-end shaker and centrifuged for 20 min at 3000 rpm. The supernatant was then discarded. Forty mL of 0.5 mol L⁻¹ hydroxylammonium chloride were then added to soil residues to extract, by shaking for 16 h on an end-over-end shaker, the reducible phase (step 2) consisting of metals bound to Fe and Mn oxides. Separation, filtration and storage of 2nd-step extract, as well as soil residue washing, were performed as described above (Step 1). Thereafter, the soil residues



were treated with a suitable addition of 8.8 mol L⁻¹ H₂O₂ at 85°C until no foaming occurred, and then evaporated up to 1 mL. This treatment aims to oxidize the organic matter and release bonded metals. Then, to recover these metals and prevent their precipitation or re-adsorption by the soil sample, 40 mL of 1 mol L⁻¹ ammonium acetate were added to soil residues. After shaking for 16 h on an end-over-end shaker, the oxidizable phase (step 3) was extracted, representing the amount of metal bound to organic matter and, if present, sulphides. Separation, filtration and storage of 3rd-step extract, as well as soil residue washing, were performed as described above (Step 1). The metal contents in the soil residues (step 4) were then determined by treating the residual soils with aqua regia (3:1, v/v, HCl to HNO₃). The metals present in the residual phase are mainly occluded in the crystalline structures of nonsiliceous minerals. For checking the quality of data, the sum of the PTE content extracted by the four steps of the sequential procedure (cumulative total) were compared with total PTE contents extracted by a single procedure (unique total) from the same sample. Metal content in the extracts was measured by ICP-AES (inductively coupled plasma-atomic emission spectrometry) (Optima 7300DV, Perkin Elmer). A quality control of the extraction procedure was carried out using BCR701 certified standard material.

Phytoremediation treatments and plant analysis

In the pilot sites of the ECOREMED project, a plant-based remediation protocol was applied, utilizing *Eucalyptus camedulensis* L. and *Populus nigra* L. in GI and TD, respectively (Fiorentino *et al.*, 2018). One year after applying phytoremediation treatment (T1), seven plots with different soil pollution levels were selected in each site. Soil and plant leaves were collected and analysed in order to assess metal uptake by plants and the effect of phytoremediation on metal bioavailability in soil. The data related to plant uptake refer only to site GI due to the absence of leaves on poplar in TD during the sampling period.

Plant leaves were washed with distilled water, oven-dried at 65° C until constant weight and crushed. An aliquot of the samples was then pulverized in a planetary ball mill (PM 200, Retsch). Half a gram of the powdered materials was digested with 6 ml of HNO₃ (65%), 0.5 mL of HF (40%) and 2 mL of H₂O₂ (30%) in a microwave digestion system (Ethos 900, Milestone). Metal content in the digestion solutions was measured by ICP-AES (inductively coupled plasma-atomic emission spectrometry) (Optima 7300DV, Perkin Elmer).

Data analysis

All data are presented as mean values with relative standard deviation of three replicates. A correlation analysis was performed on data from soil single chemical extractions, before and after one year of plant growth, and from total metal content of both leaves and soil.

Results and discussion

Soil physical and chemical properties

Soil physical and chemical properties were analysed in both GI and TD sites. The soil pH-H₂O was neutral in GI (pH 7.3 \pm 0.2) and sub-alkaline in TD (pH 8.0 \pm 0.2). This is in agreement with the higher carbonate content in TD (174 \pm 41 g kg⁻¹) than in GI (7.6 \pm 2.5 g kg⁻¹). Electrical conductivity was 0.16 \pm 0.03 dS m⁻¹ in GI and 0.45 \pm 0.3 dS m⁻¹ in TD, thus indicating that salinity is not limiting to plant growth



Single extractions and plant uptake

At T0, in both GI and TD sites, 1 mol L⁻¹ NH₄NO₃ extraction almost always showed higher Cu values than the respective *trigger value* of 1 mg kg⁻¹, adopted by several European countries for agricultural areas (ASP, 2004; BBodSchV, 1999; Carlon, 2007); Zn exceeded the *trigger value* of 2 mg kg⁻¹ only in concomitance with the highest total concentrations (Table 1, Figure 1).

In both sites the amounts of metals extracted in EDTA (Table 1,

Figure 2) were, as expected, always much higher than those extracted in NH₄NO₃. Indeed, the amount of both metals extracted by 1 mol L⁻¹ NH₄NO₃ was from 0.1 to 7.9% of respective total contents, while the amount extracted by 0.05 mol L⁻¹ EDTA ranged from 13 to 64 % of total content. The potentially bioavailable amount of Zn was in some cases higher than that of Cu (Table 1). The content of both metals in leaves (Table 2) increased with total metal concentration in soil (R²: 0.534 for Cu and 0.786 for Zn). Zn content in leaves was always higher than Cu (Zn: from 19.4 to 59.2 mg kg⁻¹; Cu: from 5.1 to 19.2 mg kg⁻¹). This is a common trend in plants as observed by Kabata-Pendias (2011) (Zn: 20-46 mg kg⁻¹; Cu: 2-11 mg kg⁻¹) and is related to plant physiology. Moreover, Priya and Jenifer (2014) in their study on Zn and Cu uptake by Eucalyptus ficifolia grown on unpolluted soil from Mannarguti (India) found, in leaves, Cu and Zn concentrations around 1.42 and 3.52 mg kg⁻¹, respectively. The larger amount of both metals taken





Figure 1. Cu and Zn readily bioavailable amounts (mg kg⁻¹), extracted by 1 mol L⁻¹ NH₄NO₃ before and after one year of phytoremediation treatments (pre = T0; post = T1) in Giugliano (A) and Trentola Ducenta (B). The numbers below the bars indicate total metal content in soil samples expressed in mg kg⁻¹. Dotted line = trigger values defined by German DIN 19730 (1997).



Figure 2. Cu and Zn potentially bioavailable amounts (mg kg⁻¹), extracted by 0.05 mol L⁻¹ EDTA pH 7 before and after one year of phytoremediation treatments (pre = T0; post = T1) in Giugliano (A) and Trentola Ducenta (B). The numbers below the bars indicate total metal content in soil samples expressed in mg kg⁻¹.

Table 1. Cu and Zn total and bioavailable concentrations [mean ± SD (min-max), n=10] in Giugliano (GI) and Trentola Ducenta (TD) soils analysed at T0.

Site	Metal	NH4NO3 (mg kg ⁻¹)	EDTA (mg kg ⁻¹)	Aqua Regia (mg kg ⁻¹)
GI	Cu Zn	$7.66 \pm 7.0 \ (0.69-17.3)$ $3.00 \pm 3.0 \ (0.49-11.8)$	$\begin{array}{c} 113 \pm 88 \; (15.2 \hbox{-} 239) \\ 132 \pm 148 \; (6.48 \hbox{-} 393) \end{array}$	429±530 (33.4-1707) 308±329 (58.1-872)
TD	Cu Zn	3.09 ± 0.94 (1.54-4.26) 0.69 ± 0.74 (0.09-2.58)	21.9±8.71 (11.3-35.9) 48.7±35.8 (18.2-139)	$59.2 \pm 20.9 (36.0-103) \\ 136 \pm 67.1 (62.2-256)$



up by *Eucalyptus* plants grown on polluted GI soil (on average Cu 12.1 mg kg⁻¹, Zn 39.3 mg kg⁻¹) supports the suitability of *Eucalyptus camedulensis* for metal phytoextraction.

A correlation analysis was performed to investigate the relationship between chemically assessed bioavailable Cu and Zn amounts and total content of both metals in soil and in plants. Both amounts of Cu and Zn extracted by 1 mol L⁻¹ NH₄NO₃ and 0.05 mol L⁻¹ EDTA were positively and significantly (P<0.05) correlated with total Cu and Zn content in soil, indicating an increase in bioavailable amounts with total metal content in soil. Also a positive correlation (P=0.10) was found between Cu and Zn amounts taken up by plants and total and bioavailable Cu and Zn content in soil.

Sequential extractions

As shown in Figure 3, EU-BCR sequential extractions, carried out on selected samples (GI1-5, Cu 1707 mg kg⁻¹, Zn 972 mg kg⁻¹; GI1-6, Cu 506 mg kg⁻¹, Zn 591 mg kg⁻¹) indicated that Cu was mainly associated to easily reducible mineral phases (54 and 55%, Step 2) and, to a lesser extent, with oxidizable phases (19 and 24%,

Step 3). Instead, Zn was equally distributed between HOAcextractable (35 and 45%, Step 1) and reducible (29 and 43%, Step 2) phases.

The data obtained by sequential extractions indicate a higher mobility of Zn with respect to Cu, confirmed by the larger amounts of Zn accumulated by leaves. Iron and aluminium oxides and organic matter are the soil components most commonly involved in the adsorption of metals in soil. This is indirectly confirmed by the considerable amounts of Cu extracted by EDTA (215 \pm 5.3 mg kg⁻¹ in GI1-5 and 194 \pm 5.5 mg kg⁻¹ in GI1-6) and by hydroxylamine (Step 2 EU-BCR) (926 \pm 187 mg kg⁻¹ in GI1-5 and 279 \pm 22.2 mg kg⁻¹ in GI1-6).

Effect of phytoremediation treatments on bioavailability

In Figures 1 and 2 the amounts of Cu and Zn extracted by NH_4NO_3 and EDTA solutions before and after one year of phytoremediation treatment in GI and TD sites are compared. A general reduction of both NH_4NO_3 and EDTA bioavailable amounts of Cu and Zn was observed after planting (T1) regardless of the initial



Figure 3. Amounts of sequentially extracted Cu and Zn in Giugliano soil, expressed as a percentage of total contents (A: G1-5, Cu 1707 and Zn 972 mg kg⁻¹; B: G1-6, Cu 506 and Zn 591 mg kg⁻¹).

Table 2. Cu and Zn	accumulation in leav	es (mg kg ⁻¹)	of Eucalyptus	camedulensis and	total content in	Giugliano soil.

	Total conte (mg	ent in leaves kg-1)	Total content (mg kg [_]	in soil 1)
SUB-PLOT	Cu	Zn	Cu	Zn
GI1-7	$8.18 {\pm} 0.6$	27.1±2.0	$614{\pm}7.0$	$197{\pm}1.7$
GI6-5	5.10 ± 0.1	19.4 ± 0.6	106 ± 2.3	84.0±1.2
GI6-6	10.9±1.1	20.5 ± 0.9	109 ± 3.7	79.0 ± 1.0
GI8-3	9.15 ± 0.3	20.1±1.0	50.0 ± 1.4	71.0±3.2
GI1-5	19.2 ± 1.3	59.2 ± 1.2	1707±15.3	972 ± 6.7
GI1-6	$8.67 {\pm} 0.6$	$33.9 {\pm} 0.6$	507 ± 12.1	591±1.7
GI8-4	6.71 ± 0.9	$29.4{\pm}0.7$	$859{\pm}6.0$	720 ± 6.3



concentrations (NH4NO3: from 19 to 60% for Cu, from 43 to 92% for Zn; EDTA: from 4 to 27% for Cu and from 8 to 76% for Zn). When the initial concentration was lower than the legal limit, the amounts of bioavailable fractions before and after phytoremediation did not significantly differ. Despite the reduction observed one year after planting, the bioavailable amounts of Cu were still above the trigger value of 1 mg kg⁻¹ defined by German DIN for the NH₄NO₃ procedure. By contrast, the bioavailable amounts of Zn, which were above the German DIN trigger value of 2 mg kg⁻¹ prior to planting, dropped below the limit in question after one year of phytoremediation. This result might be related to the greater Zn mobility and bioavailability in soil, as assessed by single and sequential extractions, and to the higher Zn uptake by the plants, as shown by the larger amounts of Zn found in the plant leaves. For both soil samples, the 1 mol L⁻¹ NH₄NO₃ solution extracted amounts of Cu similar to the amounts taken up by plants, while an underestimation was observed for Zn.

Conclusions

The criteria to assess the quality of the agricultural soils, safeguarding the healthiness and quality of agro-food products for the protection of human health, cannot take account of only total PTE content in soil, but must also consider their mobility and bioavailability. Indeed, in assessing the contamination level of agricultural areas, attention should mainly be paid to the possible transfer of pollutants from soil to plant, with the consequent entry of contaminants into the food chain.

The approach proposed in the ECOREMED project was based on the chemical monitoring of PTE bioavailability using a combination of single and sequential chemical extractions. Our findings showed that the potential mobility and bioavailability of both metals, though higher for Zn than for Cu, was a reliable indication of the suitability of plant cropping as soil remediation treatment. Indeed, one year after planting Eucalyptus camedulensis, a significant reduction in the bioavailable amounts of Cu and Zn in soil (assessed by single chemical extractions) was observed in both sites. A general underestimation of bioavailable Zn assessed by 1 mol L⁻¹ NH₄NO₃ was observed from comparison with leaf content. Further detailed information was obtained from the sequential extractions, indicating Zn as being mainly associated to the easily HOAc-extractable and reducible fractions, while Cu was mostly found in reducible and oxidizable phases. In our case study, metal removal from the soil by Eucalyptus provides evidence that, albeit in a considerable number of years, the chosen phytoremediation treatment should clean the soil at least of the bioavailable PTE fraction, restoring the area to its original agricultural use for food production.

In light of the above, the study of metal bioavailability in soil of polluted sites would translate into economic benefits from the executive phases of environmental restoration projects, which in the absence of such information should reduce total PTE content in soil below the risk thresholds.

Moreover, knowledge of PTE bioavailable concentrations (hence likely to enter the food chain and affect human health) in Campania's agricultural soils could contribute to the creation of a database from which specific threshold values for the region could be obtained. Such knowledge would also provide a basis for legislative proposals leading to an improvement in the current Law Decree 152/2006.

References

- Adamo P, Agrelli D, Zampella M, 2018. Chemical speciation to assess bioavailability, bioaccessibility and geochemical forms of potentially toxic metals (PTMs) in polluted soils. Chapter 9. In: Environmental geochemistry, site characterization, data analysis and case histories. Second Edition (De Vivo B, Belkin HE, Lima A Eds.), Amsterdam (The Netherlands), pp 153-194.
- ASP, 2004. Act No. 220/2004 Coll. on the Protection and Use of the Agricultural Soil. Ministry of Agriculture of the Slovak Republic.
- BBodSchV, 1999. Bodenschutz- und Altlastenverordnung [Federal Soil Protection and Contaminated Sites Ordinance]. 12 July 1999, Germany.
- Carlon C, 2007. Derivation methods of soil screening values in Europe. A review and evaluation of national procedures towards harmonization. European Commission, Joint Research Centre, ISPRA, EUR 22805-EN, pp. 306.
- Capra GF, Coppola E, Odierna P, Grilli E, Vacca S, Buondonno A, 2014. Occurrence and distribution of key potentially toxic elements (PTEs) in agricultural soils: a paradigmatic case study in an area affected by illegal landfills. J. Geochem. Explor. 145:169-80.
- Cristaldi A, Conti GO, Jho EH, Zuccarello P, Grasso A, Copat C, Ferrante M, 2017. Phytoremediation of contaminated soils by heavy metals and PAHs. A brief review. Environ. Technol. Innov. 8:309-26.
- DIN 19730, 1997. Bodenbeschaffenheit-Extraktion von Spurenelementen mit Ammoniumnitratlösung. Berlin: Beuth Verlag.
- Duri LG, Fiorentino N, Cozzolino E, Ottaiano L, Agrelli D, Fagnano M, 2018. Bioassays for evaluation of sanitary risks from food crops cultivated in potentially contaminated sites. Ital. J. Agron. 13(s1):45-52.
- Fiorentino N, Mori M, Cenvinzo V, Duri LG, Gioia L, Visconti D, Fagnano M, 2018. Assisted phytoremediation for restoring soil fertility in contaminated and degraded land. Ital. J. Agron. 13(s1):34-44.
- Gryschko R, Kuhnle R, Terytze K, Breuer J, Stahr K, 2005. Soil Extraction of Readily Soluble Heavy Metals and As with 1 M NH4NO3-Solution. Evaluation of DIN 19730. J. Soil Sediment 5:101-6.
- Harmsen J, 2015. Measuring bioavailability: from a scientific approach to standard methods. J Environ. Qual. 36:1420-8.
- Harmsen J, Naidu R, 2013. Bioavailability as a tool in site management. J. Hazard. Mater. 261:840-6.
- ISO 19730, 2008. Soil quality Extraction of trace elements from soil using ammonium nitrate solution.
- Kabata-Pendias A, 2011. Trace elements in soils and plants. 4th ed. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, USA p. 505.
- Keller C, Hammer D, 2004. Metal availability and soil toxicity after repeated croppings of Thlaspi caerulescens in metal contaminated soils. Environ. Pollut. 131:243-54.
- Kim RY, Yoon JK, Kim TS, Yang JE, Owens G, Kim KR, 2015. Bioavailability of heavy metals in soils: definitions and practical implementation - a critical review. Environ. Geochem. Health 37:1041-61.
- MiPAF, 2000. Metodi di analisi chimica del suolo. Franco Angeli Ed., Milan, Italy.
- Mir ZA, Bharose R, Lone AH, Malik ZA, 2017. Review on phytoremediation: An ecofriendly and green technology for removal of heavy metals. Crop Res. 52:74-82.



- Monaco D, Riccio A, Chianese E, Adamo P, Di Rosa S, Fagnano M, 2015. Chemicals characterization and spatial distribution of PAHs and heavy hydrocarbons in rural sites of Campania Region, South Italy. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 22:14993-5003.
- Priya S, Jenifer S, 2014. Analysis of some minerals and trace elements in Eucalyptus ficifolia. PharmaBitika 1:34-7.
- Rauret G, López-Sánchez JF, Bacon J, Gomez A, Muntau H, Queaviller P, 2001. Certification of the contents (mass fraction) of Cd, Cr, Cu, Ni, Pb and Zn in an organic-rich soil following harmonised EDTA and acetic acid extraction procedures. BCR-700. BCR information, reference materials. Report EUR 19774 EN.

Rauret G, López-Sánchez JF, Sahuquillo A, Davidson C, Ure A,

Quevauviller P, 1999. Improvement of the BCR 3-step sequential extraction procedure prior to the certification of new sediment and soil reference materials. J. Environ. Monitor. 1:57-61.

- Rocco C, Duro I, Di Rosa S, Fagnano M, Fiorentino N, Vetromile A, Adamo P, 2016. Composite vs. discrete soil sampling in assessing soil pollution of agricultural sites affected by solid waste disposal. J. Geochem. Explor. 170:30-8.
- Standard ON S 2088-2: Contaminated Sites Part 2: Risk assessment for polluted soil concerning impacts on surface environments; Austrian Standards Institute, June 2000.
- William PT, 2005. Waste Treatment and Disposal. Second ed. John Wiley & Sons Ltd, The Atrium, Southern Gate, Chichester, West Sussex PO19 8SQ, England.

onnorcialuseonity



Use of the native vascular flora for risk assessment and management of an industrial contaminated soil

Donato Visconti,¹ Nunzio Fiorentino,¹ Adriano Stinca,² Ida Di Mola,¹ Massimo Fagnano¹

¹Department of Agricultural Sciences, University of Naples Federico II, Portici (NA); ²Department of Environmental, Biological and Pharmaceutical Sciences and Technologies, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Caserta, Italy

Abstract

This study was carried out in an industrial site contaminated by potentially toxic elements (PTEs) to assess the relationship between spontaneous vegetation and pollution levels, the potential risks for biological communities and ecosystems, and the potential of native plant species for phytoremediation. PTE concentrations had negative effects on plant biodiversity, as determined through changes in the Shannon index, Pielou evenness index and species richness. Poaceae and Asteraceae were moderately affected by soil contamination, while PTE levels had a negative effect on the other species groups. Cadmium had the greatest effect on plant species diversity, followed by zinc and then lead. The ecological risk index showed a mean value of 4924, corresponding to a very high risk in most plants. Target PTEs for phytoremediation were Cd (3813 on average) followed by Pb (937 on average) contributing to the ecological risk index, respectively from 42 to 81% and from 11 to 24%, in spite of the much higher concentrations of Pb.

The most frequent species were *Holcus lanatus* subsp. *lanatus* and *Silene latifolia* that showed good adaptability to contamination, growing in very high-risk areas. *S. latifolia* reported high concentrations of Tl both in shoot and in roots, at levels typical of hyperaccumulator species. High values of bioaccumulation (BAC_S, BAC_R) and translocation factors (TF) confirmed that this species may be considered a hyperaccumulator of Tl. *Holcus lanatus* and *Silene latifolia* proved the most suitable species respectively for Cd and Pb phytostabilization and can be used in association for soil cover during the summer when soil resuspension is generally more intense and for protecting groundwater from pollutant leaching.

Correspondence: Donato Visconti, Department of Agricultural Sciences, University of Naples Federico II, via Università 100, 80055 Portici (NA), Italy. Tel.: +39.081.2539126. E-mail: donato.visconti@unina.it

Key words: Plant biodiversity; bioaccumulation coefficient; ecological risk index; potentially toxic elements; spontaneous flora.

©Copyright D. Visconti et al., 2018 Licensee PAGEPress, Italy Italian Journal of Agronomy 2018; 13(s1):23-33

This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Noncommercial License (by-nc 4.0) which permits any noncommercial use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

Introduction

The most hazardous potentially toxic elements (PTEs) in urban and industrial areas are widely acknowledged to be lead and cadmium. Lead (Pb) is the second most hazardous element for human health, causing a decline in mental and cognitive capacities (ATSDR 2015). Pb content in soils can have a geological origin, but vehicle emissions, mining, smelting and battery recycling can release the element into the environment through atmospheric fallout and waste disposal. By contrast, cadmium (Cd) is often used as a doping agent in batteries or in some paints. It is a non-essential element for plants and animals, and exposure even at low concentrations could have carcinogenic effects (Goering *et al.*, 1994).

PTEs can also affect normal plant functions and metabolic processes like photosynthesis, respiration and enzymatic activities (Furini, 2012). They stimulate defence mechanisms to oxidative damages based on antioxidant systems that can differ among plant species (Meharg, 2005; Sytar *et al.*, 2013; Antoniadis *et al.*, 2017). Therefore, composition of native flora in contaminated environments can be affected, causing selection pressure that permits tolerant, bioaccumulator or excluder species to proliferate, eliminating the most sensitive populations (Chowdhury *et al.*, 2016). Moreover, analysis of native vascular flora may also help to select the most suitable species in phytoremediation projects (Barbafieri *et al.*, 2011).

Phytoremediation is a technique for removing contaminants from soils or for interrupting exposure pathways that can be viewed as belonging to the general class of bioremediation systems (Vidali, 2001). It is a promising technique thanks to its costeffectiveness and the positive effects on local landscapes and soil ecosystem services. Phytoextraction is based on uptake of toxic substances by plant roots and their subsequent accumulation in shoots (Raskin and Ensley, 1999).

An alternative approach, namely phytostabilization, entails the use of vegetation to reduce the mobility of contaminants toward other environmental compartments such as air and groundwater. Plant growth and contaminant uptake, as well as their bioavailability, can be improved by assisting phytoremediation with fertilisers and biostimulants, thereby improving the efficiency of this technique and reducing the restoration time required (Fiorentino *et al.*, 2013, 2017).

The effectiveness of phytoremediation requires selected plants for uptaking or immobilizing PTEs. Furthermore, it is important to find plant species not only tolerant to contaminants, but also adapted to the site-specific conditions, which are often limiting for plant growth, such as soil physical degradation due to compaction and aggregate destruction caused by the weight of waste or by the transit of heavy vehicles (Fiorentino *et al.*, 2018).

The aim of the present study was threefold: i) to assess the risks

for biological communities and ecosystems due to PTE pollution; ii) identify target PTEs for phytoremediation; and iii) evaluate the potential for phytoremediation of native species growing *in situ*.

Materials and methods

Site description

The study site is located in the industrial area of the municipality of Marcianise (Campania, southern Italy: 41° 00' 48.9'' N - 14° 17' 49.7'' E) in the western part of the Campanian Plain at about 24 m a.s.l. It has a typical Mediterranean climate with precipitation mostly occurring in the autumn and winter and a long summer drought.

The area in question is a 3.5-ha plot near an industrial plant for recycling automotive electric batteries classified by the regional authorities as potentially contaminated by Cd and Pb due to past storage of waste from the industrial plant itself. The site was thus classified as contaminated, since risk analysis showed that there was a serious potential risk for workers due to inhalation or dermal contact with contaminated soil particles. A phytoremediation project was approved, using the ECOREMED protocol (2017) based on ecological systems (*i.e.* a poplar stand and permanent meadows) to prevent soil particles becoming air-borne, thereby interrupting exposure pathways to contaminants. The study site presents the typical scenario of a disused industrial area, where the recolonization of natural vegetation has allowed the formation of herbaceous and shrubby secondary plant communities.

Soil analysis

Soil samples both from plots and from the rhizosphere of the most representative species were dried at 50°C until constant weight, homogenized and sieved at 2 mm. The <2 mm fraction was characterized for the following: texture (normalized methods for soil analysis, ISS, 1985), pH-H₂O (1:2.5 soil:water solution ratio), electrical conductivity (1:5 soil:water solution ratio - Conductimeter basic 30, Crison), organic carbon (Walkley and Black method, 1934), nitrogen (Kjeldahl method), carbonate content (Dietrich-Frühling calcimeter method, Loeppert and Suarez, 1996) and PTE concentrations (acid digestion with aqua regia followed by ICP-MS).

The potentially bioavailable fraction of PTEs was estimated by a single extraction with a 0.005 M diethylene triamine pentaacetic acid (DTPA) + 0.01 M triethanolamine (TEA) + 0.01 M calcium chloride (CaCl₂) solution adjusted to pH 7.3 (Lindsay and Norwell, 1978). PTE concentration in the solution was determined by inductively coupled plasma-atomic emission spectrometry (Perkin Elmer ICP-AES Optima 7300DV).

Vegetation analysis

On 9 June 2015 the analysis of the spontaneous vegetation was carried out by using nine square plots (3x3 m) selected according to the various vegetation types it presented. In each plot the presence/absence of the plant species, their abundance (expressed as per cent cover) and overall vegetation cover was detected. The plant specimens were directly identified in the field except for dubious cases, which were later identified at the Herbarium Porticense (PORUN) according to Pignatti (1982), Pignatti *et al.* (2018) and Tutin *et al.* (1964-1980, 1993). The nomenclature follows Bartolucci *et al.* (2018) and Galasso *et al.* (2018).

With the data collected, the Shannon-Weiner index, Pielou evenness index and species frequency were calculated for each plot. The Shannon-Weiner diversity index (H') is usually based on

the number of species and the abundance of individuals within each species (Magurran, 1988), but in this survey the mean soil cover of the species was used, as suggested by Stefanska-Krzaczek (2012):

$$(H') = -\sum_{i=1}^{S} \frac{ci}{c} \times \log_e \frac{ci}{c}$$
(1)

where S is the number of species, ci is the mean cover of i species on a plot and C is the sum of mean covers for all species.

The Pielou evenness index (J) (Grall and Coic, 2006) is used to measure the distribution of species within a site, regardless of species richness. Its value varies from 0 (dominance of one species) to 1 (equitable distribution of species). It is calculated as follows:

$$(J') = \frac{H'}{H'max}$$
(2)

where H' = the Shannon-Weiner index and H'max = log_e of the total number of species S.

Frequency (F), *i.e.* the distribution or dispersion of individual species (Mukhopadhyay *et al.*, 2017), was estimated as percentage of occurrence calculated for the most representative plant species of each plot:

$$(F) = \frac{Number of areas in which a species occurred}{Total number of areas studied} \times 100 \quad (3)$$

Characterization of the most representative species

To analyse the behaviour of the single species detected in the site, plant species of the nine plots showing the highest soil coverage were identified and a variable number of plant samples (>3 when possible) were collected together with their respective rhizosoils. Samples of each species were separated in shoots and roots and then washed with tap water followed by distilled water, ovendried at 60°C until constant weight and finely ground.

Composite samples of roots and shoots of each selected species were then analysed (acid digestion with *aqua regia* followed by ICP-MS) for PTE content. PTE concentrations were compared to PTE thresholds in forage, considering the native species as a potential pasture (EU Reg. 1275/2013). For metals not considered by this Regulation the mean values found in grasses grown on polluted sites (Kabata-Pendias, 2011) were used as reference.

Potential ecological risk assessment

With the soil contamination data, both in the nine plots and in rhizo-soil of the most representative species, the potential ecological risk index (ERI) was calculated. ERI represents the sensitivity of the biological community to toxic substances and shows the potential ecological risk caused by the overall contamination (Zhao and Li, 2013). The index is also useful to evaluate the adaptability of plant species to soil contamination, given that species growing in high-risk areas might be adapted to contamination. The equation used for calculating ERI (Hakanson, 1980) is:

$$\operatorname{ERI} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \operatorname{E}_{r}^{i} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \operatorname{T}_{r}^{i} \times \operatorname{C}_{f}^{i} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left(\operatorname{T}_{r}^{i} \times \frac{\operatorname{C}^{i}}{\operatorname{C}_{n}^{i}} \right)$$
(4)

where: Eis the monomial potential ecological risk index of the PTE



i; Tis the toxic response factor for a specific PTE i (*e.g.* As=10, Cd=30, Cr=2, Cu=5, Pb=5, Tl=10 and Zn=1); Ci is the contamination factor of PTE i; Cⁱ is the content of PTE i in the samples (mg kg⁻¹), and Ci is the background value of PTE i in the study area (mg kg⁻¹). The toxic response factor for Tl is reported by Liu *et al.* (2018).

In this study, soil background values (BV) of the area from Cicchella *et al.* (2008) were used (As: 10.50; Cd: 0.45; Cr: 10; Cu: 28.50; Pb: 46.50; Zn: 78.0; Tl: 1.00 mg kg⁻¹). The contamination degrees and the potential ecological risk of a single PTE (E) were classified as low (E 40), moderate ($40 \le E 80$), considerable (80 $\le E 160$), high ($160 \le E 320$) and very high ($E \ge 320$). The overall ecological risk (ERI) was classified as low (ERI <95), moderate ($95 \le ERI < 190$), high ($190 \le ERI < 380$) and very high (ERI ≥ 380) (Rehman *et al.*, 2018).

Calculation of PTE accumulation indices

For each of the most representative species, the following indices were calculated for assessing the ability of plants to accumulate and translocate PTEs: bioaccumulation coefficient in shoots (BACs), bioaccumulation coefficient in roots (BAC_R) and translocation factor (TF). The BACs and BAC_R were calculated as the ratio between the concentration of PTEs in shoots and roots, respectively, and the concentration of PTEs in the rhizospheric soils (Putwattana *et al.*, 2015). The translocation factor was calculated as the ratio between the concentration of PTEs in shoots and that in roots (Baker and Brooks, 1989):

$$BAC_{s} = \frac{PTE \ concentration \ in \ shoots \ (mg \ kg^{-1})}{PTE \ concentration \ in \ soil \ (mg \ kg^{-1})} \tag{5}$$

$$BAC_{R} = \frac{PTE \ concentration \ in \ roots \ (mg \ kg^{-1})}{PTE \ concentration \ in \ soil \ (mg \ kg^{-1})} \tag{6}$$

$$TF = \frac{PTE \ concentration \ in \ shoots \ (mg \ kg^{-1})}{PTE \ concentration \ in \ roots \ (mg \ kg^{-1})} \tag{7}$$

To determine the capacity of plants to accumulate the bioavailable fractions of contaminants, a modified bioaccumulation coefficient (mBAC) was calculated for shoots and roots (Hamon and McLaughlin, 1999; Barbafieri *et al.*, 2011; Petruzzelli *et al.*, 2011) as follows:

$$mBAC_{S} = \frac{PTE \ concentration \ in \ shoots \ (mg \ kg^{-1})}{bioavailable \ PTE \ concentration \ in \ soil \ (mg \ kg^{-1})} \tag{8}$$

$$mBAC_{R} = \frac{PTE \ concentration \ in \ roots \ (mg \ kg^{-1})}{bioavailable \ PTE \ concentration \ in \ soil \ (mg \ kg^{-1})} \tag{9}$$

To evaluate the presence of hyperaccumulator plants we also compared PTE concentrations in shoots with reference values given by Van der Ent *et al.* (2013).

Statistical analysis

The statistical analyses were all carried out by using Ms Excel 2007 and SPSS 21 (SPSS Inc. Chicago, USA). Pearson correlation analyses were made to investigate the relationships between ERI, soil factors (pH, electric conductivity, organic carbon, total nitrogen, total and bioavailable PTEs) and ecological parameters (H', J', plant species richness and total plant cover) of each plot. Statistical significance in this analysis was defined at P<0.05 and P<0.01.

Results and discussion

Soil features of the nine plots

All the soils showed a good organic carbon content and a subalkaline pH, while EC and CaCO₃ were low for all rhizo-soils (Table 1). Soil texture was sandy loam (USDA) without differences among the plots with 15% of clay, 23% of silt and 62% of sand on average (data not shown). The soils of all nine plots showed good fertility, and thus cannot be considered limiting for plant growth.

Soil Pb concentrations ranged from 409 to over 100,000 mg kg⁻¹ and exceeded the Italian screening values (SV) for industrial sites (DL 152/06: 1000 mg kg⁻¹) in 89% of cases (Table 2). Soil Cd concentration ranged from 1.6 to 298 mg kg⁻¹ and was above SV (15 mg kg⁻¹) in 67% of plots. Soil As concentration ranged from 16 to 861 mg kg⁻¹ and exceeded SV (50 mg kg⁻¹) in 56 % of cases.

Soil Cu, Cr, Tl and Zn concentrations were lower than SVs for industrial sites (Cu: 600 mg kg⁻¹; Cr: 800 mg kg⁻¹; Tl: 10 mg kg⁻¹; Zn: 1500 mg kg⁻¹) in all the plots. Due to the very high concentra-

Table 1. Selected soil physico-chemical properties in the plots monitored.

Plots	рН	Electrical conductivity (dS m ⁻¹)	CaCO ₃ (g kg ⁻¹)	Organic carbon (g kg ⁻¹)	Total nitrogen (g kg ⁻¹)
1	7.2	197.0	15.0	26.9	2.5
2	7.2	174.8	21.4	42.4	6.3
3	7.1	231.0	13.1	42.5	4.4
4	7.0	472.0	87.5	68.3	9.7
5	6.9	524.4	51.9	55.7	4.0
6	7.2	311.5	46.4	48.9	5.5
7	7.4	398.5	41.0	55.9	1.3
8	7.4	238.5	64.1	31.4	0.5
9	7.5	500.9	81.1	16.9	0.6
Average	7.2	338.7	46.8	43.2	3.9
St. err	0.07	45.9	9.1	5.4	1.0



tion of some PTEs (mainly Pb and Cd), the ERI of the nine plots proved very high in 89% of cases, with values up to 26,556 (plot 5), 70 times higher than the maximum threshold reported by Rehman *et al.* (2018). These values were higher than other Pb contaminated sites (Ogunkunle and Fatoba, 2013; Jiang *et al.*, 2014; Kaddour *et al.*, 2017).

Plant community characteristics of the nine plots

In all, 34 species and 17 families were recorded in the nine plots (Table 2). The most abundant families were *Poaceae* and *Asteraceae*. The highest species diversity was reported in the plots with lower ecological risk and PTE content (plots 1, 3 and 4), while the lowest values were found in the plots with highest risk (plots 5 and 9), as also reported by Vidic *et al.* (2006) who reported that the highest biodiversity and evenness of spontaneous plant species were found in the plots with the lowest concentration of Cd, Pb and Zn furthest away from a lead smelter chimney. In particular, plot 5 had a very high concentration of PTEs, with invasive alien species such as *Artemisia annua* L. and *Erigeron sumatrensis*

Retz. *Poaceae* were present in all nine plots, also with only one species in the most contaminated plots (5 and 9), *Asteraceae* were present in only 56% of plots, while *Fabaceae* were present with only one species in the least contaminated plot, thus suggesting a decreasing tolerance to soil contamination from *Poaceae* to *Asteraceae* to *Fabaceae*, confirming the results obtained by many authors in other countries (Wang *et al.*, 2004; Shu *et al.*, 2005; Weiersbye *et al.*, 2006; Gawronski and Gawronska, 2007; Mansfield *et al.*, 2014; Salas-Luevano *et al.*, 2017; Nguemte *et al.*, 2018). The overall soil cover of nine plots was always close to 100%, even in the most contaminated plots, thus confirming the findings of Bes *et al.* (2010) who found that elimination of the most PTE-sensitive species allows the more tolerant species to proliferate, which thus occupy the space left by the former.

Cd and Pb reported the highest contribution to the ecological risk index (Table 3). Cd contributed from 54 to 81 % of the ERI, while Pb contributed from 12 to 21% of the ERI, confirming that these elements must be considered the target PTEs of this site. Furthermore, these PTEs are considered the most hazardous also for human health. Indeed, the reference doses of oral soil ingestion

Plots descriptors	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
As(mg kg ⁻¹)	14	34	19	16	861	87	92	94	97
Cd (mg kg ⁻¹)	1.6	41.9	13.9	5.3	298	91.7	97.6	63.1	153.2
Cr (mg kg ⁻¹)	44	48	47	48	69	61	62	44	55
Cu (mg kg ⁻¹)	145	218	339	133	609	606	252	181	340
Pb (mg kg ⁻¹)	409	10,505	2998	1567	100,000	26,538	26,600	17,508	39,263
Tl (mg kg ⁻¹)	1.8	1.7	2.2	1.6	1.6	8.6	5.7	2.1	3.8
Zn (mg kg ⁻¹)	217	251	209	178	450	401	250	172	429
ERI	198	3491	1209	512	26,556	7931	8226	5356	12651
Soil cover (%)	100	95	90	95	100	95	90	100	100
Shannon-W index (H')	1.76	1.10	1.64	2.14	0.06	0.97	1.44	0.90	0.08
Pielou index (J')	0.76	0.69	0.70	0.79	0.08	0.54	0.58	0.43	0.10
Species number	11	5	. 11	15	2	6	12	8	2
Poaceae	2	2	3	3	1	3	4	5	1
Fabaceae	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Asteraceae	2	1	2	6	0	0	2	0	0
Miscellaneous species	6	2	6	6	1	3	6	3	1

Table 3. Mean values of ecological risk factor (E) and potential ecological risk index (ERI) in the different plots.

				Er				ERI
Plots	As	Cd	Cr	Cu	Pb	Tl	Zn	
1	13	107	8.9	26	23	18.3	2.8	199
2	32	2793	9.6	38	597	17.6	3.2	3491
3	18	927	9.4	60	170	22.7	2.7	1209
4	15	357	9.7	23	89	16.1	2.3	512
5	820	19907	13.8	112	5682	16.6	5.8	26,557
6	83	6113	12.2	124	1508	86.4	5.1	7932
7	88	6510	12.5	44	1511	57.3	3.2	8227
8	90	4207	8.8	32	995	21.8	2.2	5356
9	92	10,213	11.0	60	2231	38.3	5.5	12,651
Average	139	5681	10.7	58	1423	32.8	3.6	7348
St. Err.	86	2096	0.6	12	589	8.1	0.5	2770

Very high risk is reported in italics.



(RfD in mg d⁻¹ kg⁻¹ body weight) given by USEPA (1989) are very low: 0.0010 for Cd and 0.0035 mg for Pb. It should be noted that Cd had the highest ecological risk, even though the Pb concentrations in soil were much higher. This was due to the higher toxicity of Cd for the biosphere even at low concentrations (Duri *et al.*, 2018; Zhao *et al.*, 2018). The degree of risk due to the other PTEs was lower, excepted for As in plot 5 (very high risk).

Correlation analysis (Table 4) revealed that the ecological risk index has the greatest deleterious effect on plant diversity and evenness (P<0.01), but also on the total number of species, as also reported by Andreucci et al. (2006) This effect was more evident in the miscellaneous group (P<0.05), confirming the findings of Koptsik et al. (2003). As regards the single elements, the total soil content of Cd, followed by Pb and Zn, affected the plant community in question, showing a significant negative correlation with diversity, evenness and species richness. The reduction in plant species diversity by these three elements has also been reported by others in industrial areas elsewhere (Vangronsveld et al., 1996; Vidic et al., 2006). This effect was more evident in the miscellaneous group that seemed to be the best indicators of soil PTE pollution while the other groups were unaffected by soil pollution, according to the results of Hernandez and Pastor (2008). The better adaption to soil contamination of Poaceae and Asteraceae has already been reported extensively elsewhere (Wang et al., 2004; Shu et al., 2005; Gawronski and Gawronska, 2007; Nguemte et al., 2018) and confirmed that such families appear more resistant than other families to soil contamination.

Behaviour of the most representative species

An inventory of the 12 most representative species identified in the nine plots is shown in Table 5. *Artemisia annua* (native to East Europe and Asia) and *Sorghum halepense* (native to tropical areas of Africa and Asia) are considered invasive aliens in Italy. The most frequent families were *Poaceae* and *Asteraceae*. The most frequent species were *Holcus lanatus* subsp. *lanatus* (78% of plots) and *Silene latifolia* (56% of plots). Most of the inventoried species of *Asteraceae* family are common for areas contaminated by industrial waste like *Artemisia vulgaris* (Wojcik *et al.*, 2014), *Cirsium arvense* (Desjardins *et al.*, 2014) and *Poaceae* such as *Elymus repens* subsp. *repens* and *Dactylis glomerata* subsp. *glomerata* (Dygus, 2013). *Rubus ulmifolius* was also reported by Massa *et al.* (2010) in an industrial area in northern Italy.

Characterization of rhizo-soils of the more representative species

Soil PTE concentrations of the 12 rhizo-soils are shown in Table 6 along with PTE content in plants. Also the rhizo-soils showed very high PTE contents, reflecting average values found in the nine plots (see Table 2).

The ecological risk index calculated in the rhizo-soils of the 12 most representative species showed very high risk in all habitats except for *Artemisia vulgaris*, *Dittrichia viscosa* subsp. *viscosa* and *Epilobium tetragonum* subsp. *tetragonum*. The rhizosphere of *Rubus ulmifolius* and *Silene latifolia* showed the highest ERI values, thus suggesting a particular adaptability of the latter two species to PTE contamination, in agreement with Moreira *et al.* (2011) who reported the same tolerance in a site contaminated by Pb, As and Ni.

The Cu concentration in shoots ranged from 9 to 56 mg kg⁻¹ with the highest value in *S. latifolia*, that showed concentrations above values recorded by Kabata-Pendias (2011) (21 mg kg⁻¹) along with *D. glomerata*, *C. arvense*, *E. repens* and *B. nigra*. Total

	Shannon index	Evenness index	Species number	Poaceae	Fabaceae	Asteraeae	Miscellaneous species	Plant cover
ERI	-0.84**	-0.88**	-0.71*	-0.47	-0.33	-0.54	-0.68*	0.37
Cu (mg kg ⁻¹)	-0.58	-0.53	-0.58	-0.33	-0.33	-0.55	-0.47	0.04
Cu DTPA (mg kg ⁻¹)	+0.20	+0.21	+0.14	-0.01	-0.22	0.07	0.27	-0.54
Pb (mg kg ⁻¹)	-0.80**	-0.84**	-0.68*	-0.46	-0.30	-0.51	-0.65	0.37
Pb DTPA (mg kg ⁻¹)	-0.41	-0.46	-0.18	+0.48	-0.48	-0.49	-0.16	-0.05
Zn (mg kg ⁻¹)	-0.82**	-0.79*	-0.81**	-0.66	-0.23	-0.59	-0.73*	0.32
Zn DTPA (mg kg ⁻¹)	+0.47	+0.39	0.46	-0.03	-0.35	0.73	0.39	-0.47
As (mg kg ⁻¹)	-0.63	-0.68	-0.54	-0.43	-0.18	-0.36	-0.53	0.37
As DTPA (mg kg ⁻¹)	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.
$Cd (mg kg^{-1})$	-0.85**	-0.89**	-0.72*	-0.47	-0.33	-0.55	-0.69*	0.37
Cd DTPA (mg kg ⁻¹)	-0.22	-0.23	-0.07	0.29	-0.33	-0.32	0.01	-0.32
Cr (mg kg ⁻¹)	-0.55	-0.59	-0.42	-0.32	-0.37	-0.33	-0.35	-0.06
Cr DTPA (mg kg ⁻¹)	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.
Tl (mg kg ⁻¹)	-0.13	-0.07	-0.09	0.21	-0.55	-0.31	0.00	-0.31
Tl DTPA (mg kg ⁻¹)	-0.59	-0.60	-0.49	-0.24	-0.05	-0.53	-0.39	0.16
Ph-H ₂ O	-0.50	-0.48	-0.43	-0.06	-0.04	-0.55	-0.36	0.22
EC (μ S cm ⁻¹)	-0.42	-0.62	-0.20	-0.36	-0.39	0.12	-0.24	0.17
Carbonates (g kg ⁻¹)	-0.50	-0.61	-0.35	-0.29	-0.31	-0.08	-0.43	0.41
OC (%)	+0.38	+0.30	+0.46	0.20	-0.38	0.56	0.39	-0.50
Total N (%)	+0.48	+0.50	+0.35	-0.12	-0.17	0.65	0.25	-0.29

Table 4. Correlations between biodiversity markers for plant communities, ERI, pseudototal, bioavailability and other soil properties.

**Significant at the 0.01 level; *significant at the 0.05 level; n.d., not detectable



Cu concentrations in roots ranged from 15 to 70 mg kg⁻¹ with the highest accumulation in *S. latifolia*.

Zn shoot concentrations ranged from 23 to 69 mg kg⁻¹, with the maximum in *D. glomerata*. Zn shoot concentrations above the value of 31.5 mg kg⁻¹, recorded by Kabata-Pendias (2011) in plants grown in polluted soils, were reported for all the species except for *A. vulgaris*, *E. tetragonum*, *R. ulmifolius* and *B. nigra*. Zn concentration in the roots ranged from 13 to 97 mg kg⁻¹, with the maximum concentration observed for *E. tetragonum*.

Shoot Cd concentrations ranged from 0.2 to 9.4 mg kg⁻¹, with the maximum concentration in *A. annua*. All plant species except *A. vulgaris, D. viscosa and E. tetragonum* accumulated Cd above the threshold of 1.0 mg kg⁻¹ for forage (EU Reg. 1275/2013), suggesting a potential pollutant transfer to food chains in nearby areas by soil resuspension. Cd concentrations in roots ranged from 0.3 to 41.2 mg kg⁻¹, the maximum value occurring in *S. latifolia*.

Pb shoot concentrations ranged from 32 to 326 mg kg⁻¹, reaching a maximum in *D. glomerata*. All plant species accumulated Pb above legal PTE thresholds in plants (EU REG 1275/2013 30 mg

Table 5. Botanical characteristics of the species collected from thesite, analysis of frequency and abundance.

Species	Family	Frequency (%)
Holcus lanatus L. subsp. lanatus	Poaceae	77.8
Silene latifolia Poir.	Caryophyllacea	e 55.6
Elymus repens (L.) Gould subsp. repens	Poaceae	44.4
Epilobium tetragonum L. subsp. tetragonum	Onagraceae	44.4
Dactylis glomerata L. subsp. glomerata	Poaceae	33.3
Dittrichia viscosa (L.) Greuter subsp. viscosa	Asteraceae	33.3
Artemisia annua L.	Asteraceae	22.2
Artemisia vulgaris L.	Asteraceae	22.2
Cirsium arvense (L.) Scop.	Asteraceae	22.2
Rubus ulmifolius Schott	Rosaceae	22.2
Ballota nigra L. subsp. meridionalis (Bég.) Bég	. Lamiaceae	11.1
Sorghum halepense (L.) Pers.	Poaceae	11.1

Table 6. PTE concentrations (mg kg⁻¹ d.w.) in plants and rhizo-soils of the native species.

	ng uni) iii	piunto u	01	or the hat	ive species.		7873		777
Species		As	Cd	Cr	Cu	Pb	TI	Zn	ERI
Artemisia annua	Soils Shoots Roots	17.0 0.4 2.1	4.9 9.4 8.5	51.0 2.1 3.9	107 14 33	1428 106 321	1.70 0.10 0.60	148 40 38	472
Artemisia vulgaris	Soils Shoots Roots	15.0 0.3 0.4	0.7 0.4 0.4	37.0 1.6 1.8	67 9 15	208 33 17	1.70 0.04 0.30	121 23 18	111
Ballota nigra subsp. meridionalis	Soils Shoots Roots	86.0 0.6 0.1	55 5.9 20.0	65 2.5 1.7	187 35 28	21135 176 671	5.90 1.70 4.10	184 31 34	5057
Cirsium arvense	Soils Shoots Roots	22.0 0.1 0.3	21.9 3.8 7.6	47.0 3.8 1.8	572 24 39	4663 213 197	2.10 0.20 0.60	281 54 47	1880
Dactylis glomerata subsp. glomerata	Soils Shoots Roots	54.5 0.3 2.6	50.7 3.8 17.9	47.0 7.0 3.1	155 44 47	11795 323 590	2.30 0.30 0.90	164 69 53	4167
Dittrichia viscosa subsp. viscosa	Soils Shoots Roots	13.0 0.1 0.9	2.5 0.8 0.3	52.0 2.0 10.2	224 15 20	609 47 16	1.90 0.10 0.40	313 33 13	286
Elymus repens subsp. repens	Soils Shoots Roots	70.0 0.2 1.8	59.7 5.2 26.2	52.0 2.7 2.3	477 28 38	16085 283 1407	5.20 1.00 1.80	278 44 67	5102
Epilobium tetragonum tetragonum	Soils Shoots Roots	14.0 0.1 0.1	2.1 0.2 1.8	49.0 1.6 2.5	160 12 50	561 32 101	1.70 0.03 0.20	235 28 97	224
Holcus lanatus subsp. lanatus	Soils Shoots Roots	15.0 0.3 1.0	5.8 1.3 4.9	46.0 2.5 3.3	159 11 46	1707 70 358	1.50 0.10 0.40	208 33 71	553
Rubus ulmifolius	Soils Shoots Roots	479.0 0.1 0.2	225 2.0 3.6	62.0 2.5 2.6	490 14 32	69631 106 174	2.70 0.20 0.60	439 29 48	19,604
Silene latifolia	Soils Shoots Roots	159.0 0.9 20.7	175 7.7 41.2	67.0 2.9 3.1	460 56 70	49647 217 3404	9.40 102.50 44.00	437 41 81	14,873
Sorghum halepense	Soils Shoots Roots	54.0 0.4 0.1	81.7 1.0 2.2	47.0 2.4 2.8	276 16 36	20449 74 76	1.80 0.20 0.30	267 50 72	6739



kg⁻¹). This behaviour suggests, as for Cd, a potential Pb transfer to the food chain by dust lift. Root Pb concentration ranged from 16 to as high as 3404 mg kg⁻¹. The maximum root PTE content was reported in *S. latifolia*.

As concentrations in shoots ranged from 0.1 to 0.9 mg kg⁻¹. Despite the high concentrations of As in soils, no plant species accumulated As above the threshold for forage of 2.0 mg kg⁻¹ (EU Reg 1275/2013). Concentrations of As in plant roots ranged from 0.05 to 20.70 mg kg⁻¹. The highest concentration in shoots and roots was reported in *S. latifolia*.

Cr shoot concentrations ranged from 1.6 to 7.0 mg kg⁻¹, with a maximum concentration in *D. glomerata* while Cr root concentrations ranged from 1.65 to as high as 10.20 mg kg⁻¹, the maximum being found in the roots of *D. viscosa*.

Tl concentrations ranged from 0.03 to 102.54 mg kg⁻¹, with maximum concentrations observed in *S. latifolia*. Only *S. latifolia*, *E. repens* and *B. nigra* accumulated Tl above the concentrations of terrestrial plants according to Kabata-Pendias (2011) (0.51 mg kg⁻¹). Tl concentrations in the roots ranged from 0.21 to 43.99 mg kg⁻¹, the maximum occurring in *S. latifolia*.

Almost all collected species showed higher than normal PTE concentrations. These results indicate that the species were tolerant

to such metals in varying degrees. In particular, *S. latifolia* accumulated the highest concentration of As, Cd, Cu, Tl and Pb in its roots. This behaviour had already been observed in the *Silene* genus (Chaabani *et al.*, 2017; Wojcic *et al.*, 2017; Yildirim *et al.*, 2017) and some species ((*Silene vulgaris* (Moench) Garcke)) are perennial facultative metallophytes with high tolerance to multielement polluted soils (Schat *et al.*, 1996). Such characteristics, along with a wide range of adaptation (Sloan *et al.*, 2012), make this plant genus of great interest for phytoremediation purposes (Garcia-Gonzalo *et al.*, 2017). *D. glomerata* accumulated the highest concentration of Zn, Pb and Cr in its shoots, confirming the results of Swiercz *et al.* (2015) who reported a high concentration of the three elements in a two-cycle pot experiment.

None of the species showed metal concentrations that allow them to be defined as hyperaccumulators according to the concentration criteria (100 mg kg⁻¹ for Cd, Se and Tl; 300 mg kg⁻¹ for Co, Cu and Cr; 1000 mg kg⁻¹ for Ni, Pb and As; 3000 mg kg⁻¹ for Zn; and 10,000 mg kg⁻¹ for Mn) of Van der Ent *et al.* (2013) except for *Silene latifolia* which accumulated in its shoots Tl concentrations above 100 mg kg⁻¹. This result finds agreement with Escarrè *et al.* (2011). BAC_s, BAC_R and TF values are shown in Table 7. Data pertaining to the element As are not shown because none of the

Table 7. BAC_s, BAC_R and TF of native plant species.

Plant species		Cd	Cr	Cu	Pb	Tl	Zn
Artemisia annua	TF	1.10	0.54	0.42	0.33	0.23	<i>1.04</i>
	BACs	1.92	0.04	0.13	0.07	0.08	0.27
	BAC _R	1.74	0.08	0.30	0.22	0.36	0.26
Artemisia vulgaris	TF	0.89	0.89	0.59	1.95	0.12	<i>1.28</i>
	BAC _s	0.57	0.04	0.14	0.16	0.02	0.19
	BAC _r	0.64	0.05	0.23	0.08	0.19	0.15
Ballota nigra subsp. meridionalis	TF	0.30	1.47	<i>1.24</i>	0.26	0.41	0.91
	BACs	0.11	0.04	0.19	0.01	0.28	0.17
	BAC _r	0.36	0.03	0.15	0.03	0.69	0.19
Cirsium arvense	TF	0.50	2.11	0.62	<i>1.08</i>	0.33	<i>1.16</i>
	BAC _s	0.17	0.08	0.04	0.05	0.09	0.19
	BAC _r	0.35	0.04	0.07	0.04	0.28	0.17
Dactylis glomerata subsp. glomerata	TF	0.21	2.26	0.95	0.55	0.29	<i>1.30</i>
	BACs	0.07	0.15	0.29	0.03	0.12	0.42
	BAC _R	0.35	0.07	0.30	0.05	0.42	0.32
Dittrichia viscosa subsp. viscosa	TF	2.52	0.20	0.72	2.84	0.15	2.52
	BACs	0.33	0.04	0.07	0.08	0.03	0.11
	BAC _R	0.13	0.20	0.09	0.03	0.22	0.04
Elymus repens subsp. repens	TF	0.20	<i>1.14</i>	0.73	0.20	0.54	0.65
	BAC _s	0.09	0.05	0.06	0.02	0.19	0.16
	BAC _r	0.44	0.05	0.08	0.09	0.35	0.24
Epilobium tetragonum tetragonum	TF	0.10	0.64	0.24	0.31	0.14	0.29
	BACs	0.08	0.03	0.07	0.06	0.02	0.12
	BAC _r	0.84	0.05	0.31	0.18	0.12	0.41
Holcus lanatus subsp. lanatus	TF	0.26	0.76	0.23	0.20	0.24	0.47
	BAC _s	0.22	0.05	0.07	0.04	0.07	0.16
	BAC _r	0.85	0.07	0.29	0.21	0.29	0.34
Rubus ulmifolius	TF	0.56	0.98	0.42	0.61	0.40	0.61
	BACs	0.01	0.04	0.03	0.00	0.08	0.07
	BAC _r	0.02	0.04	0.07	0.00	0.21	0.11
Silene latifolia	TF	0.19	0.94	0.80	0.06	2.33	0.50
	BACs	0.04	0.04	0.12	0.00	10.90	0.09
	BAC _R	0.23	0.05	0.15	0.07	4.68	0.19
Sorghum halepense	TF	0.47	0.86	0.44	0.97	0.65	0.70
	BACs	0.01	0.05	0.06	0.00	0.12	0.19
	BAC _r	0.03	0.06	0.13	0.00	0.19	0.27
bioaccumulation coefficients reported values higher than one. As regards Cd, *A. annua* showed BAC_s, BAC_R and TF higher than 1, with a high concentration in the shoots. For Tl *S. latifolia* reported BAC_s, BAC_R and TF higher than 1, confirming the hyperaccumulator hypothesis of this plant species. According to our results, *S. latifolia* and *A. annua* have the potential to be used for phytoextraction of Cd and Tl, respectively. The modified bioaccumulation coefficient for the shoots (mBAC_s) and the modified bioaccumulation coefficient for the roots (mBAC_s) for each species were also calculated for Cd and Pb, the most hazardous elements (Table 8).

According to the values listed in Table 8, *D. viscosa* and *A. annua* for Cd, *A. vulgaris*, *D. viscosa* and *E. tetragonum* for Pb, reported the highest ability to accumulate the potential bioavailable fraction to their shoots (mBAC_s>1). Nevertheless, their use in phytoextraction is not recommended because of their low biomass produced. Indeed, for maximising the amount of PTE uptake per unit area, high biomass-yielding crops (such as *Arundo donax* L.) are preferred even if they show lower PTE concentrations (Fiorentino *et al.*, 2013; 2017).

Table 8. Soil DTPA, extracted Pb and Cd, mBACS and mBACR of native plant species.

Plant species		Cd	Pb
Artemisia annua	DTPA	3.6 (mg kg ⁻¹)	304.60 (mg kg ⁻¹)
	mBAC _s	2.61	0.35
	mBAC _r	2.36	<i>1.05</i>
Artemisia vulgaris	DTPA	0.6 (mg kg ⁻¹)	23.60 (mg kg ⁻¹)
	mBAC _s	0.63	<i>1.42</i>
	mBAC _r	0.71	0.73
Ballota nigra subsp. meridionalis	DTPA mBAC _s mBAC _r	60.8 (mg kg ⁻¹) 0.10 0.33	1660.00 (mg kg ⁻¹) 0.11 0.40
Cirsium arvense	DTPA	13.0 (mg kg ⁻¹)	852.00 (mg kg ⁻¹)
	mBAC _s	0.29	0.25
	mBAC _r	0.59	0.23
Dactylis glomerata subsp. glomerata	DTPA mBAC _s mBAC _r	25.5 (mg kg ⁻¹) 0.15 0.70	3103.40 (mg kg ⁻¹) 0.10 0.19
<i>Dittrichia viscosa</i> subsp. <i>viscosa</i>	DTPA mBAC _s mBAC _r	0.3 (mg kg ⁻¹) 3.03 1.20	31.46 (mg kg ⁻¹) <i>1.50</i> 0.53
<i>Elymus repens</i> subsp. <i>repens</i>	DTPA mBAC _s mBAC _r	143.2 (mg kg ⁻¹) 0.04 0.18	6598.00 (mg kg ⁻¹) 0.04 0.21
Epilobium	DTPA	1.2 (mg kg ⁻¹)	26.60 (mg kg ⁻¹)
tetragonum	mBAC _s	0.14	<i>1.19</i>
tetragonum	mBAC _r	<i>1.41</i>	<i>3.79</i>
<i>Holcus lanatus</i> subsp. <i>lanatus</i>	DTPA	3.1 (mg kg ⁻¹)	382.20 (mg kg ⁻¹)
	mBAC _s	0.40	0.18
	mBAC _r	<i>1.56</i>	0.94
Rubus ulmifolius	DTPA	42.6 (mg kg ⁻¹)	2576.00 (mg kg ⁻¹)
	mBAC _s	0.05	0.04
	mBAC _r	<i>0.08</i>	<i>0.07</i>
Silene latifolia	DTPA	46.8 (mg kg ⁻¹)	1754.00 (mg kg ⁻¹)
	mBAC _s	0.16	0.12
	mBAC _r	0.88	<i>1.94</i>
Sorghum halepense	DTPA	1.2 (mg kg ⁻¹)	117.60 (mg kg ⁻¹)
	mBAC _s	0.88	0.63
	mBAC _r	<i>1.88</i>	0.65



D. viscosa, E. tetragonum, S. halepense, A. annua and H. lanatus were efficient at accumulating bioavailable Cd in roots (mBAC_R>1), while *E. tetragonum*, *A. annua* and *S. latifolia* accumulated Pb efficiently in roots (mBAC_R >1). The high accumulation efficiency of Cd on the part of D. viscosa was also reported by Barbafieri et al. (2011) in a mining area. Instead, E. tetragonum was also native of an industrial area (Moreira et al., 2011) where showed a high Zn accumulation. H. lanatus displayed the potential for phytoremediation of a mining area (Favas and Pratas, 2015) while S. halepense was studied previously in a battery recycling site (Salazar et al. 2014) where it showed good Pb phytostabilization capacity. S. latifolia was only found spontaneously growing in a mining area by Escarrè et al. (2011) with a high accumulation of Tl in its shoots. Thus the above species may be considered suitable for Cd and Pb phytostabilization protocols aimed at revegetating the area, stabilizing the soil with their root systems. In addition, they can act as a barrier limiting wind erosion and the consequent dispersion of contaminated soil particles in the environment.

Conclusions

The composition of native vegetation can give interesting information about the distribution of contamination and of the consequent ecological risks in contaminated industrial sites. Our findings indicate that plant species diversity is negatively affected by PTE contents. *Poaceae* and *Asteraceae* species were more tolerant to contamination, while *Fabaceae* and other families were strongly affected by the very high levels of PTEs. Calculation of the ecological risk index afforded insights into the impact of contaminants on ecosystems, highlighting the fact that cadmium is more hazardous than lead despite its lower concentrations due to its higher toxicity for the biosphere.

Comparing PTE contents in plant biomass with thresholds fixed for forage crops can provide useful indications on potential PTE transfer in the food chain. Analyses of Cd and Pb accumulation in plants, above the threshold for forage, confirmed their hazardousness, suggesting that there might be a potential transfer of pollutants to the food chain through the dispersion and fallout of contaminated soil particles in surrounding farmland, thus reinforcing the need of a barrier to reduce contaminant mobility.

In addition, both analysis of PTE concentrations in plants and calculation of bioaccumulation and translocation factors allowed species suitability for PTE phytoextraction or phytostabilization to be determined. *Silene latifolia* was identified as a hyperaccumulator of Tl. *Holcus lanatus* subsp. *lanatus* and *S. latifolia* were the most frequent species on the site and also proved well adapted to the site-specific conditions, growing in areas with the highest ERI. The above two species also proved the most suitable for phytostabilization respectively of Cd and Pb, accumulating the two elements in their roots. They could therefore be used in association to increase soil cover during the summer in order to avoid generally more intense wind erosion during the dry season.

References

Andreucci F, Barbato R, Massa N, Berta G, 2006. Phytosociological, phenological and photosynthetic analyses of the vegetation of a highly polluted site. Plant Biosyst. 140:176-89.





- Antoniadis V, Levizou E, Shaheen SM, Ok YS, Sebastian A, Baum C, Prasad MNV Wenzel WW, Rinklebe J, 2017. Trace elements in the soil-plant interface: Phytoavailability, translocation, and phytoremediation-A review. Earth Sci. Rev. 171:621-45.
- ATSDR, 2015. Agency for Toxic Substances & Disease Registry United States Department of Health and Human Services, Priority List of Hazardous Substances. Available from: www.atsdr.cdc.gov/spl/resources/atsdr_2015_spl_detailed_dat a_table.pdf
- Baker AJM, Brooks RR, 1989. Terrestrial higher plants which hyperaccumulate metallic elements. A review of their distribution, ecology and phytochemistry. Biorecovery 1:81-126.
- Barbafieri M, Dadea C, Tassi E, Bretzel F, Fanfani L, 2011. Uptake of Heavy Metals by Native Species Growing in a Mining Area in Sardinia, Italy: Discovering Native Flora for Phytoremediation. Int. J. Phytoremed. 13:985-97.
- Bartolucci F, Peruzzi L, 2018. An updated checklist of the vascular flora native to Italy. Plant Biosyst. 152:179-303.
- Bes CM, Mench M, Maurice A, Gaste H, Taberly J, 2010. Spatial variation of plant communities and shoot Cu concentrations of plant species at a timber treatment site. Plant Soil 330:267-80.
- Chaabani S, Abdelmalek-Babbou C, Ahmed HB, Chaabani A, Sebei A, 2017. Phytoremediation assessment of native plants growing on Pb-Zn mine site in Northern Tunisia. Environ. Earth Sci. 76:585.
- Chowdhury A, Maiti SK, 2016. Identification of metal tolerant plant species in mangrove ecosystem by using community study and multivariate analysis: a case study from Indian Sunderban. Environ. Earth Sci. 75:744.
- Cicchella D, De Vivo B, Lima A, Albanese S, Fedele L, 2008. Urban geochemical mapping in the Campania region (Italy). Geochem. Explor. Environ. Anal. 8:19-29.
- Costa M, Klein CB, 2006. Toxicity and carcinogenicity of chromium compounds in humans. Crit. Rev. Toxicol. 36:155-63.
- Desjardins D, Nissim WG, Frédéric EP, Naud A, Labrecque M, 2014. Distribution patterns of spontaneous vegetation and pollution at a former decantation basin in southern Québec, Canada. Ecol. Eng. 64:385-90.
- Dyguś HK, 2013. Vegetation of industrial waste landfills within the agglomeration of the capital city of Warsaw. J. Ecol. Eng. 14:22-32.
- Duri LG, Fiorentino N, Cozzolino E, Ottaiano L, Agrelli D, Fagnano M, 2018. Bioassays for evaluation of sanitary risks from food crops cultivated in potentially contaminated sites. Ital. J. Agron. 13(s1):45-52.
- Escarrè J, Lefèbvre C, Raboyeau S, Dossantos A, Gruber W, Cleyet Marel JC, Frérot H, Noret N, Mahieu S, Collin C, Van Oort F, 2011. Heavy Metal Concentration Survey in Soils and Plants of the Les Malines Mining District (Southern France):Implications for Soil. Rest. Water Air Soil Pollut. 216:485-504.
- Fagnano M (ed.), 2017. Operative Handbook for eco-compatible remediation of degraded soils. Available from: http://www.ecoremed.it
- Favas PJC, Pratas J, 2015. Metal(loid) uptake by spontaneous vegetation in mine tailings and contaminated soil: implications for environmental remediation. Proc. 15th International Multidisciplinary Scientific Geoconference (SGEM), Albena, Bulgaria. Ecology, Economics, Education and Legislation 1:521-6.
- Fiorentino N, Fagnano M, Adamo P, Impagliazzo A, Mori M, Pepe O, Ventorino V, Zoina A, 2013. Assisted phytoextraction of heavy metals: compost and Trichoderma effects on giant reed

uptake and soil quality. Ital. J. Agron. 8:244-54.

- Fiorentino N, Ventorino V, Rocco C, Cenvinzo V, Agrelli D, Gioia L, Di Mola I, Adamo P, Pepe O, Fagnano M, 2017. Giant reed growth and soil biological fertility in assisted phytoremediation of an industrial polluted soil. Sci. Total Environ. 575:1375-83.
- Furini A, 2012. Plants and heavy metals. Springer Briefs in Molecular Science, Berlin.
- Galasso G, Bartolucci F, 2018. An updated checklist of the vascular flora alien to Italy. Plant Biosyst. 152:556-92.
- Garcia-Gonzalo P, Pradas del Real AE, Lobo MC, Pérez-Sanz A, 2017. Different genotypes of Silene vulgaris (Moench) Garcke grown on chromium-contaminated soils influence root organic acid composition and rhizosphere bacterial communities. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 24:25713-24.
- Gawronski SW, Gawronska H, 2007. Plant taxonomy for phytoremediation. In: Marmiroli N, Samotokin B, Marmiroli MA. Advanced science and technology for biological decontamination of sites affected by chemical and radiological nuclear agents. NATO Science Series IV-Earth and Environmental Sciences, pp 75-79.
- Goering PL, Waalkes MP, Klaassen CD, 1994. Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology, RA Goyer and MG Cherian (eds.), Vol. 115, Springer, New York, p.189.
- Grall J, Coic N, 2006. Synthese des methodes d'evaluation de la qualite du benthos en milieu cotier. DYNECO/VIGIES/06-13/REBENT. Available from: www.rebent.it
- Hakanson L, 1980. An ecological risk index for aquatic pollution control. A sedimentological approach. Water. Res. 14:975-1001.
- Hamon RE, McLaughlin JM, 1999. Use of the hyperaccumulator Thlaspi caerulescens for bioavailable contaminant stripping.
 In: Wenzel WW, Adriano D, Alloway B, Doner H, Keller C, Lepp N, Mench M, Naidu R, Pierzynski G, editors. Proc 5th Int. Conf. Biogeochem. Trace Elements-ICOBTE. Vienna (Austria): ISTEB. pp. 908-909.
- Hernandez AJ, Pastor J, 2008. Relationship between plant biodiversity and heavy metal bioavailability in grasslands overlying an abandoned mine. Environ. Geochem. Health. 30:127-33.
- Jiang X, Lu WX, Zhao HQ, Yang QC, Yang ZP, 2014. Potential ecological risk assessment and prediction of soil heavy-metal pollution around coal gangue dump. Nat. Hazards Earth Syst. Sci. 14:1599-610.
- Kabata-Pendias A, 2011. Trace elements in soils and plants. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press Inc.
- Kaddour K, Smail M, Hocine B, Bouzaza A, El Hacen B, 2017. Assessment of heavy metal pollution due to the lead-zinc mine at the ain azel area (northeast of Algeria). J. Environ. Res. Manage. 8:1-11.
- Koptsik S, Koptsik G, Livantsova S, Eruslankina L, Zhmelkova T, Vologdina Z, 2003. Heavy metals in soils near the nickel smelter: Chemistry, spatial variation and impacts on plant diversity. J. Environ. Monit. 5:441-50.
- Lindsay WL, Norvell WA, 1978. Development of a DTPA soil test for zinc, iron, manganese, and copper. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 42:421–8.
- Kramer U, 2005. Phytoremediation: novel approaches to cleaning up polluted soils. Curr. Opin. Biotech. 16:133-41.
- Liu Y, Wang Q, Zhuang W, Yuan Y, Yuan Y, Jiao K, Wang M, Chen Q, 2018. Calculation of Thallium's toxicity coefficient in the evaluation of potential ecological risk index: A case study. Chemosphere 194:562-9.
- Loeppert RH, Suarez DL, 1996. Carbonate and gypsum. 437–475. In: Sparks DL (ed.), Methods of soil analysis: Part 3-Chemical



methods. SSSA Book Ser. No. 5. SSSA and ASA, Madison, WI, USA.

- Magurran AE, 1988. Ecological Diversity and its Measurement. Princeton, Princeton University Press: 179.
- Mansfield MR, Pope NS, Mittelhauser GH, Rajakaruna N, 2014. Diversity and soil-tissue elemental relations of vascular plants of callahan mine, brooksville, maine, USA. Rhodora 116:283-322.
- Massa N, Andreucci F, Poli M, Aceto M, Barbato R, Berta G, 2010. Screening for heavy metal accumulators amongst autochtonous plants in a polluted site in Italy. Ecotox. Environ. Safety 73:1988-97.
- Meharg A, 2005. Mechanisms of plant resistance to metal and metalloid ions and potential biotechnological applications. Plant Soil 274: 163–174.
- Moreira H, Marques APGC, Rangel AOSS, Castro MLP, 2011. Heavy Metal Accumulation in Plant Species Indigenous to a Contaminated Portuguese Site: Prospects for Phytoremediation. Water Air Soil Pollut. 221:377.
- Mukhopadhyay S, Rana V, Kumar A, Maiti SK, 2017. Biodiversity variability and metal accumulation strategies in plants spontaneously inhibiting fly ash lagoon, India. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 24:22990-3005.
- Nguemte PM, Gregoire NESIIN, Wafo GVD, Djocgoue PF, Noumsi IMK, Ngnien AW, 2018. Floristic surveys of hydrocarbon-polluted sites in some Cameroonian cities (Central Africa). Int. J. Phytorem. 20:191-204.
- Ogunkunle CO, Fatoba PO. 2013. Pollution Loads and the Ecological Risk Assessment of Soil Heavy Metals around a Mega Cement Factory in Southwest Nigeria. Pol. J. Environ. Stud. 22:487-93.
- Petruzzelli G, Pedron F, Barbafieri M, Tassi E, Gorini F, Rosellini I, 2011. Enhanced Bioavailable Contaminant Stripping: a Case Study of Hg Contaminated Soil. Chem. Engin. Trans. 28:211-6.
- Pignatti S, 1982. Flora d'Italia 1-3. Edagricole, Bologna.
- Pignatti S, Guarino R, La Rosa M, 2017. Flora d'Italia 1-3. Edagricole, Bologna.
- Putwattana N, Kruatrachue M, Kumsopa A, Pokethitiyook P, 2015. Evaluation of organic and inorganic amendments on maize growth and uptake of Cd and Zn from contaminated paddy soils. Int. J. Phytorem. 17:165-74.
- Raskin L, Ensley BD, 1999. Phytoremediation of Toxic Metals: Using Plants to Clean Up the Environment. John Wiley & Sons, Inc, New York.
- Rehman I, Ishaqa M, Alib L, Khanc S, Ahmada I, Dinb UI, Ullaha H, 2018. Enrichment, spatial distribution of potential ecological and human health risk assessment via toxic metals in soil and surface water ingestion in the vicinity of Sewakht mines, district Chitral, Northern Pakistan. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Safe. 154:127-36.
- Risk-net, 2011. Software for Risk analysis of contaminated sites. Available from: http://www.reconnet.net
- Salas-Luévano MA, Mauricio-Castillo JA, González-Rivera ML, Vega-Carrillo HR, Salas-Muñoz S, 2017. Accumulation and phytostabilization of As, Pb and Cd in plants growing inside mine tailings reforested in Zacatecas, Mexico. Environ. Earth Sci. 76:806.
- Salazar MJ, Pignata ML, 2014. Lead accumulation in plants grown in polluted soils. Screening of native species for phytoremediation. J. Geochem. Explor. 137:29-36.
- Schat H, Vooijs R, Kuiper E, 1996. Identical major gene loci for heavy metal tolerances that have independently evolved in different local populations and subspecies of Silene vulgaris.

Evolution 50:1888-95.

- Shu WS, Ye ZH, Zhang ZQ, Lan CY, Wong MH, 2005. Natural colonization of plants on five lead/zinc mine tailings in Southern China. Restor. Ecol. 13:49-60.
- Sloan DB, Keller SR, Berardi AE, Sanderson BJ, Karpovich JF, Taylor DR, 2012. De novo transcriptome assembly and polymorphism detection in the flowering plant Silene vulgaris (Caryophyllaceae). Mol. Ecol. Resour. 12:333-43.
- Stefanska-Krzaczek E, 2012. Species diversity across the successional gradient of managed Scots pine stands in oligotrophic sites (SW Poland). JFS 58:345-56.
- Swiercz A, Smorzewska E, Słomkiewicz P, Suchanek G. 2015. Possible use of halloysite in phytoremediation of soils contaminated with heavy metals. J. Elem. 21:559-70.
- Sytar O, Kumar A, Latowski D, Kuczynska P, Strzałka K, Prasad MNV, 2013. Heavy metal-induced oxidative damage, defense reactions, and detoxification mechanisms in plants. Acta Physiol. Plant 35:985-99.
- Tutin TG, Heywood VH, Burges NA, Valentine DH, Walters SM, Webb DA (Eds.), 1964 and 1980. Flora Europaea 1-5. Cambridge University Press.
- Tutin TG, Burges NA, Chater AO, Edmondson JR, Heywood VH, Moore DM, Valentine DH, Walters SM, Webb DA (Eds.), 1993. Flora Europaea 1, second ed. Cambridge University Press.
- USEPA, 1989. Risk Assessment Guidance for Superfund, Human Health Evaluation Manual Part A; Office of Emergency and Remedial Response: Washington, DC, USA. Volume 1.
- Van der Ent A, Baker AJM, Reeves RDA., Pollard AJ, Schatet H, 2013. Hyperaccumulators of metal and metalloid trace elements: Facts and fiction. Plant Soil 362:319-34.
- Vangronsveld J, Colpaert JV, Van Tichelen KK, 1996. Reclamation of a bare industrial area contaminated by nonferrous metals: physicochemical and biological evaluation of the durability of soil treatment and revegetation. Environ. Pollut. 94:131-40.
- Vidali M, 2001. Bioremediation. An overview. Pure Appl. Chem. 73:1163-72.
- Vidic T, Jogan N, Drobne D, Vilhar B, 2006. Natural revegetation in the vicinity of the former lead smelter in Zerjav, Slovenia. Environ. Sci. Technol. 40:4119-25.
- Walkley A, Black IA, 1934. An examination of Degtjareff method for determining soil organic matter and a proposed modification of the chromic acid titration method. Soil Sci. 37:29-37.
- Wang YB, Liu DY, Zhang L, Li Y, Chu L, 2004. Patterns of vegetation succession in the process of ecological restoration on the deserted land of Shizishan copper tailings in Tongling city. Acta Bot. Sin. 46:780-7.
- Weiersbye IM, Witkowski ETF, Reichardt M. 2006. Floristic composition of gold and uranium tailings dams, and adjacent polluted areas, on South Africa's deep-level mines. Bothalia 36:101-27.
- Wojcik M, Sugier P, Siebielec G, 2014. Metal accumulation strategies in plants spontaneously inhabiting Zn-Pb waste deposits. Sci. Total Environ. 487:313-22.
- Wojcik M, CristinaGonnelli C, Selvi F, Dresler S, Rostański A, Vangronsveld J. 2017. Chapter One - Metallophytes of Serpentine and Calamine Soils - Their Unique Ecophysiology and Potential for Phytoremediation. Adv. Bot. Res. 83:1-42.
- Yildirim D, Sasmaz A. 2017. Phytoremediation of As, Ag, and Pb in contaminated soils using terrestrial plants grown on Gumuskoy mining area (Kutahya Turkey). J. Geochem. Explor. 182:228-34.



Zhao XM, Yao LA, Ma QL, Zhou GJ, Wang L, Fang QL, Xu ZC,

2018. Distribution and ecological risk assessment of cadmium in water and sediment in Longjiang River, China: Implication on water quality management after pollution accident. Chemosphere 194:107-16.



Assisted phytoremediation for restoring soil fertility in contaminated and degraded land

Nunzio Fiorentino, Mauro Mori, Vincenzo Cenvinzo, Luigi Giuseppe Duri, Laura Gioia, Donato Visconti, Massimo Fagnano

Department of Agricultural Sciences, University of Naples Federico II, Portici (NA), Italy

Abstract

The results of experiments carried out in the National Interest Priority Site (NIPS) Agro Aversano-Litorale Domizio in Campania (southern Italy) within the framework of the project ECOREMED (LIFE11 ENV/IT/275) are used as a basis for reporting the main threats to soil fertility. In this paper we focus on soil degradation and contamination due to illegal waste disposal and burning, widespread phenomena in the NIPS in question, evaluating different options for soil remediation with agriculturebased techniques in light of their impact on the ecosystem services of soils. Bioremediation and assisted phytoremediation are recognized as the best options for protecting human health and enhancing environmental quality, maintaining agricultural soil functions with the application of relatively low-cost protocols.

The purpose of agriculture-based remediation techniques is threefold: i) make the area in question safe, interrupting exposure to contaminant pathways through ecological structures such as dense reed plantations or dense turfgrass combined with high-density tree rows for reducing ground wind speed; ii) remediation, aiming to reduce the bioavailable fraction of potentially toxic elements (PTEs); iii) environmental restoration, to improve environment and landscape quality of degraded, but not contaminated land. The technical steps for carrying out phytoremediation projects and the results of their application are described for the following case studies monitored in Campania: i) agricultural soil contaminated by bioavailable Cd (San Giuseppiello site in Giugliano); ii) industrial soil heavily contaminated by Pb and Cd (Ecobat site in Marcianise); iii) agricultural soils potentially contaminated by non-bioavailable PTEs and organic pollutants (Giugliano and Trentola-Ducenta sites); iv) physically degraded soil (Teverola site). In all the case studies phytoremediation proved a low-cost tool to reduce risks for human health and enhance environmental

Correspondence: Nunzio Fiorentino, Department of Agricultural Sciences, University of Naples Federico II, via Università 100, 80055 Portici (NA), Italy.

E-mail: nunzio.fiorentino@unina.it

Key words: Soil restoration; ecosystem services; soil resource; risk analysis; landscape preservation.

©Copyright N. Fiorentino et al., 2018 Licensee PAGEPress, Italy Italian Journal of Agronomy 2018; 13(s1):34-44

This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Noncommercial License (by-nc 4.0) which permits any noncommercial use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited. quality, whilst maintaining soil fertility and improving ecosystem services.

Introduction

Soil fertility

Soil plays a pivotal role in regulating natural and socio-economic processes for sustaining human survival. It is a critical component of food and water safety that represents the main current and future challenge of balancing human activities against protection of the environment (Hatfield et al., 2017). Soils are a biodiverse pool of habitats, flora and fauna species and genes, as well as an archive of geological and archaeological heritage (European Commission, 2006). The ability to perform such functions is referred to as *soil fertility*, recognized as the interrelation between: i) chemical properties such as the availability of microand macro-nutrients and organic matter (SOM) content, pH, salinity, cation exchange capacity (CEC); ii) physical properties, or the stability and dimension of soil aggregates originating from the interaction between mineral and organic soil components, that are strongly related to soil porosity, air content and water retention; iii) biological properties, or the balanced interaction between micro-macro biota living in the soil. These three aspects are closely interrelated. Therefore their balance is responsible for soil fertility in its entirety. By way of example, in a highly unstructured soil (poor physical fertility) with low oxygen availability due to the soil's high micro-porosity, the activity of aerobic N cycling bacteria is severely limited as well as the availability of this macronutrient for crops. Therefore, low oxygen availability can limit root growth and reduce soil colonization by vegetation.

Soil organic matter is the main pillar of soil fertility (Doran and Parkin, 1994), as its content is linked with numerous soil functions (Franzluebbers, 2002), namely nutrient retention, organic C storage, soil aggregation and microbial diversity and growth (Murphy, 2015). In degraded soils (*i.e.* poor fertility, low organic matter content and compacted), the microbial equilibrium is broken with a severe reduction in biodiversity (Singh, 2003) and a significant increase in pathogenic or parasitic rather than beneficial organisms (Abawi and Widmer, 2000). Therefore soil management with a view to increasing its organic C content is pivotal to enhancing crop productivity and all the above aspects of soil fertility.

Among agronomic practices, tillage has the greatest impact on SOC decline, since it increases residues and OM oxidative degradation and disrupts soil structure (Holland, 2004). The loss of SOC reduces air/water movements and physical fertility (high bulk density, penetration resistance and low porosity) as well as chemical fertility (high denitrification, low cation and anion exchange capacity and availability of N, P, and S). Consequently,





low quantity and quality of SOM induce a progressive depletion in microbial biodiversity (Fierer *et al.*, 2009). At global scale, soil is a source or sink of OC, contributing to CO_2 emissions and sequestration balance (Jones *et al.*, 2005; Schils *et al.*, 2008). The most effective strategies to optimize SOC sequestration are to reduce soil disturbance (*i.e.* conservative tillage) and the increase in C inputs through cover crops and organic fertilization (*i.e.* compost) (Alluvione *et al.*, 2013). Furthermore, SOC makes soil more resilient and resistant to soil against compaction, erosion and biodiversity loss and limits pollution diffusion through chelation and adsorption of potentially toxic compounds.

Soil degradation

Soil degradation involves the partial or total impairment of soil ecosystem functions. Complex interactions between natural factors (*e.g.* soil, climate, vegetation cover, topography) and anthropogenic processes (*e.g.* urbanization, land management, overgrazing) are involved in soil degradation. The European Union has acknowledged ten threats to soil functions: i) water and wind erosion; ii) decline in organic matter; iii) contamination; iv) sealing; v) compaction; vi) soil biodiversity loss; vii) salinization; viii) floods and landslides; ix) desertification; x) acidification (JRC, 2011; European Commission, 2006a; 2006b; 2012). In Italy, the most vulnerable soils are located in Southern coastal and upland areas, in the main islands and in some plain areas of Northern Italy with high population density (Costantini *et al.*, 2009; Salvati *et al.*, 2011).

After soil sealing, *soil erosion* and mass movements are the most widespread causes of land degradation in Europe: about 13% of arable land is subjected to unsustainable soil losses (>5 t $ha^{-1}yr^{-1}$) (Panagos *et al.*, 2015). What has most impact on land degradation is the action of water rather than wind (JRC, 2011). Human activities involving mismanagement and intensive cultivation of soils, deforestation, overgrazing and urbanization exacerbate soil erosion. Low or absent vegetation cover and crop residues expose soil to the direct impact of rainfall and consequent water run-off (García-Ruiz, 2010). Tillage strongly affects the detachment processes of soil, having both direct and indirect effects on its properties (Holland, 2004), such that soil losses in the Mediterranean are mainly concentrated from August to October, just after the soil has been tilled (Diodato *et al.*, 2009; Fagnano *et al.*, 2012).

Compaction affects around 36% of European soils (JRC, 2011), with a similar percentage of Italian soils being affected, especially in hills and lowland areas with their fine soil texture and low organic carbon content (APAT, 2017). In agriculture, most soil compaction is caused by farm machinery, soil tillage and livestock (Hamza and Anderson, 2005). Severe soil compaction by heavy machinery can also occur in temporary disposal sites or in construction sites, leading to a substantial reduction in infiltration rates from 70 to 99% (Gregory *et al.*, 2006). Compacted soils show high bulk density and low porosity that decrease air permeability and hydraulic conductivity, thus altering biogeochemical patterns (Pagliai *et al.*, 2000). Plant growth and yield are affected by limited root development, elongation and accessibility of nutrients (Pagliai *et al.*, 2000).

The accumulation of water-soluble salts in soil, known as *salinization*, affects around 3 million ha of European soils, mainly situated in arid areas of the Mediterranean (JRC, 2011). One of the main causes of salinization is the unsustainable use of groundwater resources leading to salt water intrusion in coastal lowlands (Salvati *et al.*, 2011). Further, inappropriate irrigation practices, such as use of brackish water or insufficient drainage, can contribute to the accumulation of salts in soil. Such phenomena are

likely to be aggravated in the future as a result of increased evapotranspiration and water demand due to climate change (Costantini and Lorenzetti, 2013). The increase in salt content of soil circulating solution has adverse effects on soil structural stability, bulk density and permeability, facilitating surface crust formation (Tejada and Gonzalez, 2005). In addition, salinization can inhibit plant growth, influencing water availability, gas exchange, photosynthesis and protein synthesis (Maggio *et al.*, 2011).

Contamination consists in the external input of xenobiotics such as inorganic/organic potentially toxic compounds that are not present in natural soils of a specific area and that could represent a risk for human and ecosystem health (Fagnano, 2018). In Europe, there are estimated to be about 2.5 million potentially contaminated sites (i.e. sites where there is evidence of polluting activities but where detailed information and assessment is lacking), about 14% of which (340,000 sites) are contaminated and need remediation measures. Disposal and treatment of waste, whether municipal or industrial, as well as industrial and commercial activities, are responsible for two thirds of local contamination mainly due to potentially toxic elements (35%), mineral oils (24%) and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (11%) (Van Liedekerke et al., 2014). Effects of these contaminants on animal and human health and on the environment depend on many factors such as chemical properties and form, bioavailability and toxicity, potential for dispersion, and solubility in water or fat. As potentially toxic elements (PTEs) are neither biologically nor chemically degraded, they are longlasting and accumulate in soil (Bolan et al., 2014). However, soils are the last repository for most hydrophobic organic contaminants from environmental matrices, such as hydrocarbons and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), which are rapidly absorbed on particles and organic matter (Latimer and Zheng, 2003). In agricultural areas, PTEs may be taken up by plants and consequently transferred to human beings through the food chain (Kidd et al., 2015). In residential and industrial areas, the risks are mostly ascribed to erosion and air-borne dispersion of polluted soil particles that can be transferred to humans through ingestion, inhalation and dermal contact (Heal et al., 2012), as well as to pollutant leaching into the groundwater (Prasanna et al., 2011).

Agronomic approaches to mitigating soil degradation

The cultivation of perennial crops on degraded Mediterranean farmland is a promising solution to restore soil fertility and improve soil ecosystem services. Such a practice would reduce soil tillage, increase soil cover and result in the consequent litter effect. Among perennial crops, biomass species, such as feedstock for bioenergy or bio-based products, could also increase farm income, thus helping to reduce abandonment and depopulation of inland hill areas (Fagnano et al., 2015; Bonfante et al., 2017; Impagliazzo et al., 2017). The environmentally safe use of such biomasses even in the event of their contamination by PTEs has been proved by using pyrolysis (Giudicianni et al., 2017a, b). Bioenergy crop cultivation on good quality agricultural soil, that could be used for food production, is generating land-use conflict. Such negative effects could be limited by growing non-food bioenergy perennial crops on marginal or degraded land, unsuitable and often economically unattractive for agricultural food production. If appropriately managed, perennial biomass crops minimise greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions (Smith and Olesen, 2010) without depleting soil nutrients, water supplies, or negatively impacting biological and landscape diversity (Forte et al., 2015; Zucaro et al., 2015). Deep dense root systems and permanent vegetative cover allow a reduction in runoff and soil erosion (Fagnano et al., 2015; Fernando et al., 2015). Low soil disturbance due to the reduced need for tillage



and agricultural practices decreases soil compaction, thus providing benefits to soil structure, porosity and biodiversity, that is considered as pillars of soil ecosystem functions (Brussaard, 2007). Consequently, the cultivation of perennial crops enhances organic matter content, thus extending nutrient storage and availability, as well as the capacity to chelate and filter contaminants, thereby reducing their diffusion (Pardo *et al.*, 2014; Barbosa *et al.*, 2015; Arco-Lazaro *et al.*, 2017). However, compared with degraded land, where the vegetation cover is often low and sparse, perennial crop cover may have a strong positive impact on aesthetic landscape values, also reducing the risk of inappropriate use. In addition, by producing bioenergy from degraded and marginal land such crops can contribute to supporting social and economic development of the local farming community through the use of land with little or no previous productivity (Bonfante *et al.*, 2017).

Phytoremediation

Protocols for reducing contaminant levels in soils include chemical and physical treatments with a very high efficiency, always associated with high soil disturbance. This means that conventionally remediated soils present a significant reduction in contaminants, balanced by severe drawbacks regarding physical, chemical and biological fertility (Gil-Díaz *et al.*, 2016). In addition, physical and chemical treatments can prove costly and hence may not be applicable at a large scale (Gil-Díaz *et al.*, 2016). This is why the most frequently adopted strategy for remediating soil consists in soil excavation and consequent disposal.

In a substantial proportion of cases, landscape degradation and reduction in chemical and physical fertility are the main constraints affecting agroecosystem productivity. In such cases, rather than a reduction in total contaminant levels, the pathways of contaminant exposure have to be blocked off, thereby reducing risks for human health and the environment potentially resulting from their dispersion towards other environmental compartments (i.e. air and groundwater) (Kuppusamy et al., 2017). Phytoremediation consists of a pool of agricultural techniques aimed at reducing the concentration or the risk related to the presence of organic and inorganic contaminants by using plants and soil fertilization (or amendment) (Greipsson, 2011; Ali et al., 2013). In a broader perspective phytoremediation may have the following aims (Vangronsveld et al., 2009): i) metal accumulation in plant tissues (phytoextraction); ii) risk management: gentle soil remediation, phytostabilization and/or making the site safe; iii) increase in soil fertility and improvement in its ecosystem services.

Phytoextraction serves to increase accumulation of PTEs in easily harvestable crops in order to concentrate metals in biomass to be disposed of or used in other chemical conversion processes.

The main PTE sinks are trunks, culms and leaves (Halim *et al.*, 2003) and in some cases also belowground organs such as rhizomes (Fiorentino *et al.*, 2017).

PTE uptake can be significantly increased by selecting appropriate species and enhancing PTE transfer to plant tissues with specific cropping techniques. This process can significantly reduce the bioavailable fraction of PTEs to values below the risk thresholds. The most suitable species for phytoextraction may have several of the following characteristics (Alkorta *et al.*, 2004): i) tolerance to high PTE content; ii) PTE accumulation in easily harvestable organs; iii) fast-growing biomass; iv) high biomass yield; v) high root growth; vi) easy cropping management; vii) genetically stable attributes; viii) biomass useful for energy production or *green* chemistry; ix) not appreciated by grazing animals.

Short rotation forestry (SRF) crops (*e.g.* poplar, eucalyptus, willow) fit perfectly with the above-mentioned attributes, proving to be appropriate for both reclaiming soils and producing biomass (Abhilash *et al.*, 2012). SFR-based phytoremediation allows high productivity of (potentially) polluted areas to be maintained, lowering soil PTE content below the thresholds of risk without any detrimental effect on soil fertility. Indeed, perennial crop cultivation minimises soil disturbance (no tillage), favouring C storage in the soil with the conversion of crop residues (*e.g.* litter) and root exudates into soil organic matter (SOM).

Another tool consists in using *Brassicaceae* species (*e.g. Brassica juncea* L., known as Indian mustard). These herbaceous crops are known to be hyperaccumulators of several PTEs, meaning that PTE content in their tissues is usually several orders of magnitude higher than in other plants. Finally, there are some lignocellulosic herbaceous crops for biomass production, such as *Arundo donax* L (giant reed) with a preferential allocation of PTEs in rhizomes suitable for harvest at the end of the phytoremediation programme with a significant removal of PTEs from the soil-root layer. A short list of some crops which may be used for phytoextraction is provided in Table 1.

Phytostabilization is the use of plants to reduce PTE bioavailability and mobility in the secondary source of pollution (contaminated soil) (Sylvain *et al.*, 2016) and limit exposure for residents or workers who frequent a site. Another well-recognized mechanism of phytostabilization is the reduction of bioavailable PTEs in the vadose zone through root compartmentalization and metal precipitation (Bolan *et al.*, 2011). This process has the key role of protecting groundwater from contamination (Barbosa *et al.*, 2015; Palladino *et al.*, 2018). In addition, there are reduction/precipitation mechanisms that inactivate the toxicity of metals in the root layer, thus limiting their availability (Mahar *et al.*, 2016). Phytostabilization may also be used to limit dust lifting which may

Tabl	e 1.	Tree a	and	herbaceous	crops	suitable	for p	hytoextraction
------	------	--------	-----	------------	-------	----------	-------	----------------

	1 17		
Species	PTE extracted	Sink tissue	Reference
Populus nigra L.	Cd	Trunk, leaf	Vangronsveld et al., 2009
Eucalyptus camaldulensis Dehnh.	Cd	Trunk, leaf	Luo <i>et al.</i> , 2016
Salix viminalis L.	Cd, Zn	Trunk, leaf	Vangronsveld <i>et al.</i> , 2009
Arundo donax L.	Cd, Cr	Shoot, leaf, rhizome	Barbosa <i>et al.</i> , 2015 Fiorentino <i>et al.</i> , 2013; 2017
Brassica carinata A.	As, Cd, Cr, Cu, Ni, Pb, Zn	Shoot, leaf	Marchiol <i>et al.</i> , 2004 Soriano and Fereres, 2003
Brassica juncea L.	As, Cd, Cr, Cu, Pb, Zn	Shoot, leaf	Clemente <i>et al.</i> , 2005 Marchiol <i>et al.</i> , 2004
Brassica nigra L.	As, Cd, Cr, Cu, Ni, Pb, Zn	Shoot, leaf	Marchiol et al., 2004



be a predominant source of exposure in Mediterranean areas during the summer drought (June-August). In such cases fast-growing species should be chosen, able to rapidly colonise the soil and form a compact turf to hinder wind erosion (Pardo et al., 2014: Boisson et al., 2016). To achieve this goal, the most effective tool consists in perennial grasses including both microthermal and macrothermal species. Intercropping such species is designed to rapidly cover the soil during the wet-cold season with microthermal species (e.g. ryegrass or fescue), and ensure high soil cover during the dry season with drought-resistant grasses such as Bermuda grass (Cynodon dactylon L.) or dallisgrass (Paspalum spp.) (Table 2). In some cases limiting the access to polluted/degraded sites is mandatory to avoid improper grazing and food production. The most effective way to do so is to transplant fast-growing species such as giant (Arundo donax L.) or common reed (Phragmites australis (Cav.) Trin.), that are tolerant to high pollution levels and to anoxic conditions of unstructured soils (Barbosa et al., 2015). The above species create a green barrier, limiting the illegal use of contaminated sites during the phytoremediation period. Many tree species suited for phytoextraction can also make a contribution in terms of phytostabilization (Table 1), especially by reducing ground wind speeds and consequent wind erosion.

Rhizodegradation is based on the ability of plants to modify and enhance the soil microflora through the release of root exudates usable as a growth substrate by microorganisms (Passatore *et al.*, 2014). Another effect of this technique is to increase aerobic conditions in the soil due to the effect of root growth on soil porosity (Leigh *et al.*, 2002; Smith *et al.*, 2007). This enhances the activity of aerobic soil microflora able to oxidize organic pollutants. The effects described above are important in the *rhizosphere* which is a specific volume of soil surrounding roots (within a maximum distance of 2-5 mm) and represents the keystone in restoring polluted soils through phytoremediation (Ventorino *et al.*, 2018). Rhizodegradation is the main technique when the pollution in question predominantly consists in organic compounds (Terzaghi *et al.*, 2018). Root activity enhances the activity of microorganisms naturally present in the soil and capable of degrading organic compounds. All agronomic practices aimed at increasing root growth and efficiency can positively affect rhizodegradation. In this context, organic fertilization and inoculation with mycorrhizal fungi and/or *Trichoderma* (Audet and Charest, 2007; Miransari, 2011; Fiorentino *et al.*, 2013) also play a major role, as discussed in the next section. In addition, rhizodegradation can also use massive inoculum of native bacteria (Ventorino *et al.*, 2018) in order to increase the degradation of organic pollutants with the application of microbial formulations designed using bacteria adapted to site-specific conditions.

Phytoremediation efficiency can be enhanced through two agronomic techniques commonly employed in food crop management: fertilization with composted organic matter and the enforcement of the activity of plant-root associated bacteria and or fungi (Fiorentino *et al.*, 2013, Sessitsch *et al.*, 2013). Compost is a fertilizer obtained through a process of aerobic stabilization of crop residues and also from organic municipal solid waste. Compost use in phytoremediation positively affects soil fertility according to the mechanisms described below: i) improvement in soil structure due to the formation of stable mineral-organic aggregates; ii) enhancement of microbial driven degradation of organic pollutants (see rhizodegradation); iii) activation of N-cycling bacteria.

These effects allow suitable conditions for crop growth even in hostile environments. For phytoremediation purposes we must highlight the compost effect on PTE mobility and bioavailability (Fagnano *et al.*, 2011; Huang *et al.*, 2016) due to direct immobilization from compost (Vanegas *et al.*, 2015) and the formation of

Species	Main effects	Reference
Lignocellulosic crops		
Miscanthus sinensis	PTE reduction in soil solution Limitation of site access	Barbosa <i>et al.</i> , 2015
<i>Arundo donax</i> L.	Reduction of bioavailable PTE fraction Limitation of site access Limitation of wind erosion	Fiorentino <i>et al.</i> , 2013
Phragmites australis	PTE allocation to rhizomes Limitation of site access	Bacchetta et al., 2015
Microthermal grasses		
Lolium perenne	Reduction in dust lift Reduction in bioavailable fraction of Cu, Pb, Mn	Padmavathiamma and Li, 2010 Karami <i>et al.</i> , 2011 Golda <i>et al.</i> , 2016
Poa pratensis	Reduction in dust lift Reduction in bioavailable fraction of Mn, Pb	Padmavathiamma and Li, 2010
Festuca spp. Agrostis spp. Phleum pratense Bromus inermis Elymus spp.	Reduction in dust lift Reduction in bioavailable fraction of Cu, Zn, Pb	Mahar <i>et al.</i> , 2016
Macrothermal grasses		
Paspalum spp.	Reduction in wind erosion	Mekonnen et al., 2015
Cynodon dactylon	Reduction in wind erosion	Kort <i>et al.</i> , 1998
Piptatherum miliaceum	Reduction in water and wind erosion	Arco-Lazaro et al., 2017

Table 2. Grasses and herbaceous crops for phytostabilization.

insoluble complexes (Achiba et al., 2009). With these mechanisms, humic substances reduce the passive PTE mobility (diffusion, mass transport), limiting vertical or lateral flows towards adjacent water bodies. In addition, organic fertilization is associated to an increase in active PTE mobility (root uptake), thanks to the formation of humus-metal complexes, prone to be broken up by organic acids of plant exudates, increasing the PTE bioavailable fraction (Fiorentino et al., 2013). Mycorrhizal fungi are fairly common in the rhizosphere and are able to establish a mutualistic symbiosis with plant roots. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi can foster plant colonisation of contaminated/degraded soils (Audet and Charest, 2007; Miransari, 2011), enhancing root uptake of nutrients and PTEs according to the following mechanisms: i) dilution of PTE contents in plant tissues due to increased biomass yield (Kaldorf et al., 1999); ii) exclusion of metals through precipitation or chelation in the rhizosphere (Christie et al., 2004); iii) direct uptake in fungi tissues that limit transport in plant tissues (Christie et al., 2004).

Another viable option for assisting phytoremediation is represented by root inoculation with Trichoderma spp. (Fiorentino et al., 2013), endophytic plant opportunistic symbionts, used as biofertilizers (Fiorentino et al., 2018) and biocontrol agents for plant diseases (Brotman et al., 2010; Lorito et al., 2010), such as F. oxysporum, R. solani, Phytophthora spp. and Verticillium spp. In addition, different Trichoderma species are recognized for their production of a large number of secondary metabolites with antibiotic activity (Harman et al., 2004). Thanks to the production of a large variety of depolymerising enzymes, Trichoderma spp. are able to use a large group of compounds as a source of carbon and nitrogen. Together with the abundant production of conidia, the adaptability to different environmental conditions makes Trichoderma highly competitive with respect to the common soil microflora. Some strains establish strong and lasting colonisation of the roots, penetrating surfaces even below the epidermis (Woo and Lorito, 2007). This fungi-root interaction promotes aboveground and below-ground plant growth (Harman et al., 2004).

In recent years, the ability of some *Trichoderma* strains to biodegrade or tolerate a wide range of contaminants has also been demonstrated, allowing their use in phytoremediation of soils contaminated by hydrocarbons (Harman *et al.*, 2004). A widely used strain for this purpose is *T. harzianum* T22 which greatly increases the effectiveness of plants used for phytoremediation, as proved by experiments showing a significant decrease in soil metal content due to inoculated fern and giant reed and a significant increase in root biomass, compared to control plants (Harman *et al.*, 2004; Fiorentino *et al.*, 2013).

Materials and methods for implementing phytoremediation plants

The following agronomic practices are necessary for implementing phytoremediation plants. They have to be locally calibrated after geophysical (Langella *et al.*, 2018) and geochemical (Rocco *et al.*, 2018) characterization and phytoscreening (Visconti *et al.*, 2018) in a perspective of precision remediation.

Removal of waste, stones and pre-existing flora

This activity is obviously required especially in waste disposal areas or on sites subjected to illegal spills. To proceed with removal an inventory of the different categories of waste present has to be drawn up by referring to the European Waste Catalogue (EWC)



code, estimating the quantities to be managed and the costs of disposal in authorised landfills. The same approach should be adopted in agricultural sites on which perennial crops not suited to phytoremediation are already present. The biomass of these crops must be disposed of following the previously described procedure. If there are any species that can be used for phytoremediation (*e.g.* poplar), they should be integrated within phytoremediation plantations.

Compost fertilization

Compost fertilization is recommended in physically and chemically degraded soils according to the reference dose of 20-90 Mg ha⁻¹ (f.w.), in order to recover fertility (e.g. an SOM increase of 1.5% in the 0-20 cm depth layer requires 90 Mg ha-1 of compost with a dry matter content of 80% and a humification coefficient of 0.5). The same fertilization rate is recommended to enhance microbial biodegradation of organic pollutants (Ventorino et al., 2018). On soils whose fertility has not been compromised, the compost fertilization rate may be 10-20 Mg ha-1 (f.w.) (Fiorentino et al., 2013) in order to promote plant growth and increase PTE bioavailability. It is recommended to use high quality compost that complies with the limits established by the legislation on fertilizers (Law Decree 75/2010). Spreading of the compost should be performed one month before planting/sowing of the crop (winter) so as to facilitate its stabilization (if necessary), thus avoiding any phytotoxicity.

Soil tillage

Deep tillage (40-60 cm) should be made with a ripper during the late summer so as to operate in optimal working conditions in terms of soil moisture. Indeed, soil structure can be seriously compromised by performing tillage on wet soils (*e.g.* winter or early spring). Soil ripping is recommended on compacted soils, previously subjected to the transit of heavy vehicles and/or waste disposal. Soil preparation prior to crop transplant (*e.g.* trees) and/or seeding (*e.g.* brassica species, grass) must carried out with a rotary-hoe in order to mix compost and crop residues in the 0-20 cm soil layer.

Transplant of trees and herbaceous lignocellulosic species

Trees as well as rhizomatous species (*e.g.* giant reed) should be transplanted in late winter and during the dormancy stage. Dense planting layouts (3x1 m) should be employed for tree species in order to create planting espaliers with high phytoextraction efficiency and to reduce ground wind speed and the consequent lifting and dispersion of contaminated soil particles.

For phytoremediation plants aimed at increasing the landscape value of a site (when phytoextraction is not required) a less dense planting layout can be employed (5x5 m; 7x7 m; 10x10 m) in order to allow the growth of tall forest species (*e.g.* poplar and willow). The planting layout of rhizomatous species will be 1x1 m in loose soils, where rhizome growth is not limited, while a higher density (0.60x0.60 m) is recommended in heavy soils.

Tree species transplanted at a high density will be managed as short rotation forestry, harvesting biomass every 3-5 years. An annual pattern will be adopted for giant reed harvest. Temporary storage and PTE analysis of biomasses will be required after each harvest in order to plan their disposal to conform with the code of the European Waste Catalogue (EWC), or their reuse (energy, timber, ...), as they are considered the byproduct of phytoremediation (Fagnano, 2018).



Grassing

The seeding of microthermal grasses (*e.g.* ryegrass, fescue) should be carried out when the soil temperature is above 10°C and during the rainy season (*i.e.* the period from September to December). When irrigation water is available *in situ* the suitable time for sowing can be extended until April. For macrothermal species (*e.g.* Bermuda grass) seeding must be carried out in late spring (April-May) in order to reach a soil temperature close to 18-20°C, whilst ensuring adequate soil moisture in order to promote seed germination. Grass mowing and baling must be planned every month from June to November. In the case of phytoextraction plants, temporary storage, PTE analysis and subsequent disposal must be carried out according to the approach described in the previous point of this section.

Irrigation

When irrigation water is available, it is recommended to set up an irrigation system to ensure that the water requirements of tree crops and macrothermal grasses are met in the very early stages of growth (emergence irrigation). Irrigation should be performed during the whole summer season in order to limit dust lift from the soil, ensuring a higher soil moisture content and grass cover and increasing the phytoextraction capacity of plants (Palladino *et al.*, 2018). When water available on site is not suitable for crops, irrigation can be performed by using safe water from other sites. Alternatively, drought-resistant species can be transplanted (*e.g.* eucalyptus, giant reed, common reed).

Monitoring phytoremediation efficiency

As with all the other restoration techniques, the effects of phytoremediation have to be monitored when the plants are *in situ*. PTE phytoextraction can be monitored by sampling plant biomass before each harvest in order to determine the PTE content and moisture (after drying at 60°C until sample weight is constant) of the various plant organs (trunk, branches, leaves). The proportion between stems, branches and leaves on a minimum number of 20 plants also needs to be estimated so as to be able to quantify their biomass yield per unit area according to the amount of total biomass (whole shoot) harvested on the site. The PTE content of the dry biomass of the various organs multiplied by the biomass produced per hectare represents the PTE quantity (*e.g.* kg/ha or g/ha) removed at each harvest. A similar approach should be followed for grass after each mowing. Soil samples must be collected in the root layer (0-30 cm and 30-60 cm depth) for monitoring changes in soil bioavailable PTE (Rocco *et al.*, 2018). Annual bioavailable soil PTE dynamics are strictly correlated with crop uptake (*e.g.* SRF trees, grasses and intercropped *Brassicaceae*) and the comparison between concomitant measurements of PTEs in soils and crops allows estimation of the PTE fraction liable to leached into the groundwater.

To restore the contaminated sites to food production after application of phytoremediation protocols, indirect risk of PTE transfer to the food chain must be excluded. A quite efficient monitoring protocol consists in growing heavy metal hyperaccumulator food crops (*e.g. brassicaceae* such as Indian mustard and rocket; *compositae* such as chicory) on plots established in the hot spots with higher PTE content (Duri *et al.*, 2018). Finally, monitoring the effects of grasses on dust lift as a consequence of turf formation can be carried out by setting specific samplers of particulate in the inter-row area. Amongst the most commonly used samplers suitable for this purpose is the Big Spring Number Eight or the Modified Wilson and Cook (Gao *et al.*, 2016; Mendez *et al.*, 2016). PTE content of the air particulate is linked to wind erosion from the polluted soil and hence to the turf effect on particulate lift.

Results of assisted phytoextraction in Campania case studies

Agricultural soil contaminated by bioavailable PTEs

The features of the San Giuseppiello site (Figure 1A) are described by Duri *et al.* (2018). In this case the aims were: i) to remediate the soil by gradually reducing the bioavailable fraction of PTEs (*i.e.* Cd, Pb) which could accumulate in foodstuffs; ii) interrupting the exposure pathways of pollutants by making the site safe; iii) improving landscape quality of a degraded land.

High-density (3x1 m) poplars were used, intercropped with



Figure 1. A) Aerial photo of the San Giuseppiello site; B) poplar grassed rows; C) Indian mustard in the hot spot contaminated by Cd.



natural meadows selected by frequent lawn mowing in order to combine the phytoextractive ability of trees with the effect of turf in preventing lifting and dispersion of soil particles (Figure 1B).

In the hot-spot areas with high bioavailable PTE concentrations, remediation was enhanced by intercropping Indian mustard (Figure 1C).

Industrial soil highly contaminated by PTEs (Ecobat site)

In the Ecobat site (Figure 2), an auto vehicle battery recycling plant, our analysis revealed an intolerable health risk due to air dispersion of Pb-polluted soil particles that can be transferred to humans through ingestion, inhalation and dermal contact. The features of the site were described elsewhere by Visconti *et al.* (2018). When phytoextraction is not viable for removing PTEs due to their excessive concentration, as in industrial areas, sites can be secured by interrupting the exposure pathways to contaminants.

In the Ecobat site dense permanent grassing was made to protect workers' health and allowed safe fruition of the site by interrupting dust lift. Deep soil ripping was performed to reduce soil compaction. Compost fertilization at a high dose (40 t ha⁻¹) was then carried out to improve both plant growth and soil structure for reducing soil dust. Microthermal species (*Lolium perenne, Festuca rubra, Poa pratensis*) were sown in October to ensure rapid soil cover, as also reported by Golda *et al.* (2016). Macrothermal species (*Cynodon dactylon, Paspalum vaginatum*) were sown in April to obtain a dense stand of turfgrass during the dry season when wind erosion could be higher. A poplar stand was added to reduce ground wind speed and the consequent risk of soil particle lift-off and dispersion. In this case, the Pb-contaminated poplar wood will be used in the smelter for producing lead bullion, replacing petroleum coke as a reducing agent. Another option for sites with similar characteristics may be to crop common reed or giant reed characterized by a dense and continue soil covering, reducing the downward flow of pollutants towards the groundwater, limiting site accessibility and immobilizing PTEs in the rhizomes and in the upper soil layers (Barbosa *et al.*, 2015; Fiorentino *et al.*, 2017). In this case, the quality of biomass produced must be verified, analysing the content of PTEs and comparing it with the anticipated regulatory limits for their use as by-products.

Soil contaminated by non-bioavailable PTEs and/or organic pollutants (Giugliano, Trentola-Ducenta sites)

In the Giugliano site the soil was potentially contaminated by Cu, Zn and heavy hydrocarbons (C>12), while the Trentola site showed the presence of several tons of abandoned waste and the soil was potentially contaminated by heavy hydrocarbons (Monaco *et al.*, 2015; Rocco *et al.*, 2016). In these cases (Figure 3) the focus



Figure 2. A) Aerial photo of the Ecobat site; B) poplar grassed rows for making safe the site.



Figure 3. A) Eucalyptus stand at Giugliano; B) poplar stand at Trentola.





of phytoremediation was: i) to remove abandoned waste, thereby improving landscape quality; ii) limit the lift and dispersion of contaminated soil particles; iii) enhance biodegradation of organic compounds by soil microflora. The control of dust lift was achieved with permanent grasses, combined with biomass trees (*i.e.* eucalyptus and poplar). The above crops are able to explore large amounts of soil with their root system and hence to reduce the content of organic compounds through rhizodegradation. This activity was enhanced with the use of specific microbial consortia (bioremediation), as described by Ventorino *et al.* (2018). It must be pointed out that in this specific case there are no risks of pollutant transfer to crops, whether non-food or food (*e.g.* orchards, vegetables). Thus the biomass produced in such sites can be used without limitation (*e.g.* as a structuring agent in composting plant, for energy recovery).

Degraded soil and disfigurement of the landscape (Teverola)

The most frequently recognized problem in many areas of Campania is the abandonment of waste in fallow farmland and soil compaction due to the transit of motor vehicles (Fagnano, 2018). The Teverola site was used by the local municipality for temporary waste storage, leading to soil physical degradation and the disfigurement of the landscape, which in turn placed major constraints on the provision of ecosystem services. In this case, in addition to the removal of the waste concerned, phytoremediation was used for environmental and landscape restoration by applying all the techniques that improve the physical fertility of the soil, such as fertilization with compost and minimum tillage. In this way the best species proved to be giant reed (*Arundo donax* L.) due to its high adaptability to low fertility soils, its reduced maintenance needs and the high shoot density, which can also limit access to the site.

Conclusions

The integrated approach including agronomic, geochemical, geophysical, microbiological, hydraulic engineering protocols proposed by the ECOREMED project is a cost-effective and environmentally friendly strategy to remediate degraded land or render contaminated soils safe. The budget required for the proposed approach amounts to 100,000 euros ha⁻¹, proving more affordable than chemical and physical techniques whose costs range from 1-2 M euros ha⁻¹ (*e.g.* capping with concrete platforms) to 8-10 M euro ha⁻¹ (*e.g.* digging and dumping).

In addition, phytoremediation preserves soil resources, and improves ecosystem services, due to the combination of low input soil management techniques (*i.e.* soil ripping for reducing soil compaction, compost fertilization) and permanent soil covering by vegetation. This is in accordance with Italian law 6/2014 (Art. 2, par. 4) which clearly defines soil protection as being mandatory in remediating natural or agricultural sites.

The fields of application of phytoremediation can be classified (according to Italian environmental law) as ensuring public safety or remediation. In the first case, the aim is to interrupt exposure to contaminant pathways by using an ecological structure such as a dense turfgrass combined with dense tree rows for reducing ground wind speed and limit water percolation and contaminants leaching toward groundwater. A preliminary analysis of native vegetation of the contaminated sites could help to choose the most suitable species under the site-specific conditions in question. In



Figure 4. Giant reed stand at Teverola site.

the case of contamination of a deep soil layer (*e.g.* >2.0 m) phytoremediation is not sufficient and must be combined with other engineering approaches (*e.g.* hydraulic barriers, syringing) for isolating groundwater from contaminants. Phytoremediation is not suitable for securing sites contaminated by organic pollutants that can move in a gaseous phase such as light hydrocarbons and PAHs.

In the case of remediation, understood as the elimination of contaminants and restoration of the previous environmental conditions of the site, phytoremediation can act only on the bioavailable fractions of PTEs, while it is not suitable for uptaking and eliminating the non-bioavailable forms. In such cases, typical of mine waste contamination or industrial plants, if the levels of contamination represent an intolerable risk for human health, the Authorities may opt for safety measures described in the previous point or for other engineering approaches such as soil washing. If contamination is due to organic compounds, such as in petrochemical plants, or results from the fallout of toxic fumes due to waste combustion, grasses and tree species may help bioremediation performed with bacteria or fungi thanks to rhizosphere effects. In all cases the use of vegetation could help achieve environmental restoration of contaminated and remediated sites by improving soil fertility and ecosystem services.

References

- Abawi GS, Widmer TL, 2000. Impact of soil health management practices on soilborne pathogens, nematodes and root diseases of vegetable crops. Appl. Soil ecol. 15:37-47.
- Abhilash PC, Powell JR, Singh HB, Singh BK, 2012. Plantmicrobe interactions: Novel applications for exploitation in multipurpose remediation technologies. Trends Biotechnol. 30:416-20.
- Achiba WB, Gabteni N, Lakhdar A, Laing GD, Verloo M, Jedidi N, Gallali T, 2009. Effects of 5-year application of municipal solid waste compost on the distribution and mobility of heavy metals in a Tunisian calcareous soil. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 1:156-63.
- Ali H, Khan E, Sajad MA, 2013. Phytoremediation of heavy metals - Concepts and applications. Chemosphere 91:869-81.
- Alkorta I, Hernandez-Allica J, Becerril JM, Amezaga I, Albizu I, Garbisu C, 2004. Recent findings on the phytoremediation of soils contaminated with environmentally toxic heavy metals and metalloids such as zinc, cadmium, lead and arsenic. Rev. Environ. Health 3:71-90.
- Alluvione F, Fiorentino N, Bertora C, Zavattaro L, Fagnano M, Chiarandà FQ, Grignani C, 2013. Short-term crop and soil response to C-friendly strategies in two contrasting environments. Eur. J. Agron. 45:114-23.



- APAT (Agenzia per la protezione dell'ambiente e per i servizi tecnici), 2007. Il suolo la radice della vita. ISPRA, Roma, Italy, pp 117.
- Arco-Lazaro E, Martínez-Fernández D, Bernal MP, Clemente R, 2017. Response of *Piptatherum miliaceum* to co-culture with a legume species for the phytostabilisation of trace elements contaminated soils. J. Soils Sediments 17:1349-57.
- Audet P, Charest C, 2007. Dynamics of arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis in heavy metal phytoremediation: Meta-analytical and conceptual perspectives. Environ. Pollut. 147:609-14.
- Bacchetta G, Cappai G, Carucci A, Tamburini E, 2015. Use of native plants for the remediation of abandoned mine sites in Mediterranean semiarid environments. Bull. Environ. Contamin. Toxicol. 94:326-33.
- Barbosa B, Boléo S, Sidella S, Costa J, Duarte MP, Mendes B, Cosentino SL, Fernando AL, 2015. Phytoremediation of heavy metal-contaminated soils using the perennial energy crops Miscanthus spp. and Arundo donax L. Bioen. Res. 8:1500-11.
- Boisson S, Le Stradic S, Collignon J, Séleck M, Malaisse F, Shutcha MN, Faucon MP, Mahy G, 2016. Potential of coppertolerant grasses to implement phytostabilisation strategies on polluted soils in South D. R. Congo. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 23:13693-705.
- Bolan N, Kunhikrishnan A, Thangarajan R, Kumpiene J, Park J, Makino T, Kirkham MB, Scheckel K, 2014. Remediation of heavy metal(loid)s contaminated soils - To mobilize or to immobilize? J. Hazard. Mater. 266:141-66.
- Bolan NS, Park JH, Robinson B, Naidu R, Huh KY, 2011. Phytostabilization. A green approach to contaminant containment. Adv. Agron. 112:145-204.
- Bonfante A, Impagliazzo A, Fiorentino N, Langella G, Mori M, Fagnano M, 2017. Supporting local farming communities and crop production resilience to climate change through giant reed (Arundo donax L.) cultivation: An Italian case study. Sci. Total Environ. 601-602:603-13.
- Brotman Y, Kapuganti JG, Viterbo A, 2010. Trichoderma. Curr. Biol. 20:390-1.
- Brussaard L, 2007. Biodiversity and Ecosystem Functioning in Soil. Ambio 26:563-70.
- Christie P, Li X, Chen B, 2004. Arbuscular mycorrhiza can depress translocation of zinc to shoots of host plants in soils moderately polluted with zinc. Plant Soil 261:209-17.
- Clemente R, Walker DJ, Berna MP, 2005. Uptake of heavy metals and As by Brassica juncea grown in a contaminated soil in Aznalcollar (Spain): the effect of soil amendments. Environ. Pollut. 138:46-58.
- Costantini EAC, Lorenzetti R, 2013. Soil degradation processes in the Italian agricultural and forest ecosystems. Ital. J. Agron. 8:233-43.
- Costantini EAC, Urbano F, Aramini G, Barbetti R, Bellino F, Bocci M, Bonati G, Fais A, L'Abate G, Loj G, Magini S, Napoli R, Nino P, Paolanti M, Perciabosco M, Tascone F, 2009. Rationale and methods for compiling an atlas of desertification in Italy. Land Degr. Dev. 20:260-76.
- Diodato N, Fagnano M, Alberico I, 2009. CliFEM Climate Forcing and Erosion Response Modelling at Long-Term Sele River Research Basin (Southern Italy). Nat. Haz. Earth Syst. Sci. 9:1693-702.
- Doran JW, Parkin TB, 1994. Defining and assessing soil quality. In: Doran JW, Coleman DC, Bezdicek DF, Stewart BA (Eds.), Defining Soil Quality for a Sustainable Environment. SSSA, Madison, WI, pp. 3-21.
- Duri LG, Fiorentino N, Cozzolino E, Ottaiano L, Agrelli D, Fagnano M, 2018. Bioassays for evaluation of sanitary risks

from food crops cultivated in potentially contaminated sites. Ital. J. Agron. 13(s1):45-52.

- European Commission, 2006a. Communication from the Commission to the Council, the European parliament, the European economic and social committee and the committee of the regions. Thematic strategy for soil protection. (COM(2006)231 final). European Commission, Brussels, Belgium.
- European Commission, 2006b. Accompanying document to the Communication from the Commission to the Council, the European Parliament, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions - Thematic Strategy for Soil Protection - Summary of the impact assessment (SEC(2006)1165). European Commission, Brussels, Belgium.
- European Commission, 2012. Report from the commission to the European parliament, the council, the European economic and social committee and the committee of the regions. The implementation of the Soil Thematic Strategy and ongoing activities(COM/2012/046 final). European Commission, Brussels, Belgium.
- Fagnano M, 2018. Definition of a site as contaminated: problems related to the agricultural soils. Ital. J. Agron. 13(s1):1-5.
- Fagnano M, Adamo P, Zampella M, Fiorentino N, 2011. Environmental and agronomic impact of fertilization with composted organic fraction from municipal solid waste: A case study in the region of Naples, Italy. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 141:100-7.
- Fagnano M, Diodato N, Alberico I, Fiorentino N, 2012 An overview of soil erosion modeling compatible with RUSLE approach. Rend. Fis. Acc. Lincei 23:69-80.
- Fagnano M, Impagliazzo A, Mori M, Fiorentino N, 2015. Agronomic and Environmental Impacts of Giant Reed (Arundo donax L.): Results from a Long-Term Field Experiment in Hilly Areas Subject to Soil Erosion. Bioenergy Res. 8:415-22.
- Fernando AL, Boléo S, Barbosa B, Costa J, Duarte MP, Monti A, 2015. Perennial Grass Production Opportunities on Marginal Mediterranean Land. Bioenergy Res. 8:1523-37.
- Fierer N, Strickland MS, Liptzin D, Bradford MA, Cleveland CC, 2009. Global patterns in belowground communities. Ecol. Lett. 12:1238-49.
- Fiorentino N, Fagnano M, Adamo P, Impagliazzo A, Mori M, Pepe O, Ventorino V, Zoina A, 2013. Assisted phytoextraction of heavy metals: compost and Trichoderma effects on giant reed uptake and soil quality. It. J. Agron. 8:244-54.
- Fiorentino N, Ventorino V, Rocco C, Cenvinzo V, Agrelli D, Gioia L, Di Mola I, Adamo P, Pepe O, Fagnano M, 2017. Giant reed growth and effects on soil biological fertility in assisted phytoremediation of an industrial polluted soil. Sci. Total Environ. 575:1375-83.
- Fiorentino N, Ventorino V, Woo SL, Pepe O, De Rosa A, Gioia L, Romano I, Lombardi N, Napolitano M, Colla G, Rouphael Y, 2018. Trichoderma-based biostimulants modulate rhizosphere microbial populations and improve n uptake efficiency, yield and nutritional quality of leafy vegetables. Front. Plant Sci. 9:743.
- Forte A, Zucaro A, Fagnano M, Bastianoni S, Basosi R, Fierro A, 2015. LCA of Arundo donax L. lignocellulosic feedstock production under Mediterranean conditions. Biomass Bioenerg. 73:32-47.
- Franzluebbers AJ, 2002. Soil organic matter stratification ratio as an indicator of soil quality. Soil Tillage Res. 66:95-106.



- Gao Y, Dang X, Yu Y, Li Y, Liu Y, Wang J, 2016. Effects of tillage methods on soil carbon and wind erosion. Land Degrad. Dev. 27:583-91.
- García-Ruiz JM, 2010. The effects of land uses on soil erosion in Spain: A review. Catena 81:1-11.
- Gil-Díaz M, González A, Alonso J, Lobo MC, 2016. Evaluation of the stability of a nanoremediation strategy using barley plants. J. Environ. Manage. 165:150-8.
- Giudicianni P, Pindozzi S, Grottola CM, Faugno S, Fagnano M, Fiorentino N, Ragucci R, 2017a. Effect of Feedstock and Temperature on the Distribution of Heavy Metals in Char from Slow Steam Pyrolysis of Contaminated Biomasses. Chem. Engin. Trans. 58:505-10.
- Giudicianni P, Pindozzi S, Grottola CM, Stanzione F, Faugno S, Fagnano M, Fiorentino N, Ragucci R, 2017b. Pyrolysis for exploitation of biomasses selected for soil phytoremediation: characterization of gaseous and solid products. Waste Manag. 61:288-99.
- Gołda S, Korzeniowskaj J, 2016. Comparison of phytoremediation potential of three grass species in soil contaminated with cadmium. Environ. Protec. Nat. Res. 27:8-14.
- Gregory JH, Dukes MD, Jones PH, Miller GL, 2006. Effect of urban soil compaction on infiltration rate. J. Soil Water Conserv. 61:117-24.
- Greipsson S, 2011. Phytoremediation. Nature Educ. Knowl. 3:7.
- Halim M, Conte P, Piccolo A, 2003. Potential availability of heavy metals to Phytoextraction from contaminated soils induced by exogenous humic substances. Chemosphere 52:265-75.
- Hamza MA, Anderson WK, 2005. Soil compaction in cropping systems: A review of the nature, causes and possible solutions. Soil Tillage Res. 82:121-45.
- Harman GE, Howell CR, Viterbo A, Chet I, Lorito M, 2004. Trichoderma species-opportunistic, avirulent plant symbionts. Nature Review Microbiol. 2:43-56.
- Hatfield JL, Sauer TJ, Cruse RM, 2017. Chapter One Soil: The Forgotten Piece of the Water, Food, Energy Nexus. Adv. Agron. 143:1-46.
- Heal MR, Kumar P, Harrison RM, 2012. Particles, air quality, policy and health. Chem. Soc. Rev. 41:6606-30.
- Holland JM, 2004. The environmental consequences of adopting conservation tillage in Europe: Reviewing the evidence. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 103:1-25.
- Huang M, Zhu Y, Li Z, Huang B, Luo N, Liu C, Zeng G, 2016. Compost as a Soil Amendment to Remediate Heavy Metal-Contaminated Agricultural Soil: Mechanisms, Efficacy, Problems, and Strategies. Water Air Soil Pollut. 227:1-18.
- Impagliazzo A, Mori M, Fiorentino N, Di Mola I, Ottaiano L, De Gianni D, Nocerino S, Fagnano M, 2017. Crop growth analysis and yield of a lignocellulosic biomass crop (Arundo donax L.) in three marginal areas of Campania region. Ital. J. Agron. 12:1-7.
- Jones RJA, Hiederer R, Rusco E, Montanarella L, 2005. Estimating organic carbon in the soils of Europe for policy support. Eur. J. Soil Sci. 56:655-71.
- JRC (Joint Research Centre), 2011. The state of soil in Europe. Publication Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, p 78.
- Kaldorf M, Kuhn AJ, Schröder WR, Hildebrandt U, Bothe H, 1999. Selective element deposits in maize colonized by a heavy metal tolerance conferring arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus. J. Plant Physiol. 154:718-28.
- Karami N, Clemente R, Moreno-Jiménez E, Lepp NW, Beesley L, 2011. Efficiency of green waste compost and biochar soil amendments for reducing lead and copper mobility and uptake

to ryegrass. J. Hazard. Mater. 191:41-8.

- Kidd P, Mench M, Alvarez-Lopez V, Bert V, Dimitriou I, Friesl-Hanl W, Herzig R, Janssen JO, Kolbas A, Muller I, Neu S, Rennella G, Ruttens A, Vangronsvelt J, Puschenreiter M, 2015. Agronomic practices for improving gentle remediation of trace element-contaminated soils. Int. J Phytorem. 17:1005-37.
- Kort J, Collins M, Ditsch D, 1998. A review of soil erosion potential associated with biomass crops. Biomass Bioenergy 14:351-9.
- Kuppusamy S, Venkateswarlu K, Megharaj M, Mayilswami S, Lee YB, 2017 Risk-based remediation of polluted sites: A critical perspective. Chemosphere 186:607-615.
- Latimer JS, Zheng J, 2003. General Characteristics of PAHs: the sources, transport, and fate of pahs in the marine environment. In: Douben PET (ed), PAHs: An Ecotoxicological Perspective. ohn Wiley & Sons Ltd, Southern Gate, Chichester, West Sussex PO19 8SQ, England.
- Law Decree No. 75 of 29/04/2010 "Amendment of the Regulations governing Fertilizers, as under Art. 13 of Law No. 88 of 07/07/2009".
- Langella G, Agrillo A, Basile A, De Mascellis R, Manna P, Moretti P, Mileti FA, Terribile F, Vingiani S, 2018. Geography of soil contamination for characterization and precision remediation of potentially contaminated sites. Ital. J. Agron. 13(s1):6-15.
- Leigh MB, Fletcher JS, Fu X, Schmitz FJ, 2002. Root turnover: An important source of microbial substrates in rhizosphere remediation of recalcitrant contaminants. Environ. Sci. Technol. 36:1579-83.
- Lorito M, Woo SL, Harman, GE, Monte E, 2010. Translational Research on Trichoderma : From 'Omics to the Field. Annu. Rev. Phytopathol. 48:395-417.
- Luo J, Qi S, Peng L, Wang J, 2016. Phytoremediation efficiency of Cd by Eucalyptus globulus transplanted from polluted and unpolluted sites Intern. J. Phytorem. 18:308-14.
- Maggio A, De Pascale S, Fagnano M, Barbieri G, 2011. Saline agriculture in Mediterranean environments. Ital. J. Agron. 6:36-43.
- Mahar A, Wang P, Ali A, Awasthi MK, Lahori AH, Wang Q, Li RH, Zhang ZQ, 2016. Challenges and opportunities in the phytoremediation of heavy metals contaminated soils: a review. Ecotox. Environ. Saf. 126:111-21.
- Marchiol L, Sacco P, Assolari S, Zerbi G, 2004. Reclamation of polluted soil: phytoremediation potential of crop-related Brassica species. Water Air Soil Pollut. 158:345-56.
- Mekonnen M, Keesstra SD, Stroosnijder L, Baartman JEM, Maroulis J, 2015. Soil conservation through sediment trapping: a review. Land Degrad. Develop. 26:544-56.
- Mendez MJ, Funk R, Buschiazzo DE, 2016. Efficiency of Big Spring Number Eight (BSNE) and Modified Wilson and Cook (MWAC) samplers to collect PM10, PM2.5 and PM1. Aeolian Res. 21:37-44.
- Miransari M, 2011. Hyperaccumulators, arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and stress of heavy metals. Biotechnol. Adv. 29:645-53.
- Monaco D, Riccio A, Chianese E, Adamo P, Di Rosa S, Fagnano M, 2015. Chemical characterization and spatial distribution of PAHs and heavy hydrocarbons in rural sites of Campania Region, South Italy. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 22:14993-5003.
- Murphy BW, 2015. Impact of soil organic matter on soil properties a review with emphasis on Australian soils. Soil Res. 53:605-35.
- Padmavathiamma PK, Li LY, 2010. Phytoavailability and fractionation of lead and manganese in a contaminated soil after application of three amendments. Bioresour. Technol. 101:5667-76.
 Pagliai M, Pellegrini S, Vignozzi N, Rousseva S, Grasselli O,



2000. The quantification of the effect of subsoil compaction on soil porosity and related physical properties under conventional to reduced management practices. Adv. Geoecol. 32:305-13.

- Palladino M, Nasta P, Capolupo A, Romano N, 2018. Monitoring and modelling the role of phytoremediation to mitigate nonpoint source cadmium pollution and groundwater contamination at field scale. Ital. J. Agron. 13(s1):59-68.
- Panagos P, Borrelli P, Poesen J, Ballabio C, Lugato E, Meusburger K, Montanarella L, Alewell C, 2015. The new assessment of soil loss by water erosion in Europe. Environ. Sci. Policy 54:438-47.
- Pardo T, Martínez-Fernández D, Clemente R, Walker DJ, Bernal MP, 2014. The use of olive-mill waste compost to promote the plant vegetation cover in a trace-element-contaminated soil. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 21:1029.
- Passatore L, Rossetti S, Juwarkar AA, Massacci A, 2014. Phytoremediation and bioremediation of polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs): State of knowledge and research perspectives. J. Hazard. Mater. 278:189-202.
- Prasanna MV, Chidambaram S, Hameed AS, Srinivasamoorthy K, 2011. Hydrogeochemical analysis and evaluation of groundwater quality in the Gadilam river basin, Tamil Nadu, India. J. Earth Syst. Sci. 120:85-98.
- Rocco C, Agrelli D, Tafuro M, Caporale AG, Adamo P, 2018. Assessing the bioavailability of potentially toxic elements in soil: a proposed approach. Ital. J. Agron. 13(s1):16-22.
- Rocco C, Duro I, Di Rosa S, Fagnano M, Fiorentino N, Vetromile A, Adamo P, 2016. Composite vs. discrete soil sampling in assessing soil pollution of agricultural sites interested by waste disposal. J. Geochem. Explor. 170:30-8.
- Salvati L, Bajocco S, Ceccarelli T, Zitti M, Perini L, 2011. Towards a process-based evaluation of land vulnerability to soil degradation in Italy. Ecol. Indic. 11:1216-27.
- Schils R, Kuikman P, Liski J, van Oijen M, Smith P, Webb J, Alm J, Somogyi Z, van den Akker J, Billett M, 2008. Review of existing information on the interrelations betweensoil and climate change. CLIMSOIL, Final Report. 16 December 2008.
- Sessitsch A, Kuffner M, Kidd P, Vangronsveld J, Wenzel WW, Fallmann K, Puschenreiter M, 2013. The role of plant-associated bacteria in the mobilization and phytoextraction of trace elements in contaminated soils. Soil Biol. Biochem. 60:182-94.
- Singh OP, 2003. Impact of environmental contamination on biodiversity. In: Hussain Z (ed.), Environmental issues of Northeast India. Regency Publications, New Delhi, pp. 85-92.
- Smith P, Olesen JE, 2010. Synergies between the mitigation of, and adaptation to, climate change in agriculture. J. Agric. Sci. 148:543-52.
- Smith KE, Schwab AP, Banks MK, 2007. Phytoremediation of Polychlorinated Biphenyl (PCB)-Contaminated Sediment. J.

Environ. Qual. 36:239.

- Soriano AM, Fereres E, 2003. Use of crops for in situ phytoremediation of polluted soils following a toxic flood from a mine spill. Plant Soil, 256:253-64.
- Sylvain B, Mikael MH, Florie M, Emmanuel J, Marilyne S, Sylvain B, Domenico M, 2016. Phytostabilization of As, Sb and Pb by two willow species (*S. viminalis* and *S. purpurea*) on former mine technosols. Catena 136:44-52.
- Tejada M, Gonzalez JL, 2005. Beet vinasse applied to wheat under dryland conditions affects soil properties and yield. Eur. J. Agron. 23:336-47.
- Terzaghi E, Zanardini E, Morosini C, Raspa G, Borin S, Mapelli F, Vergani L, Di Guardo A, 2018. Rhizoremediation half-lives of PCBs: Role of congener composition, organic carbon forms, bioavailability, microbial activity, plant species and soil conditions, on the prediction of fate and persistence in soil. Sci. Total Environ. 612:544-60.
- Van Liedekerke M, Prokop G, Rabl-Berger S, Kibblewhite M, Louwagie G, 2014. Progress in management of contaminated sites. JRC Ref. Reports: 37. Available from: http://www.eea.europa.eu/data-and-maps/indicators/progressin-management-of-contaminated-sites-3/assessment#toc-0
- Venegas A, Rigol A, Vidal M, 2015. Viability of organic wastes and biochars as amendments for the remediation of heavy metal-contaminated soils. Chemosphere 119:190-8.
- Vangronsveld J, Herzig R,Weyens N, Boulet J, Adriaensen K, Ruttens A, Thewys T, Vassilev A, Meers E, Nehnevajova E, Vander Lelie D, Mench M, 2009. Phytoremediation of contaminated soils and groundwater: lessons from the field. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 16:765-94.
- Ventorino V, Faraco V, Romano I, Pepe O, 2018. Responses of bacterial community structure and diversity to soil eco-friendly bioremediation treatments of two multi-contaminated fields. Ital. J. Agron. 13(s1):53-58.
- Visconti D, Fiorentino N, Stinca A, Di Mola I, Fagnano M, 2018. Use of the native vascular flora for risk assessment and management of an industrial contaminated soil. Ital. J. Agron. 13(s1):23-33.
- Woo SL, Lorito M, 2007. Exploiting the interactions between fungal antagonists, pathogens and the plant for biocontrol. In: Vurro M., Gressel J. (Eds.), Novel Biotechnologies for Biocontrol Agent Enhancement and Management. IOS, Springer, Amsterdam, the Netherlands, 107-130.
- Zucaro A, Forte A, Fagnano M, Bastianoni S, Basosi R, Fierro A, 2015. Comparative attributional life cycle assessment of annual and perennial lignocellulosic feedstocks production under Mediterranean climate for biorefinery framework. Integr. Environ. Assess. Manag. 11:397-403.



Bioassays for evaluation of sanitary risks from food crops cultivated in potentially contaminated sites

Luigi Giuseppe Duri,¹ Nunzio Fiorentino,¹ Eugenio Cozzolino,² Lucia Ottaiano,¹ Diana Agrelli,¹ Massimo Fagnano¹

¹Dipartimento di Agraria, Università degli Studi di Napoli Federico II, Portici (NA); ²CREA- Consiglio per la ricerca in agricoltura e l'analisi dell'economia agraria, Centro di ricerca cerealicoltura e colture industriali, Caserta, Italia

Abstract

Environmental pollution in agricultural contexts cannot be neglected since food crops can be an important exposure pathway for soil pollutants. In Italy the Law on the Environment (Law Decree 152/2006) is unclear with regard to agricultural areas, since the specific regulation provided for in Art. 241 has not been enacted. Current risk analysis is based only on direct risk (i.e. via ingestion and inhalation of soil particles), while indirect risk via food consumption is not considered. For defining potential risks for consumers, assessment of exposure to potentially toxic elements (PTEs) can be made through the analysis of their content in food crops and the estimation of the related hazard quotient (HQ) based on the ratio between PTE intake through food and the health risks due to PTE doses during a lifetime. In order to obtain a precautionary estimate, the worst case approach was followed by selecting species well known for their PTE accumulation capacity, such as chicory (Cichorium intybus L.), lettuce (Lactuca sativa L.), spinach (Spinacia oleracea L.), radish (Raphanus sativus L.) and rocket salad (Eruca vesicaria L.), and by cultivating these plants in hotspots with the highest PTE concentrations. The PTE contents in such crops show wide variability, with values from 0.005 to 0.054 mg kg⁻¹ for arsenic (As), from 0.004 to 3.9 mg kg⁻¹ for cadmium (Cd), from 0.17 to 0.79 mg kg⁻¹ for chromium (Cr), from 0.22 to 1.18 mg kg⁻¹ for copper (Cu), from 0.03 to 0.43 mg kg⁻¹ for lead (Pb) and from 1.43 to 25.06 mg kg⁻¹ for zinc (Zn). Lead and Cd contents in vegetables exceeded thresholds established by EC Reg. 1881/2006 in 14% and 25% of samples, respectively. By contrast, from HQ analysis, any potential risk of dietary exposure due to ingestion of As, Cr, Cu, Pb or Zn was excluded. Only Cd content in lettuce, spinach and chicory resulted in a potential health risk due to intake of such foodstuffs. The proposed

Correspondence: Luigi Giuseppe Duri, Dipartimento di Agraria, Università degli Studi di Napoli Federico II, Via Università 100, 80055, Portici (NA), Italy. E-mail: Igduri@libero.it

Key words: Agricultural soils; health risk; transfer factors; vegetables safety; dietary exposure.

©Copyright L.G. Duri et al., 2018 Licensee PAGEPress, Italy Italian Journal of Agronomy 2018; 13(s1):45-52

This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Noncommercial License (by-nc 4.0) which permits any noncommercial use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited. method could resolve the lacuna in current Italian legislation regarding the evaluation of risks for human health due to the intake of contaminants through the food chain.

Introduction

The content of potentially toxic elements (PTEs) in agricultural soils, their bioaccumulation in food crops and their dispersion in the environment are major exposure pathways for humans (Chen *et al.*, 2018). However, in Italy current environmental legislation (Law Decree 152/2006) does not provide for assessing the suitability of a soil for agricultural use. Currently, the main risk analysis software programs, such as ReasOnable Maximum Exposure - R.O.M.E. (APAT), GIUDITTA (Milan province) and RBCA ToolKit (GSI), only allow calculation of direct health risks due to dermal contact, ingestion and inhalation of contaminants by people who frequent a site, while indirect risks, associated to PTE uptake by food crops and their consumption, are not taken into account.

In the rest of Europe, only Germany and Austria have guidelines for assessing the suitability of soil for crop production, reporting trigger values based on PTE bioavailable contents in soil (Carlon, 2007), thus requiring analysis of PTEs in crops whenever the trigger level is exceeded. The bioavailability of PTEs is an important aspect, because it can show the potential mobility of elements and the consequent potential uptake by plants as described by Adamo *et al.* (2014) and Rocco *et al.* (2018). Nevertheless, its assessment by chemical methods (*i.e.* by using extractants with different strength) allows indirect evaluation, while direct assessment can be made by analysing PTE accumulation in food crops.

Lead and Cd contents in foodstuffs can be evaluated by comparing them with the thresholds reported by EC Reg. 1881/2006 for some vegetables, while for As and mercury (Hg) the values could be compared with the thresholds reported in EC Dir. 32/2002 relative to forage. For other potentially toxic contaminants, health risks could be assessed by estimating the intake of contaminants through the most common food in normal diets, as described by national or international agencies (ISS, 2013; US EPA, 1989).

These methods have already been used and validated in other surveys (Zheng *et al.*, 2007; Huang *et al.*, 2008; Beccaloni *et al.*, 2013; Osaili *et al.*, 2016; Salvo *et al.*, 2018), in which estimation of contaminant intake allowed identification of the effective risks for human health that were often unrelated to major soil contaminants. Indeed, in an agricultural area near a Zn smelting plant, Zheng *et al.* (2007) excluded risks derived from accumulation in foodstuffs of the elements with higher concentrations (Zn, Cu and Hg), but highlighted potential risks due to Cd and Pb. On the other hand, in industrial areas, Huang *et al.* (2008) did not find health risks for each single element (Hg, As, Cr, Cu, Ni, Pb and Zn), but focused on calculating aggregate risk due to their cumulative effect. Beccaloni *et al.* (2013) found no health risks associated to consumption of local vegetable products in potentially contaminated croplands in Sardinia, while research conducted in Sicily (Salvo *et al.*, 2018) revealed health risks due to Cd and As accumulation in vegetables cultivated in fields close to a petrochemical plant, correlating the contamination of soil and food crops with the use of contaminated groundwater for irrigation.

To evaluate the suitability of a field for agricultural use, a precautionary assessment can be made by using the worst case approach in which food crops well known for their PTE accumulation capacity, such as lettuce (Antoniadis *et al.*, 2017; França *et al.*, 2017), spinach (Agrawal *et al.*, 2007), chicory (Aksoy, 2008), rocket salad (Mourato *et al.*, 2015) and radish (Liu *et al.*, 2006) are cultivated in potentially contaminated soils to evaluate the risk of PTE transfer to the food chain.

In light of the above, the aim of this work was to evaluate the suitability for agricultural use (*i.e.* the risks for human health due to contaminant accumulation in foodstuffs) of a site defined as potentially contaminated by Cr and Zn due to illegal tannery sludge disposal, in which a more detailed environmental characterization highlighted some hot spots potentially contaminated also by As, Cd, Cu and Pb (Adamo *et al.*, 2017).

Materials and methods

Description of the study area

The study area $(60,000 \text{ m}^2)$ is situated in the Campania plain in which fruit (*e.g.* strawberry, melon and peach) and vegetables (*e.g.* tomato, lettuce, broccoli) are mainly cultivated. In 2008 the site was sequestered due to illegal disposal of tannery sludge, and from 2015 onwards it was characterized and remediated by using the ECOREMED protocol (2017).

Experimental model

To evaluate the potential uptake of PTEs without uncertainties due to field conditions (*e.g.* leaching and weather adversity), some soil hot spots with higher PTE concentrations were collected from the study area and used in a pot experiment in a greenhouse. The *worst case* approach was used, which means growing selected crop species already known for their ability to accumulate PTEs in their edible portions in soils from such hot spots.

Soil and vegetable selection

Starting from a previous detailed characterization (Figure 1) four areas were selected with different contaminant levels (F4 with the highest concentration of Cd, F2 with the highest concentration



of Cr and Zn, C13 with the highest concentration of Pb, and A7 with the lowest concentration of PTEs as control) (Table 1). Massive samples (1 $m^2 \times 0.2 m$) of soils were collected and transported to an experimental greenhouse at the University of Naples.

The following five species commonly grown in the field area and known for their high PTE accumulation capacity were selected: i) Lettuce (*Lactuca sativa* L.): known to accumulate Pb, As, Hg (Antoniadis *et al.*, 2017) and Zn (França *et al.*, 2017); ii) Spinach (*Spinacia oleracea* L.): reported by Agrawal *et al.* (2007) as accumulating various PTEs (Pb, Cd, Cr and As); iii) Chicory (*Cichorium*



Figure 1. Hot spots in the experimental site (A7 = control; F2 = highest Cr and Zn concentration; F4 = highest Cd concentration; C13 = highest Pb concentration) (from Adamo *et al.*, 2017).

Table 1. Total and bioavailable content (mg kg⁻¹) of PTEs in the selected hot spots.

Hot spots	Copper		Lead		Zi	Zinc		Arsenic		Cadmium		mium	
		В		В		В		В		В		В	
A7	29	0.11	45	0.06	122	0.14	13		0	0.05	112	0.30	
C13	88	0.45	147	0.02	684	0.82	20		1	0.07	650	0.54	
F2	49	0.17	63	0.01	846	1.78	16		1	0.01	2399	0.23	
F4	64	0.19	70	0.01	342	0.49	20		13	0.18	716	0.50	

T, total content; B, bioavailable content. Values in italics exceed the Italian screening values (DL 152/2006).



intybus L.): accumulating Pb, Cd and Zn (Bandiera *et al.*, 2016); iv) Rocket salad (*Eruca vesicaria* L.): accumulating Pb and Zn (Nikaido *et al.*, 2010); v) Radish (*Raphanus sativus*): known for its ability to accumulate Pb, Cd, As and Cr (Liu *et al.*, 2006).

Experimental activities: preparation, sampling and analysis

The selected soil was homogenized, sieved and used to fill 1.5-L pots in which the five plant species were grown, with five replicates per crop. During the first ten days of December 2016, all plants were seeded except the lettuce, which was transplanted, while baby leaf lettuce was seeded at the beginning of February 2017. For all plants the optimal growth conditions (temperature, water, *etc.*) were guaranteed.

The plants were cultivated until commercial maturity, harvested, weighed and washed with tap water and then with deionized water to remove any residual soil particles from the samples. Determination of PTE concentrations in fresh plant samples was made by using ICP-MS after acid digestion (HNO₃) in a microwave oven.

Total PTE contents in soil samples were determined by *aqua regia* extraction, while the readily soluble and bioavailable content of PTEs was extracted by 1 mol L^{-1} ammonium nitrate (DIN 19730, 1997). The metal contents in the extracts were measured by Inductively Coupled Plasma Mass Spectrometry (ICP-MS).

Health risk assessment

To evaluate the potential non-cancer risk of PTEs, the hazard quotient (HQ) equation was used for each PTE (US EPA, 1986; 2000), while the hazard index (HI) equation (US EPA, 1989; Huang *et al.*, 2008) was used to assess the cumulative potential effects of PTEs. The calculation formulas are shown below:

$$HQ = ADD/RfD \tag{1}$$

where:

HQ is the hazard quotient for a single PTE (adimensional); *ADD* is the average daily dose of the element (mg kg⁻¹ day⁻¹); *RfD* is the reference dose of the element (mg kg⁻¹ day⁻¹) that represents an estimate of daily oral exposure of the population which is likely to be without an appreciable risk of detrimental effects during a lifetime. If the ratio exceeds unity (HQ>1) there could be a potential risk to human health.

Exposure to contaminants is estimated by calculating the average daily dose (ADD) as follows:

$$ADD = [(C x IR) x EF x ED]/(BW x AT_{ADD})$$
(2)

where:

ADD is the average daily dose of the element (mg kg⁻¹ day⁻¹);

C is the concentration of an element in a vegetable (mg g^{-1});

IR is the per capita food consumption rate differentiated by age group (g day⁻¹);

EF is the exposure frequency (day year⁻¹), indicating the number of days in one year in which an individual comes into contact with the contaminant (it is a variable parameter which may depend on seasonality and the availability of the food in question). The highest degree of caution is to consider 365;

ED is the exposure duration (years), indicating the number of years during which the population is exposed to intake of contaminated food. If the real exposure time is unknown, a precautionary value can be considered 70 years. If the risk assessment is for children,

Article

the maximum value of the age group is considered (*e.g.* for the 0-10 years age group, ED is equal to 10);

BW is the body weight (kg). Internationally a value of 60 (for adults) is generally considered;

 AT_{ADD} is the time over which exposure is averaged (days), $AT_{ADD} =$ ED x 365.

As mentioned above, it is important to calculate also the potential cumulative risk due to the addition of single risks:

$$HI = \Sigma HQ = ADD_1 / RfD_1 + ADD_2 / RfD_2 + ADD_n / RfD_n$$
(3)

where:

HI is the hazard index as the sum of single hazard quotients (adimensional);

 $ADD_{[1,2...n]}$ are the average daily doses of the single PTEs (mg kg⁻¹ day⁻¹);

 $RfD_{[1,2...n]}$ are the reference doses of the single PTEs (mg kg⁻¹ day⁻¹).

When HI exceeds unity, there could be a potential health risk. The single parameters used for calculating HQ values from national and international agencies (INAIL, 2015; EFSA, 2006, 2015) are reported in Table 2.

Statistical analysis

One-way ANOVA was performed by using SPSS (version 21). Mean separation was carried out by using the LSD test.

Results and discussion

As shown in Table 3, there were no phytotoxic effects depending on soil PTE contents, since plant growth was not significantly affected by the extent of soil contamination (Table 4). From Table 5, it may be noted that 14% and 25% of samples exceeded the European thresholds (EC Reg. 1881/06) for Pb and Cd, respectively. With regard to As, only in two plots were soil concentrations (Table 4) close to Italian screening values for potential contamination in residential/urban soils (20 mg kg⁻¹), but the bioavailability

Table 2. Parameters used for calculating the hazard quotient.

Intake rate (grams day-1)		
	Adult	Child
Radish	32.1	16.7
Spinach	135.0	77.8
Lettuce*	100.8	43.3
Rocket	18.5	3.4
Chicory	150.0	75.9
BW (kg)	60	26
EF (day year ⁻¹)	350	350
ED (year)	70	10
ATADD (days)	25550	3650
Reference dose (mg kg ⁻¹ day ⁻¹)		
As	0	.0003
Cd	0	.0005
Cr		1.5
Pb	0	.0035
Cu		0.04
Zn		0.3

*Lettuce and baby leaf lettuce.



of all samples was almost zero. Therefore As content in all foodstuffs (Table 5) was always very low (maximum value = 0.05 mg kg⁻¹ f.w. in the 4th harvest of rocket), as also shown by Corradini *et al.* (2017) in their survey. As a consequence, HQ for adults (Table 6) and children (Table 7) were low, with a maximum value of 0.2 in chicory. It should be pointed out that As concentrations in vegetables that could represent health risks (*i.e.* HQ=1) are very low both for adults (0.14 for spinach) and children (0.10 for spinach), due to the high toxicity of this element (Table 7).

Copper content in soils was low (Table 4) and normal for this kind of volcanic soil (De Vivo *et al.*, 2012). Levels of bioavailable Cu (Table 5), as assessed by NH₄NO₃, were below the trigger value of 1 mg kg⁻¹ defined by German DIN (1997) on agricultural areas, in agreement with the moderate accumulation in vegetables (max-

imum value was 1.2 mg kg⁻¹ f.w. in the 1st harvest of rocket), thus confirming the tolerance to Cu of rocket salad (Zhi *et al.*, 2015) and its low storage capacity as demonstrated by Ali *et al.* (2012). No significant relation was found between soil content and vegetable accumulation (Table 8). HQ values were very low both for adults (0.06 for chicory and spinach, Table 6) and children (0.08 for spinach), thanks to the low toxicity of this element (HQ=1 for children can be reached with 14 mg kg⁻¹ of Cu in spinach and chicory, Table 7). The levels of Cr in the soil were very high (up to 2399 mg kg⁻¹) due to tannery sludge disposal. For this reason the site was classified as potentially contaminated (Table 4). However, the bioavailable values were low (up to 0.54 mg kg⁻¹), as well as accumulation in vegetables (maximum value was 0.79 mg kg⁻¹ f.w. in lettuce and rocket, Table 5). Similar values were also found by

Table 3. Vegetable yields (g pot⁻¹ f.w.).

Hot spots	Chicory	Lettuce	B.L. Lettuce	Radish	Rocket 1st	Rocket 4 th	Spinach
A7	37.32 ^b	95.07ª	32.99	16.67°	16.25 ^b	20.05	20.79°
C13	47.72 ^{ab}	51.07 ^b	24.01	60.21ª	26.28ª	34.89	33.28ª
F2	53.50ª	93.88ª	39.17	32.77 ^b	15.39 ^b	40.99	28.59^{ab}
F4	42.07 ^{ab}	112.96ª	31.46	39.35 ^b	19.02 ^b	32.08	25.60 ^{bc}

Table 4. Soil physical and chemical properties (0-30 cm).

Hot spots	NO ₃ -N	NH ₄ -N	С	N	C/N	Clay	Loam	Sand	USDA Class.
	ppm	ppm	%	%		%	%	%	
A7	13	2	1.77	0.17	10.5	16.0	29.5	54.5	Sandy loam
C13	42	4	2.84	0.45	6.4	14.5	25.5	60.0	Sandy loam
F2	19	4	2.04	0.25	8.3	16.0	25.5	58.5	Sandy loam
F4	19	4	1.66	0.21	7.9	15.0	25.5	59.5	Sandy loam

Table 5. PTE concentrations in soils (mg kg⁻¹ dw) and in vegetable edible parts (mg kg⁻¹ f.w.).

PTEs	Hot spots	Soil T	Soil B	Chicory	Lettuce	B.L. Lettuce	Radish	Rocket 1 st	Rocket 4 th	Spinach
Arsenic	A7 C13 F2 F4	13 20 16 20	0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01	$\begin{array}{c} 0.01^{\rm Acd} \\ 0.03^{\rm Aa} \\ 0.03^{\rm Aab} \\ 0.02^{\rm Abd} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.01^{\rm Ad} \\ 0.01^{\rm Aa} \\ 0.01^{\rm Abc} \\ 0.01^{\rm Abc} \end{array}$	$0.04^{ m Aab} \ 0.02^{ m Aa} \ 0.02^{ m Abc} \ 0.03^{ m Ab}$	0.02 ^{ABbc} 0.01 ^{Ba} 0.03 ^{Aab} 0.03 ^{ABbc}	$\begin{array}{c} 0.02^{\rm bd} \\ 0.02^{\rm a} \\ 0.02^{\rm bc} \\ 0.01^{\rm d} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.04^{\rm ABa} \\ 0.02^{\rm Aa} \\ 0.04^{\rm ABa} \\ 0.05^{\rm Ba} \end{array}$	$0.00^{ m Ad} \ 0.02^{ m Aa} \ 0.01^{ m Ac} \ 0.02^{ m Abd}$
Copper	A7 C13 F2 F4	29 88 49 64	0.11 0.45 0.17 0.19	1.05 ^{Aa} 0.87 ^{Ab} 1.02 ^{Aa} 0.90 ^{Ab}	$0.45^{ m Ab} \ 0.40^{ m Acd} \ 0.49^{ m Ab} \ 0.54^{ m Ac}$	0.48 ^{Ab} 0.52 ^{Ac} 0.48 ^{Ab} 0.56 ^{Ac}	0.38 ^{Ab} 0.22 ^{Ad} 0.31 ^{Ab} 0.30 ^{Ad}	0.58 ^{Cb} 1.18 ^{Aa} 0.96 ^{ABa} 0.90 ^{Bb}	0.60 ^{Bb} 0.83 ^{Ab} 0.91 ^{Aa} 0.80 ^{ABb}	0.89 ^{Ba} 1.02 ^{ABab} 0.80 ^{Ba} 1.13 ^{Aa}
Chromium	A7 C13 F2 F4	112 650 2399 716	0.30 0.54 0.23 0.50	0.26 ^{Aab} 0.34 ^{Abc} 0.40 ^{Abd} 0.36 ^{Aab}	$0.22^{ m Ab} \ 0.39^{ m Ab} \ 0.27^{ m Ad} \ 0.22^{ m Ab}$	$0.46^{ m Ba}$ $0.79^{ m Aa}$ $0.53^{ m Bbc}$ $0.47^{ m Ba}$	0.17 ^{Bb} 0.18 ^{Bc} 0.41 ^{Abd} 0.18 ^{Bb}	$0.29^{ m ab}\ 0.39^{ m b}\ 0.58^{ m d}\ 0.37^{ m ab}$	0.36 ^{Bab} 0.53 ^{ABb} 0.79 ^{Aa} 0.53 ^{ABa}	$0.26^{ m Aab} \ 0.46^{ m Ab} \ 0.33^{ m Acd} \ 0.37^{ m Aab}$
Zinc	A7 C13 F2 F4	122 684 846 342	0.14 0.82 1.78 0.49	5.34 ^{Cbc} 13.61 ^{Bb} 21.14 ^{Aab} 9.14 ^{BCbc}	$3.55^{ m Bc}$ $6.30^{ m Bc}$ $11.67^{ m Ac}$ $7.51^{ m ABc}$	5.53 ^{Abc} 7.28 ^{Ac} 7.78 ^{Acd} 6.69 ^{Acd}	1.43 ^{Ac} 2.71 ^{Ac} 3.63 ^{Ad} 2.11 ^{Ad}	6.03 ^{Bbc} 16.04 ^{Aab} 17.37 ^{Ab} 10.37 ^{Bbc}	9.07 ^{Bb} 20.51 ^{Aa} 24.13 ^{Aa} 13.11 ^{Bb}	18.42 ^{Ba} 20.63 ^{ABa} 25.06 ^{Aa} 21.94 ^{ABa}
Cadmium	A7 C13 F2 F4	0 1 1 13	0.05 0.07 0.01 0.18	0.04 ^{Ba} 0.07 ^{Ba} 0.12 ^{Ba} <i>3.98</i> ^{Aa}	0.03 ^{Ba} 0.02 ^{Ba} 0.10 ^{Ba} 2.23 ^{Ab}	0.03 ^{Ba} 0.02 ^{Ba} 0.02 ^{Ba} 1.76 ⁴ c	0.01 ^{Aa} 0.00 ^{Aa} 0.01 ^{Aa} <i>0.14</i> ^{Ad}	0.01ª 0.01ª 0.01ª 0.47 ^d	0.05^{Ba} 0.03^{Ba} 0.04^{Ba} 1.36^{Ac}	0.03 ^{Ba} 0.01 ^{Ba} 0.03 ^{Ba} 2.61 ^{Ab}
Lead	A7 C13 F2 F4	45 147 63 70	0.06 0.02 0.01 0.01	0.04 ^{Ab} 0.07 ^{Ac} 0.04 ^{Ac} 0.06 ^{Ab}	0.03 ^{Ab} 0.06 ^{Ac} 0.04 ^{Ac} 0.03 ^{Ab}	0.08 ^{Ab} 0.12 ^{Abc} 0.08 ^{Abc} 0.09 ^{Ab}	0.08 ^{cb} 0.17 ^{Bb} 0.43 ^{Aa} 0.05 ^{cb}	0.06 ^b 0.09 ^{bc} 0.09 ^{bc} 0.06 ^b	0.34 ^{Aa} 0.27 ^{Aa} 0.14 ^{Ab} 0.40 ^{Aa}	0.05 ^{Ab} 0.10 ^{Abc} 0.05 ^{Ac} 0.08 ^{Ab}

Concentrations exceeding the thresholds of EC Reg. 1881/06 are marked in italics; interactions of the same plant on different soils are expressed in capital letters, while interactions of different plants on the same soils are expressed in lower case.



PTEs	Hot spots	Chicory S.E	Lettuce	S.E	B.L. Lettuce	S.E	Radish	S.E	Rocket 1 st	S.E	Rocket 4 th	S.E	Spinach	S.E.
As	A7 C13 F2 F4	$\begin{array}{cccc} 0.11 & 0.03 \\ 0.23 & 0.07 \\ 0.22 & 0.07 \\ 0.19 & 0.05 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.03 \\ 0.08 \\ 0.07 \\ 0.05 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 0.02 \\ 0.03 \\ 0.03 \end{array}$	0.20 0.13 0.11 0.18	$\begin{array}{c} 0.05 \\ 0.02 \\ 0.05 \\ 0.03 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.04 \\ 0.02 \\ 0.05 \\ 0.05 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 0.01 \\ 0.01 \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.02 \\ 0.02 \\ 0.02 \\ 0.01 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 0.01 \\ 0.01 \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$0.04 \\ 0.02 \\ 0.04 \\ 0.05$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.01 \\ 0.01 \\ 0.01 \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.04 \\ 0.12 \\ 0.06 \\ 0.17 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 0.04 \\ 0.02 \\ 0.08 \end{array}$
Cu	A7 C13 F2 F4	$\begin{array}{cccc} 0.06 & 0.00 \\ 0.05 & 0.00 \\ 0.06 & 0.00 \\ 0.05 & 0.01 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.02 \\ 0.02 \\ 0.02 \\ 0.02 \\ 0.02 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.02 \\ 0.02 \\ 0.02 \\ 0.02 \\ 0.02 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.01 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	0.00 0.01 0.01 0.01	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 0.01 \\ 0.01 \\ 0.01 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.05 \\ 0.05 \\ 0.05 \\ 0.06 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \end{array}$
Cr	A7 C13 F2 F4	$\begin{array}{cccc} 0.00 & 0.00 \\ 0.00 & 0.00 \\ 0.00 & 0.00 \\ 0.00 & 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \end{array}$
Zn	A7 C13 F2 F4	$\begin{array}{ccc} 0.04 & 0.00 \\ 0.11 & 0.01 \\ 0.17 & 0.01 \\ 0.07 & 0.01 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.02 \\ 0.03 \\ 0.06 \\ 0.04 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.01 \\ 0.01 \end{array}$	$0.03 \\ 0.04 \\ 0.04 \\ 0.04$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.01 \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.01 \\ 0.02 \\ 0.02 \\ 0.01 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.01 \\ 0.02 \\ 0.02 \\ 0.01 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.13 \\ 0.15 \\ 0.20 \\ 0.16 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 0.01 \\ 0.01 \\ 0.01 \\ 0.01 \end{array}$
Cd	A7 C13 F2 F4	$\begin{array}{cccc} 0.21 & 0.04 \\ 0.36 & 0.03 \\ 0.58 & 0.06 \\ 19.07 & 2.24 \end{array}$	0.08 0.06 0.32 <i>7.06</i>	$\begin{array}{c} 0.02 \\ 0.01 \\ 0.02 \\ 0.99 \end{array}$	0.10 0.06 0.08 5.67	$\begin{array}{c} 0.02 \\ 0.01 \\ 0.01 \\ 0.46 \end{array}$	0.01 0.00 0.01 0.14	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	0.01 0.01 0.01 0.28	0.00 0.00 0.00 0.01	$\begin{array}{c} 0.03 \\ 0.02 \\ 0.03 \\ 0.83 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.15 \end{array}$	0.14 0.06 0.12 11.27	$\begin{array}{c} 0.01 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.01 \\ 0.39 \end{array}$
Pb	A7 C13 F2 F4	$\begin{array}{cccc} 0.03 & 0.00 \\ 0.04 & 0.01 \\ 0.03 & 0.00 \\ 0.04 & 0.01 \end{array}$	$0.02 \\ 0.03 \\ 0.02 \\ 0.01$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00\\ 0.00\\ 0.00\\ 0.00\\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$0.04 \\ 0.06 \\ 0.04 \\ 0.04$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.01 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$0.01 \\ 0.02 \\ 0.06 \\ 0.01$	$0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.01 \\ 0.00$	0.00 0.01 0.01 0.01	$0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00$	$0.03 \\ 0.02 \\ 0.01 \\ 0.03$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00\\ 0.00\\ 0.00\\ 0.01 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.03 \\ 0.06 \\ 0.03 \\ 0.05 \end{array}$	$0.00 \\ 0.01 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.01$

Values exceeding unity are marked in italics.

Table 7. Estimation of the hazard quotient for children (from 3 to 10 years).

PTEs	Hot spots	Chicory S.E	Lettuce	S.E	B.L. Lettuce	S.E	Radish	S.E	Rocket 1st	S.E	Rocket 4 th	S.E	Spinach	S.E.
As	A7 C13 F2 F4	$\begin{array}{cccc} 0.13 & 0.04 \\ 0.26 & 0.08 \\ 0.25 & 0.08 \\ 0.22 & 0.06 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.03 \\ 0.08 \\ 0.07 \\ 0.05 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 0.02 \\ 0.03 \\ 0.03 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{cccc} 0.20 & 0 \\ 0.13 & 0 \\ 0.10 & 0 \\ 0.18 & 0 \end{array}$	0.05 0.02 0.05 0.03	$0.05 \\ 0.02 \\ 0.06 \\ 0.05$	$0.00 \\ 0.01 \\ 0.01 \\ 0.01 \\ 0.01$	0.01 0.01 0.01 0.00	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$0.02 \\ 0.01 \\ 0.02 \\ 0.02$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.01 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.01 \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$0.05 \\ 0.16 \\ 0.08 \\ 0.22$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 0.05 \\ 0.02 \\ 0.11 \end{array}$
Cu	A7 C13 F2 F4	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02	0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00	0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02	0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00	0.01 0.00 0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00\\ 0.00\\ 0.00\\ 0.00\\ 0.00 \end{array}$	0.06 0.07 0.06 0.08	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \end{array}$
Cr	A7 C13 F2 F4	$\begin{array}{cccc} 0.00 & 0.00 \\ 0.00 & 0.00 \\ 0.00 & 0.00 \\ 0.00 & 0.00 \\ 0.00 & 0.00 \end{array}$	$0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{cccc} 0.00 & 0 \\ 0.00 & 0 \\ 0.00 & 0 \\ 0.00 & 0 \\ 0.00 & 0 \\ \end{array}$	0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00	$0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \end{array}$
Zn	A7 C13 F2 F4	$\begin{array}{cccc} 0.05 & 0.00 \\ 0.13 & 0.01 \\ 0.20 & 0.01 \\ 0.09 & 0.01 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.02 \\ 0.03 \\ 0.06 \\ 0.04 \end{array}$	0.00 0.00 0.01 0.01	0.03 0 0.04 0 0.04 0 0.04 0	0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00	$0.00 \\ 0.01 \\ 0.01 \\ 0.00$	0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00	0.00 0.01 0.01 0.00	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	0.00 0.01 0.01 0.01	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	0.18 0.20 0.26 0.21	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 0.01 \\ 0.01 \\ 0.01 \\ 0.01 \end{array}$
Cd	A7 C13 F2 F4	$\begin{array}{cccc} 0.25 & 0.05 \\ 0.42 & 0.03 \\ 0.68 & 0.07 \\ 22.27 & 2.62 \end{array}$	0.08 0.06 0.32 <i>7.00</i>	0.02 0.01 0.02 0.98	$\begin{array}{cccc} 0.10 & 0 \\ 0.06 & 0 \\ 0.08 & 0 \\ 5.62 & 0 \end{array}$).02).01).01).45	0.01 0.00 0.01 0.17	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	0.00 0.00 0.00 0.12	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	0.01 0.01 0.01 0.35	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.06 \end{array}$	0.19 0.08 0.15 <i>14.99</i>	$\begin{array}{c} 0.01 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.01 \\ 0.52 \end{array}$
Pb	A7 C13 F2 F4	$\begin{array}{cccc} 0.03 & 0.00 \\ 0.05 & 0.01 \\ 0.04 & 0.00 \\ 0.05 & 0.01 \end{array}$	$0.01 \\ 0.03 \\ 0.02 \\ 0.01$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00\\ 0.00\\ 0.00\\ 0.00\end{array}$	0.04 0 0.05 0 0.04 0 0.04 0).01).00).00).00	$0.01 \\ 0.03 \\ 0.08 \\ 0.01$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.01 \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00\\ 0.00\\ 0.00\\ 0.00\\ 0.00 \end{array}$	0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00\\ 0.00\\ 0.00\\ 0.00\\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$0.04 \\ 0.08 \\ 0.05 \\ 0.07$	$0.00 \\ 0.01 \\ 0.01 \\ 0.01$

Values exceeding unity are marked in italics.

Table 8. Correlation between PTE contents in soils and plants.

PTEs	Soil	Tot <i>vs</i> Bioav.	Chicory	Lettuce	B.L. Lettuce	Radish	Rocket 1st	Rocket 4 th	Spinach
As	Tot Bioav.	-	0.7371	0.6872	-0.2728	-0.4712	-0.2276	-0.2346	0.9263
Cu	Tot Bioav.	0.9143	$-0.9369 \\ -0.7769$	$-0.2967 \\ -0.6576$	$0.5711 \\ 0.2563$	<i>0.9819</i> 0.9385	$0.9289 \\ 0.8545$	0.5678 0.3809	$0.5750 \\ 0.3444$
Cr	Tot Bioav.	-0.5040	$0.8385 \\ 0.0337$	0.0517 0.5036	$-0.0045 \\ 0.5229$	<i>0.9705</i> —0.6937	<i>0.9911</i> 0.4106	<i>0.9828</i> 0.3359	$0.0246 \\ 0.8056$
Zn	Tot Bioav.	0.9263	0.9644 0.9929	$0.8178 \\ 0.9345$	$0.9726 \\ 0.8996$	0.9774 0.9819	<i>0.9931</i> 0.8806	<i>0.9993</i> 0.9320	0.7951 0.9145
Cd	Tot Bioav.	0.9438	<i>0.9999</i> 0.9413	<i>0.9995</i> 0.9344	<i>0.9996</i> 0.9449	<i>0.9991</i> 0.9393	<i>0.9996</i> 0.9440	<i>0.9995</i> 0.9430	<i>0.9996</i> 0.9445
Pb	Tot Bioav.	-0.3237	0.7993 0.4647	<i>0.9504</i> 0.1180	$0.9795 \\ -0.1782$	$-0.0171 \\ -0.4351$	$0.6467 \\ -0.5472$	-0.0944 0.3103	0.8709 0.4101

Values significant per P≤0.05 are reported in italics.

Cao et al. (2010) (lettuce with 0.35 mg kg⁻¹ f.w.) and by Guerra et al. (2012) (rocket salad 0.25 mg kg⁻¹ f.w.) in other contaminated soils. Chromium concentrations in vegetables were significantly correlated with soil values only for radish and rocket (Table 8). HQ values were close to zero in all vegetables thanks to the very low toxicity of chromium. Indeed, HQ may be equal to 1 with unrealistic concentrations in vegetables: for children from 500 mg kg-1 f.w. with spinach to 12,000 mg kg-1 with rocket. Zn values were also very high in the soil at the site (846 mg kg⁻¹, Table 4) but the NH4NO3 bioavailable amounts were low and below the German DIN trigger value of 2 mg kg⁻¹ (Table 5). In this case vegetables accumulated high Zn concentrations with values often higher than 10 mg kg⁻¹ f.w., up to 25 mg kg⁻¹ in spinach (Table 5). Similar values were also found by Ferri et al. (2015) (up to 18 mg kg⁻¹ f.w.), thus confirming results obtained by Rocco et al. (2018) in other potentially contaminated sites of the same area. Zinc concentrations in plants were positively correlated with total Zn content in soils, for all vegetables, resulting not significant only for spinach (Table 8). In spite of these high concentrations, HQ values were always low, with a maximum value of 0.26 with spinach for children (Tables 6 and 7), thanks to the low toxicity of this element. Also in this case, HQ may be equal to 1 with unrealistic concentrations in vegetables: for children from 105 mg kg⁻¹ f.w. with spinach to 2381 mg kg⁻¹ with rocket. It must be pointed out that Zn is a beneficial microelement for human health, such that Zn deficiency is known to clinically affect several organ systems such as the epidermal, gastrointestinal, central nervous, immune, skeletal and reproductive systems (Hambidge, 2000). Therefore extensive

pagepress

research has been carried out to produce Zn-fortified foods by cultivating crops in Zn-rich soils (Brown et al., 2010). As regards Cd, a hot spot was selected with very high concentration (13 mg kg⁻¹, Table 5), in which the bioavailable values (Table 5) were higher than the German DIN trigger value of 0.1 mg kg⁻¹. In this plot, the accumulation in vegetables was very high and exceeded the thresholds of EC Reg. 1881/06 (Root and tuber vegetables, stem vegetables = 0.1 mg kg^{-1} f.w.; leaf vegetables, fresh herbs, leafy brassica = 0.2 mg kg⁻¹ f.w.), with the maximum value of 3.9 mg kg⁻¹ f.w. in chicory, higher than values reported by Bandiera et al. (2016) (2.5 mg kg⁻¹ f.w.) in other contaminated sites. Cadmium concentrations in vegetables and soil were highly correlated for all crops (Table 8). HQ values showed a potential risk for adult and children only for four crops, with values of 5.67-5.62 for baby leaf lettuce, 7.06-7.00 in lettuce; 11.27-14.99 for spinach and 19.07-22.27 for chicory, while radish and rocket salad did not represent a risk for human health, as they have a low intake rate in standard diets. Considering the high toxicity of this element, the potentially dangerous concentrations are very low (HQ=1, Table 9) and values measured in chicory, spinach, baby leaf lettuce and lettuce cultivated in this case study exceeded 19, 11, 7, and 5 times, respectively, these values for adults, and 22, 15, 7, and 5 times, respectively, for children.

Lead is ubiquitous throughout the Campania plain both due to geogenic and anthropogenic contamination (De Vivo *et al.*, 2012). In this study area a selected hot spot (147 mg kg⁻¹, Table 5) showed bioavailable values below the German DIN trigger value of 0.1 mg kg⁻¹ (Table 5). Nevertheless, Pb content in rocket salad and radish exceeded the thresholds of EC Reg. 1881/06 (vegetables excluding

Table 9. Potential health risk concentrations (HQ=1) mg kg⁻¹ f.w.

			Adult (to 70 years)		
PTEs	Chicory	Salad*	Radishes	Rocket	Spinach
As	0.13	0.19	0.58	1.01	0.14
Cu	16.69	24.82	77.87	135.29	18.54
Cr	625.71	930.81	2920.00	5073.36	695.24
Zn	125.14	186.16	584.00	1014.67	139.05
Cd	0.21	0.31	0.97	1.69	0.23
Pb	1.46	2.17	6.81	11.84	1.62
	$\langle U \rangle$		Children (3-10 years)		
EPTs	Chicory	Salad*	Radishes	Rocket	Spinach
As	0.11	0.19	0.49	2.38	0.10
Cu	14.28	25.03	65.07	317.44	13.93
Cr	535.59	938.57	2440.29	11903.83	522.55
Zn	107.12	187.71	488.06	2380.77	104.51
Cd	0.18	0.31	0.81	3.97	0.17
Pb	1.25	2.19	5.69	27.78	1.22

*Lettuce and baby leaf lettuce.

Table 10. Hazard Index value for adults (A; to 70 years) and children (C; from 3 to 10 years).

Hot spots	Chi	cory	Lett	uce	B.L.	Lettuce	Radi	shes	Rock	tet 1 st	Rock	tet 4 th	Spir	ıach
	A	C	Α	С	A	С	А	С	Α	С	Α	С	A	С
A7	0.46	0.53	0.16	0.16	0.39	0.39	0.07	0.09	0.04	0.02	0.11	0.05	0.39	0.52
C13	0.79	0.92	0.22	0.21	0.31	0.31	0.05	0.06	0.06	0.03	0.09	0.04	0.44	0.59
F2	1.06	1.24	0.49	0.49	0.28	0.28	0.13	0.16	0.06	0.02	0.11	0.05	0.45	0.61
F4	19.42	22.69	7.19	7.13	5.95	5.90	0.21	0.25	0.31	0.13	0.93	0.40	11.71	15.57

Values exceeding hazard thresholds are marked in italics



leafy brassica = 0.10 mg kg⁻¹ f.w.; leafy brassica, excluding fresh herbs = 0.30 mg kg⁻¹ f.w.) not only in the hot spot but also in the other plots with lower soil Pb concentrations. Indeed, only for lettuce and baby leaf lettuce was there a significant correlation between concentrations in vegetables and soils (Table 8). However, HQ values were low for all crops, with maximum values of 0.063 in radish for adults and 0.078 in spinach for children (Tables 6 and 7), well below unity. Pb concentrations in vegetables representing a potential risk for human health (*e.g.* 2.15 mg kg⁻¹ in lettuce) were considered attainable in contaminated agricultural areas (Kabata-Pendias, 2011), but the values measured in this study area were much lower, thus excluding any risk for consumer health and confirming the findings of Agrelli *et al.* (2017) in a broad-based survey made on vegetables produced in the same area.

A key aspect was the cumulative effect of single non-carcinogenic effects of PTEs: even though an element does not give an HQ>1 it could contribute to an overall potential disease if added to the effect of other PTEs.

As shown in Table 10, many vegetables grown in the high Cd plot (F4) showed an HI>1, but also chicory grown on F2 showed an overall HI>1. In both cases the highest contribution to the overall hazard index was due to Cd followed by As. In all other cases, the cumulative risk was well below unity.

Conclusions

Environmental characterization of an agricultural area affected by illegal disposal of tannery sludge highlighted very high concentrations of Cr and Zn in the soil. However, both our analysis of the direct risk for workers and people who could frequent this site and of the indirect risk for consumers of vegetables cultivated in this soil excluded any risk for these two elements thanks to their low to moderate toxicity.

Instead, our analysis made by using highly precautionary parameters showed that the potential risks for consumers were due to Cd, even in plots in which its soil total content was low. The legal methodology for carrying out environmental characterization, based on a few samples per hectare and the comparison between the total content of PTEs in soils and the screening values reported in specific tables, does not allow the suitability of a potentially contaminated site to be evaluated for agricultural purposes. This estimation could be improved by comparing the readily bioavailable PTE contents with trigger values reported in German guidelines, as proposed by Rocco *et al.* (2018), and then by biological assays with specific metal-accumulating crops with which a realistic risk assessment of food chain contamination can be achieved, even in soils showing low total contents of PTEs.

In conclusion, the proposed methodology aims to fill a gap in the Italian environmental legislation that fails to give due consideration to the agricultural use of soils and the consequent risk for consumers due to contaminant intake from food crops.

References

- Adamo P, Iavazzo P, Albanese S, Agrelli D, De Vivo B, Lima A, 2014. Bioavailability and soil-to-plant transfer factors as indicators of potentially toxic element contamination in agricultural soils. Sci. Total Environ. 500-501:11-22.
- Adamo P, Agrelli D, Caporale AG, Rocco C, 2017. Chemical mon-

itoring of the bioavailability of potentially toxic metals. In: Fagnano M (ed.), Operative Handbook for eco-compatible remediation of degraded soils. Available from: http://www.ecoremed.it/images/stories/FinalReport/LIFE%20 ECOREMED%20Handbook.pdf_

- Agrawal SB, Singh A, Sharma RK, Agrawal M, 2007. Bioaccumulation of Heavy Metals in Vegetables: A Threat to Human Health. TAET Global Sci. Books 1:13-23.
- Agrelli D, Adamo P, Cirillo T, Duri LG, Duro I, Fasano E, Ottaiano L, Ruggiero L, Scognamiglio G, Fagnano M. 2017. Soil versus plant as indicators of agroecosystem pollution by potentially toxic elements. J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sc. 180:705-19.
- Aksoy A, 2008. Chicory (Cichorium intybus L,): a possible biomonitor of metal pollution. Pak. J. Bot. 40:791-7.
- Ali MHH, Al-Qahtani KM, 2012. Assessment of some heavy metals in vegetables, cereals and fruits in Saudi Arabian markets. Egypt. J. Aquat. Res. 38:31-7.
- Antoniadis V, Shaheen SM, Boersch J, Frohne T, Du Laing G, Rinklebe J, 2017. Bioavailability and risk assessment of potentially toxic elements in garden edible vegetables and soils around a highly contaminated former mining area in Germany. J. Environ. Manage. 186:192-200.
- Bandiera M, Dal Cortivo C, Barion G, Mosca G, Vamerali T, 2016. Phytoremediation opportunities with alimurgic species in metal-contaminated environments. Sustainability 8:357.
- Beccaloni E, Vanni F, Beccaloni M, Carere M, 2013. Concentrations of arsenic, cadmium, lead and zinc in homegrown vegetables and fruits: Estimated intake by population in an industrialized area of Sardinia, Italy. Microchem. J. 107:190-5.
- Brown KH, Hambidge KM, Ranum, P, and Zinc Fortification working group, 2010. Zinc fortification of cereal flours: Current recommendations and research needs. Food Nutr. Bull. 31:62-74.
- Cao H, Chen J, Zhang J, Zhang H, Qiao L, Men Y, 2010. Heavy metals in rice and garden vegetables and their potential health risks to inhabitants in the vicinity of an industrial zone in Jiangsu, China. J. Environ. Sci. 22:1792-9.
- Carlon C, 2007. Derivation methods of soil screening values in Europe. EC-JRC, Ispra EUR 22805-EN, 306 pp
- Chen L, Zhou S, Shi Y, Wang C, Li B, Li Y, Wu S, 2018. Heavy metals in food crops, soil, and water in the Lihe River Watershed of the Taihu Region and their potential health risks when ingested. Sci. Total Environ. 615:141-9.
- Corradini F, Correa A, Moyano MS, Sepúlveda Carlos Quiroz P, 2017. Nitrate, arsenic, cadmium, and lead concentrations in leafy vegetables: expected average values for productive regions of Chile. Arch. Agron. Soil Sci. 64:299-317.
- De Vivo B, Lima A, Albanese S, 2012. Atlante geochimicoambientale del S.I.N. (Sito di interesse nazionale) litorale Domizio-Flegreo e Agro Aversano.
- DIN ISO 19730, 1997. Bodenbeschaffenheit Extraktion von Spurenelementen mit Ammoniumnitratlösung. Beuth Verlag Berlin.
- ECOREMED, 2017. Available from: http://www.ecoremed.it
- EFSA 2006. Tolerable Upper Intake Levels For Vitamins And Minerals. Available from: http://www.efsa.europa.eu/sites/ default/files/efsa rep/blobserver assets/ndatolerableuil.pdf
- EFSA 2015. Available from: http://www.efsa.europa.eu/it/foodconsumption/comprehensive-database
- Ferri R, Hashim D, Smith DR, Guazzetti S, Donna F, Ferretti E, Curatolo M, Moneta C, Beone GM, Lucchini RG, 2015. Metal contamination of home garden soils and cultivated vegetables



in the province of Brescia, Italy: Implications for human exposure. Sci. Total Environ. 507-517:518-9.

- França FCSS, Albuuerque AMA, Almeida AC, Silveira PB, Filho CA, Hazin CA, Honorato EV, 2017. Heavy metals deposited in the culture of lettuce (Lactuca sativa L,) by the influence of vehicular traffic in Pernambuco Brazil. Food Chem. 215:171-6.
- Guerra F, Trevizam AR, Muraoka T, Marcante NC, Guidolin Canniatti-Brazaca S, 2012. Heavy metals in vegetables and potential risk for human health. Sci. Agric. 69:54-60.

Hambidge KM, 2000. Human zinc deficiency. J. Nutr. 130:1344-9.

- Huang M, Shenglu Zhou S, Sun B, Zhao Q, 2008. Heavy metals in wheat grain: Assessment of potential health risk for inhabitants in Kunshan, China. Sci. Total Environ. 405:54-61.
- ISS, 2013. Criteri per la valutazione del rischio sanitario connesso alla presenza di aree agricole all'interno di siti contaminati. Available from: http://old.iss.it/binary/iasa/cont/Criteri_per_la_valutazione_de l_rischio_sanitario_connesso_alla_presenza_di_aree_agricole all interno di siti contaminati.pdf
- Istituto Superiore di Sanità INAIL, 2015. Available from: http://old.iss.it/binary/iasa/cont/Banca_dati_ISS_INAIL_Marz o 2015 FINAL PR.xlsx"
- Kabata-Pendias A, 2011. Trace Elements in Soils and Plants, 4rd edition. CRC Press: Taylor & Francis Group.
- Liu WX, Li HH, Li SR, Wang YW, 2006. Heavy Metal Accumulation of Edible Vegetables Cultivated in Agricultural Soil in the Suburb of Zhengzhou City, People's Republic of China. B. Environ. Contam. Tox. 76:163-70.
- Mourato MP, Moreira IN, Leitão I, Pinto FR, Sales JR, Louro L, 2015. Martins Effect of Heavy Metals in Plants of the Genus Brassica. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 16:17975-998.
- Nikaido M, Tonani KAA, Julião FC, Trevilato TMB, Takayanagui AMM, Sanches SM, Domingo JL, Segura-Muñoz SI, 2010.

Analysis of Bacteria, Parasites, and Heavy Metals in Lettuce (Lactuca sativa) and Rocket Salad (Eruca sativa L,) Irrigated with Treated Effluent from a Biological Wastewater Treatment Plant. Biol. Trace Elem. Res. 134:342-51.

- Osaili TM, Al Jamali AF, Makhadmeh IM, Taha M, Jarrar SK, 2016. Heavy metals in vegetables sold in the local market in Jordan. Food Addit. Contam. B 9:223-9.
- Rocco C, Agrelli D, Tafuro M, Caporale AG, Adamo P, 2018. Assessing the bioavailability of potentially toxic elements in soil: a proposed approach. Ital. J. Agron. 13(s1):16-22.
- Salvo A, La Torre GL, Mangano V, Casale KE, Bartolomeo G, Santini A, Granata T, Dugo G, 2018. Toxic inorganic pollutants in foods from agricultural producing areas of Southern Italy: Level and risk assessment. Ecotox. Environ. Safe. 148:114-24.
- USEPA, 1986. Guidelines for the health risk assessment of chemical mixtures, Federal Register 51(185):34014-25. Available from: https://www.epa.gov/risk/guidelines-health-risk-assessment-chemical-mixtures
- US EPA, 1989. Risk assessment guidance for superfund, Human Health Evaluation Manual (Part A), United States Environmental Protection Agency Interim Final. vol. I. Washington, DC, USA, EPA/540/1-89/002. Available from: https://www.epa.gov/risk/risk-assessment-guidance-superfund-rags-part
- US EPA, 2000. Handbook for non-cancer health effects evaluation. US Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, DC, USA.
- Zheng N, Wang Q, Zheng D, 2007. Health risk of Hg, Pb, Cd, Zn, and Cu to the inhabitants around Huludao Zinc Plant in China via consumption of vegetables. Sci. Total Environ. 383:81-9.
- Zhi Y, Deng Z, Luo M, Ding W, Hu Y, Deng J, Li Y, Zhao Y, Zhang X, Wu W, Huang B, 2015. Influence of Heavy Metals on Seed Germination and Early Seedling Growth in Eruca sativa Mill. Am. J. Plant Sci. 6:582-90.



Responses of bacterial community structure and diversity to soil eco-friendly bioremediation treatments of two multi-contaminated fields

Valeria Ventorino,^{1,2} Vincenza Faraco,^{2,3} Ida Romano,¹ Olimpia Pepe^{1,2}

¹Department of Agricultural Sciences, Division of Microbiology, University of Naples Federico II, Portici (NA); ²Task Force on Microbiome Studies, University of Naples Federico II, Naples; ³Department of Chemical Sciences, University of Naples Federico II, Naples, Italy

Abstract

Biodiversity of soil microbial populations could be altered and affected by anthropogenic pressures due to the release of organic and inorganic xenobiotic compounds and/or the application of remediation practices. Therefore, the assessment of the response of microbiota to environmental pollution and to bioremediation techniques is a critical issue in soil ecology. In this study a cultureindependent approach was used to investigate the indigenous bacterial community structure in two contaminated soils of a National Interest Priority Site in Campania (southern Italy) and to monitor the impact of different remediation technologies. Our results show that bacterial populations shifted in the polluted soils over time after the application of compost and microbial inoculum. Statistical analyses based on the similarity of DGGE profiles show that the bacterial community structure and diversity was not affected by contamination. Hence the main change in similarity levels was induced by sampling time and by the interaction between soil eco-friendly bioremediation treatments.

Introduction

The harmful effects of environmental pollution do not impact only on human health, but also on ecosystems, landscape and soil biodiversity. Several studies have shown that in a polluted environment the number of animal, plant and microbial species could be greatly reduced (Øvreås *et al.*, 1998; Singh, 2003). Therefore, a contaminated site loses both ecological and economic value, and could become more vulnerable to other anthropogenic and natural pres-

Correspondence: Olimpia Pepe, Department of Agricultural Sciences, Division of Microbiology, Task Force on Microbiome Studies, University of Naples Federico II, Via Università 100, Portici, 80055 (NA), Italy. Tel.: +39.081.2539410.

E-mail: olipepe@unina.it

Key words: Bacterial diversity; biomonitoring; contaminated soil; PCR-DGGE.

©Copyright V. Ventorino et al., 2018 Licensee PAGEPress, Italy Italian Journal of Agronomy 2018; 13(s1):53-58

This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Noncommercial License (by-nc 4.0) which permits any noncommercial use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited. sures (Beier et al., 2005). However, although organic pollutants reduce microbial biodiversity (Sutton et al., 2013), they could stimulate the growth of some microbial species able to use them as a carbon source (Ventorino et al., 2014). Among the cheapest technologies available for soil remediation, the use of compost (Chen et al., 2015) as well as inoculation of selected microorganisms able to use organic xenobiotic compounds as a carbon source are considered eco-friendly and effective (Fiorentino et al., 2013; 2017). Indeed, not only can compost improve soil quality but it is also a source of bacteria with putative suppressive effect and of nutrients for stimulating growth and activity of soil microbial populations able to degrade organic contaminants and promote plant fitness (Pepe et al., 2013; Ventorino et al., 2016; Taiwo et al., 2016; Parillo et al., 2017). Therefore, the presence of specific pollutants, as well as the use of bioremediation techniques, could affect the microbial community structure of a soil (Ventorino et al., 2018a). However, the high microbial biodiversity and the complex relationships among bacterial populations and biotic and abiotic processes influencing their activities in soil make it difficult to evaluate soil microbial response to contamination and remediation practices (Bastida et al., 2016). In this context, it is necessary to use biomonitoring techniques for assessing soil microbial structure and diversity in order to establish and apply the best method for cleaning up contaminated soils. Since it is generally accepted that by using culture-dependent methods it is possible to recover less than 1% of the microbial populations living in environmental samples (Amann et al., 1995), the use of culture-independent methods, such as polymerase chain reaction-denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis (PCR-DGGE), allows changes in the microbial community structure to be evaluated. In fact, molecular methods based on a metagenomic approach allow direct analysis of microbial populations in their natural habitat, thus avoiding the isolation and cultivation of the different microbial species according to their growth requirements. PCR-DGGE based on 16S ribosomal DNA and denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis fingerprinting technology is being increasingly used to assess changes in soil bacterial communities in a wide range of environments (Li et al., 2006; Gupta et al., 2016; Ventorino et al., 2016, 2018a).

In this context, this study was carried out to assess the impact of contamination as well as the use of environmentally compatible techniques for soil remediation on diversity of bacterial communities in soil samples collected from two multi-contaminated fields of the area of the Litorale Domitio Agro Aversano (Giugliano and Trentola Ducenta), used as pilot fields in the LIFE-Ecoremed project.

Materials and methods

Study sites and soil sampling

The study sites were two fallow rural fields, Trentola Ducenta



(TD) and Giugliano (G), contaminated both organically and with potentially toxic elements (PTEs) due to unauthorised waste disposal. These sites were used as pilot fields in the LIFE-Ecoremed project to validate environmentally compatible techniques for soil remediation (Ecoremed, 2017). In April 2014, some plots were amended with 20 t ha⁻¹ of compost from the organic fraction of municipal soil waste. In addition, all plots were inoculated twice (October 2014 and April 2015) with a microbial consortium selected for its ability to use hydrocarbons as a carbon source (Ecoremed, 2017). Sixteen soil samples (10 from TD and 6 from G) were collected from the top soil (0-20 cm depth) at four sampling times: December 2013 (T0), after waste removal and before any bioremediation practices; May 2014 (TC), after compost addition; October 2014 (TIa), after the first inoculation of microbial consortium; April 2015 (TIb), after the second inoculation of microbial consortium (Tables 1 and 2 for sites TD and G, respectively). From each plot three 1-kg sub-samples were collected, homogenized and analysed to determine the diversity of bacterial communities.

Genomic DNA extraction and PCR-DGGE analysis

Total microbial DNA was extracted by using the FastDNA Spin Kit for Soil (MP Biomedicals, Illkirch Cedex, France) according to the manufacturer's specifications. DGGE analysis of bacterial communities was performed using the primers V3f (5'-

CCTACGGGAGGCAGCAG-3') and V3r (5'- ATTACC GCG-GCTGCTGG -3'), spanning the 200-bp region of the 16SrDNA of *Escherichia coli* (Muyzer *et al.*, 1993). A GC-clamp was added to the forward primer according to Muyzer *et al.* (1993). The PCR mixture and conditions were performed according to Ventorino *et al.* (2017). DGGE analysis was performed in a polyacrylamide gel [8% (wt/vol) acrylamide-bisacrylamide (37:5:1)] with a denaturing gradient of 30-60% using a Bio-Rad DCode Universal Mutation System (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Milan, Italy) as previously described (Pepe *et al.*, 2011).

Statistical analysis

Phoretix 1 advanced version 3.01 software (Phoretix International Limited, Newcastle upon Tyne, England) was used to detect the DGGE bands automatically, to determine matching bands and to perform a cluster analysis as previously indicated by Ventorino *et al.* (2013). The correlation matrix of the band patterns was performed using the method described by Saitou and Nei (1987). Finally, the percentage of similarity (S) of the bacterial community was estimated by analysing the resulting matrix using the average linkage method in the cluster procedure of Systat 5.2.1.

Table 1. Characteristics of plots and soil samples collected over time from each plot before and after the different bioremediation treatments applied in Trentola Ducenta.

Plot	Contan	nination*	Time°				
			ТО	TC	TIa	TIb	
	C>12 (mg kg ⁻¹)	Zn (mg kg ⁻¹)	Sample	Sample	Sample	Sample	
6-3	93	-	1	11	21	31	
6-7	106	-	2	12	22	32	
21-1	132	163	3	13	23	33	
21-5	150	-	4	14	24	34	
21-9	206	-	5	15	25	35	
32-3	109		6	16	26	36	
32-4	329		7	17	27	37	
32-5	176	-	8	18	28	38	
32-7	541	228	9	19	29	39	
32-8	250		10	20	30	40	

*Organic and inorganic pollutant concentration (mg kg⁻¹) in soil samples measured after waste removal and before any bioremediation practices (T0), for more details please see Monaco *et al.*, 2015; Rocco *et al.*, 2016; Ventorino *et al.* (2018b). °Sampling time: T0, after waste removal and before any bioremediation practices in December 2013; TC, after compost addition in May 2014; Tla, after the first inoculation of microbial consortium in October 2014; Tlb, after the second inoculation of microbial consortium in April 2015.

Table 2. Characteristics of plots and soil samples collected over time from each plot before and after the different bioremediation treatments applied in Giugliano.

Plot	Contan	nination*	Time°			
	C>12 (mg kg ⁻¹)	Cu (mg kg ⁻¹)	T0 Sample	TC Sample	TIa Sample	TIb Sample
1-3	533	219	1	7	13	19
1-8	75.7	110	2	8	14	20
6-7	79.5	33	3	9	15	21
8-2	705	91	4	10	16	22
8-5	401	96	5	11	17	23
8-8	590	53	6	12	18	24

*Organic and inorganic pollutant concentration (mg kg⁻¹) in soil samples measured after waste removal and before any bioremediation practices (T0), for more details please see Monaco *et al.*, 2015; Rocco *et al.*, 2016; Ventorino *et al.* (2018b). °Sampling time: T0, after waste removal and before any bioremediation practices in December 2013; TC, after compost addition in May 2014; Tla, after the first inoculation of microbial consortium in October 2014; Tlb, after the second inoculation of microbial consortium in April 2015.



Results and discussion

The PCR-DGGE culture-independent approach was employed to obtain a qualitative fingerprint of the bacterial communities due to the effect over time of the environmentally compatible restoration treatments on the resident soil bacterial community of multicontaminated soil sites TD and G (Figures 1 and 2).

In TD, the comparison of DGGE patterns showed important changes in bacterial community structure over time, revealing complex profiles and hence a high diversity of bacteria in all soils. In fact, the number of distinct DNA bands ranged from 21 at the beginning of the bioremediation treatment (T0, Figure 1A; TC, Figure 1B) whereas a considerable increase in the number of bands (up to 34) was observed after inoculation treatments (Figure 1C and D).

In site G, high bacterial diversity was also observed in all soil samples showing a number of bands of 28-29 (Figure 2). Although the number of bands remained constant during the experiment, their position and intensity strongly varied over time (Figure 2A-

D) as also observed in TD. Improvement in the biodiversity of the bacterial populations after remediation treatments could be correlated with a disappearance of a stress factor, such as depletion of pollutants, to an increment in the abundance of taxonomic units and a redistribution of the bacterial specimen in the soil interpreted as the recovery of the resilience of the matrix (Ruffini Castiglione *et al.*, 2016).

As shown in Figure 3, statistical analysis of the DGGE profiles revealed that approximately 25-30% of the bacterial populations of the two soils remained stable during the experimental period without microbial perturbations (Figure 3A and B, cluster 1). These persistent bacteria could represent autochthonous populations whose growth and activity are not affected by anthropogenic activity (xenobiotic compounds and bioremediation techniques) and environmental pressures. Autochthonous naturally occurring bacteria possess some traits that may be used to survive and grow in specific habitats, enhancing their environmental survival (Søborg *et al.*, 2013). Information related to responses of autochthonous microbiota to pollution and to remediation treatment could help to



Figure 1. DGGE profiles of bacterial populations from soil samples of the Trentola Ducenta site collected before any bioremediation practices (A), after compost addition (B), after the first inoculum addition (C) and the second inoculum addition (D). See the text and Table 1 for the details of each sample.



assess the impact of environmental perturbation (Islam *et al.*, 2011) and to detect putative biomarkers (Ventorino *et al.*, 2018b). DGGE analysis revealed important microbial shifts that accounted for about 70% of bacteria in both TD and G (Figure 3A and B, cluster 1). This behaviour is a typical fluctuation observed in the zymogenous population selected by environmental conditions. Interestingly, cluster analysis of TD (Figure 3A) and G (Figure 3B) soils detected two main groups in both sites: cluster 2 (Figure 3A and B) grouped the soil samples collected before any bioremediation practices (T0) and after compost addition (TC); cluster 3 (Figure 3A and B) included soils sampled after the first (TIa) and second (TIb) inoculum addition. In both sites a dramatic shift in bacterial community structure was detected after inoculation treatments, since cluster 2 shared only about 30% of similarity with cluster 3 (Figure 3). Interestingly, within each of the major clusters delineated, the

subgroupings of the prokaryotes (Figure 3A; cluster 4, 5, 6 and 7) were always similar and clearly associated to sampling times (T0, TC, TIa and TIb). Indeed, in TD soils, clusters 4 and 6 shared a 60% similarity with clusters 5 and 7, respectively. Within each subgroup low alterations in the bacterial community structure were observed, showing a similarity level ranging from 80 to 100%. Similarly, in site G four subclusters were identified on the basis of sampling time in which slight changes within the bacterial populations were observed with similarity level from 90 to 100% (Figure 3B; clusters 4, 5, 6 and 7). It is well known that the resident microbiota is able to adapt and acclimate to soil pollutants and/or to bioremediation treatments (Haritash and Kaushik, 2009) even if allochthonous organisms could affect fluctuations of the autochthonous microbial groups in capturing an important part of the overall energy influx during bioaugmentation of soils (Dejonghe *et al.*, 2001).



Figure 2. DGGE profiles of bacterial populations from soil samples of the Giugliano site collected before any bioremediation practices (A), after compost addition (B), after the first inoculum addition (C) and the second inoculum addition (D). See the text and Table 2 for the details of each sample.

[Italian Journal of Agronomy 2018; 13:(s1)]







Conclusions

In conclusion, the responses of bacterial community structure and diversity were not affected by contamination and hence the main change in similarity levels was induced by sampling time and by interaction between soil environmentally friendly bioremediation treatments. This behaviour suggests that a processes of acclimatization (Lladó *et al.*, 2015) to the polluted environment occurred especially with regard to allochthonous and/or zymogenous bacterial populations.

References

- Amann RI, Ludwig W, Schleifer KH, 1995. Phylogenetic identification and in situ detection of individual microbial cells without cultivation. Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. 59:143- 69.
- Bastida F, Jehmlich N, Lima K, Morris BEL, Richnow HH, Hernández T, von Bergen M, García C, 2016. The ecological and physiological responses of the microbial community from a semiarid soil to hydrocarbon contamination and its bioremediation using compost amendment. J. Proteomic 135:162-9.
- Beier C, Caputo J, Lawrence GB, Sullivan TJ, 2017. Loss of ecosystem services due to chronic pollution of forests and surface waters in the Adirondack region (USA). J. Environ. Manage. 191:19-27.
- Chen M, Xu P, Zeng G, Yang C, Huang D, Zhang J, 2015. Bioremediation of soils contaminated with polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, petroleum, pesticides, chlorophenols and heavy metals by composting: Applications, microbes and future

research needs. Biotechnol. Adv. 33:745-55.

- Dejonghe W, Boon N, Seghers D, Top EM, Verstraete W, 2001. Bioaugmentation of soils by increasing microbial richness: missing links. Environ. Microbiol. 3:649-57.
- Ecoremed, 2017. Implementation of eco-compatible protocols for agricultural soil remediation in Litorale Domizio-Agro Aversano NIPS. Available from: www.ecoremed.it
- Fiorentino N, Fagnano M, Adamo P, Impagliazzo A, Mori M, Pepe O, Ventorino V, Zoina A 2013. Assisted phytoextraction of heavy metals: compost and Trichoderma effects on giant reed uptake and soil quality. Ital. J. Agron. 8:244-54.
- Fiorentino N, Ventorino V, Rocco C, Cenvinzo V, Agrelli D, Gioia L, Di Mola I, Adamo P, Pepe O, Fagnano M, 2017. Giant reed growth and soil biological fertility in assisted phytoremediation of an industrial polluted soil. Sci. Total Environ. 575:1375-83.
- Gupta R, Bisaria VS, Sharma S, 2016. Response of rhizospheric bacterial communities of Cajanus cajan to application of bioinoculants and chemical fertilizers: A comparative study. Eur. J. Soil Biol. 75:107-14.
- Haritash AK, Kaushik CP, 2009. Biodegradation aspects of Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (PAHs): A review. J. Hazard. Mater. 169:1-15.
- Islam E, Dhal PK, Kazy SK, Sar P, 2011. Molecular analysis of bacterial communities in uranium ores and surrounding soils from Banduhurang open cast uranium mine, India: A comparative study. J. Environ. Sci. Health Part A-Toxic/Hazard. Subst. Environ. Eng. 46:271-80.
- Lladó S, Covino S, Solanas AM, Petruccioli M, D'annibale A, Viñas M, 2015. Pyrosequencing reveals the effect of mobilizing agents and lignocellulosic substrate amendment on microbial community composition in a real industrial PAH-polluted



soil. J. Hazard Mater. 283:35-43.

- Li Z, Xu J, Tang C, Wu J, Muhammad A, Wang H, 2006. Application of 16S rDNA-PCR amplification and DGGE fingerprinting for detection of shift in microbial community diversity in Cu-, Zn-, and Cd-contaminated paddy soils. Chemosphere 62:1374-80.
- Monaco D, Riccio A, Chianese E, Adamo P, Di Rosa S, Fagnano M, 2015. Chemicals characterization and spatial distribution of PAHs and heavy hydrocarbons in rural sites of Campania Region, South Italy. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 22:14993-5003.
- Muyzer G, de Waal EC, Uitterlinden AG, 1993. Profiling of complex microbial populations by denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis analysis of polymerase chain reaction-amplified genes coding for 16S ribosomal RNA. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 59:695-700.
- Øvreås L, Jensen S, Daae FL, Torsvik V, 1998. Microbial communities changes in perturbed agricoltural soil investigated by molecular and physiological approaches. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 64:2739-42.
- Parillo R, Ventorino V, Pepe O, Rivas PC, Testa A, 2017. Use of compost from chestnut lignocellulosic residues as substrate for tomato growth. Waste Biomass Valoriz. 8:2711-20.
- Pepe O, Palomba S, Sannino L, Blaiotta G, Ventorino V, Moschetti G, Villani F, 2011. Characterization in the archaeological excavation site of heterotrophic bacteria and fungi of deteriorated wall painting of Herculaneum in Italy. J. Environ. Biol. 32:241-50.
- Pepe O, Ventorino V, Blaiotta G, 2013. Dynamic of functional microbial groups during mesophilic composting of agro-industrial wastes and free-living (N₂)-fixing bacteria application. Waste Manag. 33:1616-25.
- Rocco C, Duro I, Di Rosa S, Fagnano M, Fiorentino N, Vetromile A, Adamo P, 2016. Composite vs. discrete soil sampling in assessing soil pollution of agricultural sites interested by waste disposal. J. Geochem. Explor. 170:30-8.
- Ruffini Castiglione M, Giorgetti L, Becarelli S, Siracusa G, Lorenzi R, Di Gregorio S, 2016. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon-contaminated soils: bioaugmentation of autochthonous bacteria and toxicological assessment of the bioremediation process by means of Vicia faba L. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 23:7930-41.
- Saitou N, Nei M, 1987. The neighbor-joining method: a new method for reconstructing phylogenetic trees. Mol. Biol. Evol. 4:406-25.

- Singh OP, 2003. Impact of environmental contamination on biodiversity. In: Z. Hussain (ed.), Environmental issues of Northeast India. Regency Publications, New Delhi, pp. 85-92.
- Søborg DA, Hendriksen NB, Kilian M, Kroer N, 2013. Widespread occurrence of bacterial human virulence determinants in soil and freshwater environments. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 79:5488-97.
- Sutton NB, Maphosa F, Morillo JA, Abu Al-Soud W, Langenhoff AA, Grotenhuis T, Rijnaarts HH, Smidt H, 2013. Impact of long-term diesel contamination on soil microbial community structure. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 79:619-30.
- Taiwo AM, Gbadebo AM, Oyedepo JA, Ojekunle ZO, Alo OM, Oyeniran AA, Onalaja OJ, Ogunjimi D, Taiwo OT, 2016. Bioremediation of industrially contaminated soil using compost and plant technology. J. Hazard Mater. 304:166-72.
- Ventorino V, Parillo R, Testa A, Aliberti A, Pepe O, 2013. Chestnut biomass biodegradation for sustainable agriculture. BioResour. 8:4647-58.
- Ventorino V, Sannino F, Piccolo A, Cafaro V, Carotenuto R, Pepe O, 2014. Methylobacterium populi VP2: plant growth-promoting bacterium isolated from a highly polluted environment for polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon (PAH) biodegradation. Sci. World J. 2014:931793.
- Ventorino V, Parillo R, Testa A, Viscardi S, Espresso F, Pepe O, 2016. Chestnut green waste composting for sustainable forest management: Microbiota dynamics and impact on plant disease control. J. Environ. Manage. 166:168-77.
- Ventorino V, Robertiello A, Cimini D, Argenzio O, Schiraldi C, Montella S, Faraco V, Ambrosanio A, Viscardi S, Pepe O, 2017. Bio-based succinate production from Arundo donax hydrolysate with the new natural succinic acid-producing strain Basfia succiniciproducens BPP7. BioEnergy Res. 10:488-98.
- Ventorino V, Romano I, Pagliano G, Robertiello A, Pepe O, 2018a. Pre-treatment and inoculum affect the microbial community structure and enhance the biogas reactor performance in a pilot-scale biodigestion of municipal solid waste. Waste Manag. 73:69-77.
- Ventorino V, Pascale A, Adamo P, Rocco C, Fiorentino N, Mori M, Faraco V, Pepe O, Fagnano M, 2018b. Comparative assessment of autochthonous bacterial and fungal communities and microbial biomarkers of polluted agricultural soils of the Terra dei Fuochi. Sci. Rep. 8:14281.



Monitoring and modelling the role of phytoremediation to mitigate non-point source cadmium pollution and groundwater contamination at field scale

Mario Palladino,¹ Paolo Nasta,¹ Alessandra Capolupo,² Nunzio Romano^{1,3}

¹Department of Agricultural Sciences, Division of Agricultural, Forest and Biosystems Engineering, University of Naples Federico II, Portici (NA); ²Department of Architecture, University of Naples Federico II, Naples; ³The Interdepartmental Center for Environmental Research (C.I.R.AM.), University of Naples Federico II, Naples, Italy

Abstract

The study presented in this paper was carried out within the framework of the EU-Life+ EcoRemed project with the main aim of evaluating the effectiveness of a phytoremediation technique (the EcoRemed protocol) developed for field-scale reclamation of contaminated agricultural sites. The methods discussed here should be viewed as a proof-of-concept and their potential is shown at the Trentola test site subjected to low cadmium contamination, a potentially toxic element (PTE), presenting hazards for human health and the environment. Advanced monitoring equipment and modelling tools are employed to estimate water flow and solute transport in the soil-vegetation-atmosphere system, with specific emphasis to assess potential contaminant movement towards the groundwater. The strength of the phytoextraction process is evaluated by comparing two basic scenarios: i) a bare soil only condition (BS scenario); and ii) a distributed phytoextraction activity in the field obtained by planting poplar trees (Populus nigra spp) (PP scenario). Water and contaminant balance are modelled at plant scale by using the HYDRUS-1D code based on the Richards equation and the advective-dispersive equation, respectively. Sensitivity analyses enabled specific features of the phytoextraction process to be identified and showed the importance of setting up cost-effective monitoring devices to capture the main features of the problem under study. Moreover, especially with the aim of transferring the knowledge gained to public bodies and stakeholders, we suggest that the plant-scale monitoring and modelling activities be conveniently complemented with a

Correspondence: Mario Palladino, Department of Agricultural Sciences, Division of Agricultural, Forest and Biosystems Engineering, University of Naples Federico II, Via Università 100, Portici (NA), Italy.

E-mail: mario.palladino@unina.it

Key words: Phytoremediation; cadmium pollution; groundwater contamination.

©Copyright M. Palladino et al., 2018 Licensee PAGEPress, Italy Italian Journal of Agronomy 2018; 13(s1):59-68

This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Noncommercial License (by-nc 4.0) which permits any noncommercial use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited. modelling exercise applied to the entire field area, using the threedimensional HydroGeoSphere (HGS) modelling tool.

Introduction

The remediation of contaminated agricultural soils aims primarily to minimise the transfer of potentially toxic substances into the food chain and towards the groundwater (Kutílek and Nielsen, 1998). Most of the techniques devoted to the remediation of soils polluted with potentially toxic elements (PTEs) act directly on the mobile and bioavailable fraction of contaminants. As can be found extensively in national legislation and guidelines, a concentration threshold is fixed and given by the sum of the fraction adsorbed in the solid phase and the fraction dissolved in the liquid phase (Ferguson, 1999; Carlon, 2007). An overall reduction in the concentrations of hazardous substances and compounds can be achieved through processes that promote desorption and subsequent removal during the liquid phase. In general, this is the basic mechanism by which most modern techniques (e.g. soil washing techniques, electrokinetic methods, heat treatment) work to restore a contaminated site.

Phytoremediation is a relatively new technique for removing contaminants from soil profiles that can be viewed as belonging to the general class of bioremediation systems (Vidali, 2001). In particular, phytoextraction is based on the action of sequestration or chelation of toxic substances by plant roots and their subsequent accumulation (natural hyper-accumulation) in the plant tissues (Raskin and Ensley, 1999; Mir *et al.*, 2017). It is a promising technique not only because of its simplicity of practical implementation and cost effectiveness, but also because of the positive effects on the local landscape where it is applied. These reasons make phytoextraction a widely used technique, especially to remediate agricultural land. In spite of requiring relatively long remediation periods, it enables soil fertility to be preserved by maintaining use of the land for agriculture (Moosavi and Seghatoleslami, 2013).

The above reasoning became the basis and guided the settingup of a project whose acronym is *EcoRemed*, funded in 2012 by the European Commission, Directorate-General Environment, within the call *ENV.E-4 - Life Environment & Eco-innovation*. The trigger for the research and demonstration activities was the large media attention drawn to the alleged contamination of agricultural soils in the provinces of Naples and Caserta (Campania, southern Italy) and the related negative effects on farm products (Agrelli *et al.*, 2017; Komínková *et al.*, 2018). This situation has had a devastating impact on the agri-food sector of the entire region, which is not only unjustified (as clearly demonstrated below), but also damaging to the rights of all the people involved in related economic activities. With specific reference to the coastal strip northwest of Naples known as the Litorale Domitio/Agro-aversano, the overall aims of this project were to demonstrate that soil can be remediated using an environmentally effective, low-impact method (EcoRemed protocol) that primarily points to bringing soil back to its agricultural use (Monaco et al., 2015). This benefit sustains landowners economically, providing temporary non-food trees as biomass for energy production, and setting up a fruitful link between universities and research institutes on the one hand, and public bodies and stakeholders on the other, with a view to promoting laws and technical guidelines on the subject of remediation of agricultural soils. The EcoRemed project is coordinated and managed by the Interdepartmental Center for Environmental Research (C.I.R.AM.) of the University of Naples Federico II, one of the oldest research centres (it was established in 1992) of this university and which has brought together scholars of environmental issues from ten different university departments.

The fate of a substance in the environment depends on biological, chemical, physical and hydrological processes that are highly interconnected and act almost simultaneously. In this paper we specifically deal with the physical and hydrological processes in an attempt to highlight certain aspects of the phytoextraction technique that are sometimes overlooked or even ignored. The success of outcomes obtained when employing this technique depends on the degree of contamination of the site and the complexity of interactions among the water flow and solute transport processes taking place in the soil-plant-atmosphere continuum. Firstly, phytoextraction is not always applicable because remediation may take too long, a period that might not be compatible with certain needs of stakeholders and the community. Moreover, phytoremediation can yield some unpredictable results when compared with other traditional remediation systems for contaminated sites. Several authors have shown poor effects of phytoextraction mainly due to some drawbacks including phytotoxicity, a relatively low production of biomass of hyperaccumulator plants, or even the propensity of the roots to avoid uptake from the areas with higher pollutant concentrations. An alternative approach may be the use of vegetation stands to increase the partitioning factors in such a way as to decrease the mobile fraction. This technique, known as phytostabilization, but also immobilization or natural reclamation, operates both physically (through the transpiration of plants) and chemically by increasing the buffer capacity of the soil thanks to the increase in biomass represented by root exudates (Vidali, 2001). Chemical mechanisms can be promoted by adding specific soil amendments such as fertiliser agents that can increase the buffer capacity of the soil. With these measures, phytostabilization is considered an alternative system, which yields better success rates.

Moreover, and more importantly for certain aspects of the problem at hand, uncertainties are usually related to the actual solute concentration reductions gained with the remediation process, but are also certainly due to the difficulty of predicting the rate of contaminant extraction by trees. Schematically, the presence of vegetation can affect the following processes of the hydrological cycle more or less significantly: rain interception, soil hydraulic response, water and solute uptake and biomass adsorption of metal solutes. The synergistic effect of these possible changes leads to a reduction in the redistribution of rainfed infiltrated water, with substantial reductions in the risk of transferring contaminants from the soil surface to the deepest soil layers and to the groundwater.

Tackling point or non-point pollution phenomena in soil and



groundwater is quite a complex task partly because of the inherent heterogeneity of the porous materials, but mainly because of the fact that soil and the underlying aquifer are intimately interconnected via the hydrological processes occurring in the soil-vegetationatmosphere system, which in turn can be altered by human settlements, intensive agricultural practices, waste storage and disposal, as well as accidental or even illegal spills. These complexities make it difficult to predict *a priori* the actual impact that contamination will have on the environment, in terms of both spatial extent and persistence. Therefore, risk assessment of contamination should describe and interpret such complexities adequately in order to evaluate correctly the probability of occurrence of specific damage to human health and the ecosystem.

To encourage a wider use of phytoremediation with a clear understanding of its limitations, we suggest the use of analyticalnumerical approaches. In other words, in-depth knowledge of the physical, chemical and biological processes together with the soilvegetation interactions enables phytoremediation protocols to be suitably implemented by exploiting the outcomes of computer model simulations. The study presented in this paper was undertaken to shed light on the effectiveness of a poplar plantation to remove cadmium from the soil in a small agricultural field (the Trentola site) in the province of Caserta (Pietrini et al., 2010; Dai et al., 2013; Redovniković et al., 2017; Michels et al., 2018). Two different scenarios were designed to evaluate the fate of contaminant plumes and the effect of vegetation on the migration velocity of cadmium to the deepest soil layers and towards the underlying aquifer. The HYRUS-1D model (Šimůnek et al., 2015) was used to evaluate different scenarios for phytoremediation along the soil profile at the scale of individual poplar plants. Moreover, the threedimensional water flow and solute transport processes occurring in the entire study area assuming the absence or presence of plants were simulated through the HydroGeoSphere (HGS) 3-D model (Brunner and Simmons, 2012). Information about local weather conditions as well as soil and vegetation characteristics were retrieved directly through field measurements.

Experimental works and methods

The study site of Trentola-Ducenta

The case study reported in this paper was carried out in one of the experimental fields of the EcoRemed project near the town of Trentola-Ducenta (province of Caserta; 40°58'32.2" N, 14°08'59.0" E, and 68 m a.s.l.). It is one of the 77 municipalities of the National Interest Priority Site of Campania (southern Italy) *Litorale Domitio/Agro-Aversano* and identified as an appropriate site for analysis because it had been subjected to illegal storage of waste consisting mainly of mixed construction and demolition materials, including asphalt and plastic (Rocco *et al.*, 2016).

Figure 1 shows the field boundary (red line), marking an area of approximately 4500 m², where soil samples were collected to determine soil physical, chemical and hydraulic properties. Frequent measurements of near-surface (soil depth 0-15 cm) soil-water content were carried out in different positions of the test site by using the Time Domain Reflectometry (TDR) technique through mobile equipment specifically designed at the Laboratory of Soil Hydrology of the University of Naples Federico II. The study area was equipped with the following monitoring systems:

In two soil pits (Figure 2A) the following sensors were placed: three Frequency Domain Reflectometer (FDR) ruggedized sensors





Figure 1. Experimental site at Trentola-Ducenta (Caserta Province, Italy).



Figure 2. A) Picture of one the two soil pits; B and C) sensors used for calibrating the parameters of Hydrus-1D model; D) the dendrometer used for the calibration of evapotranspiration fluxes of the poplars.

(GS3 sensor by Decagon Devices Inc., USA) to measure simultaneously the volumetric soil water content, θ (cm³ cm⁻³), temperature, *T* (°C), and apparent electrical conductivity, *ECa* (dS m⁻¹) at the soil depths of 20 cm, 40 cm and 60 cm (Figure 2B); two soil-water potential sensors (MPS-6 by Decagon Devices Inc., USA) located at the soil depths of 20 cm and 40 cm for measuring soil matric pressure head (ψ) (Figure 2C); an electronic dendrometer DD-S by Ekomatic mounted on the stem of each of the two poplar trees (Figure 2D) for monitoring micro-variations in plant diameter to obtain proxy information on actual plant transpiration.

Note that the GS3 sensors located at the two soil depths of 20 cm and 40 cm were inserted horizontally and, together with the MPS-6 sensors located at the same depths, provided pairs of soilwater retention $\theta(\psi)$ data points throughout the monitoring period. Moreover, the MPS-6 sensors enabled the soil-water fluxes to be computed from knowledge of the gradient of total hydraulic head (H=z+y) and information about the soil hydraulic conductivity characteristic, $K(\theta)$. It should be noted, however, that the MPS-6 sensor has sensitivity from -9 kPa (i.e. a suction head of about 0.92 m of water) all the way to air dry (a value of about -100,000 kPa, equal to a suction head of about 10,200 m of water). The installation of sensors along the soil profile for monitoring water balance is shown in Figure 2A. All sensors were connected to a datalogger for recording the measurements. The dendrometric data were used for direct calibration of the crop parameters that were then employed for running the computer simulations.

Weather data taken from a meteorological station close to the test site were collected to determine the reference evapotranspiration, with the equation of Penman-Monteith, and used in the crop module of the HYDRUS-1D model. Figure 3A shows daily temperature and rainfall during the observation period. Instead, Figure 3B shows, as an example, the observed soil water contents at the three soil depths in pit #1. The two plots in this figure highlight the contrast between wet (from October to April) and dry seasons (from April to October), which is typical of a Mediterranean climate.

Distribution of cadmium (Cd) on near-surface soil was determined by carrying out a sampling campaign on a regular grid 25x25 m. Twenty-three samples were collected and analysed at the Mass Spectrometry Laboratory of the University of Naples Federico II using the EPA 6010C 2007 method. Table 4 in Capolupo *et al.* (2018) provides the descriptive statistics of Cd concentration with



average and standard deviation values of 0.546 mg kg $^{-1}$ and 0.179 mg kg $^{-1},$ respectively.

Modelling transport processes in the soil-vegetationatmosphere system

At the pedon scale, theoretical studies (Dagan, 1986; Sposito, 1986) and many experimental investigations (Santini, 1975; Vauclin *et al.*, 1979) have demonstrated that water flow and solute transport processes in soil and in the rhizosphere are basically onedimensional along the vertical direction and governed by the well-known Richards equation (Davison *et al.*, 2018; Šimůnek *et al.*, 2018):

$$S_w S_s \frac{\partial \psi}{\partial t} + \theta_s \frac{\partial S_w}{\partial t} = \nabla \cdot \left[\mathbf{K} \cdot k_r \, \nabla (z + \psi) \right] + \sum \Gamma_{ex} + Q \tag{1}$$

which is obtained by combining the mass balance equation and Darcy's law. In Eq. (1), *t* is time, *z* is elevation, ψ is matric pressure head, S_w is water saturation, θ is volumetric soil water content and θ_s is soil water content at full saturation of the porous medium, S_s is the specific storage, **K** is the tensor of soil hydraulic conductivity, whereas k_r is the relative hydraulic conductivity. Soil water content, θ , and relative hydraulic conductivity, k_r , depend on matric pressure head, ψ , through the soil water retention, $\theta(\psi)$, and hydraulic conductivity, $k_r(\psi)$ or $K(\psi)$, functions. Moreover, the term S(G_{ex}) represents the internal fluid exchanges between domains (*e.g.* surface, subsurface, macropores, pumping wells, *etc.*) and *Q* is the external fluid exchanges (*e.g.* evapotranspiration, snow melt, *etc.*).

In the remainder of the paper we refer to the units of m, cm or mm for the length dimension, and to the units of hours, days or years for the dimension of time. After selecting the appropriate initial and boundary conditions for the flow field under study, while knowing the relevant soil hydraulic functions $\theta(\psi)$ and $K(\psi)$, solving even simple problems of practical interest requires Eq.(1) to be solved numerically by using specific, well-validated algorithms (Romano *et al.*, 1998; Brunone *et al.*, 2003).

The problem of solute movement in the subsurface is considerably more complex. This complexity is often exacerbated by the nature of the solute. However, the movement and fate of a chemical species (the solute) in an agricultural soil are mainly governed by two basic processes: convection and dispersion. In



Figure 3. A) Daily temperature and rainfall values during the observation period; B) soil water content at three depths in soil profile.



general, the space-time variations of solute concentrations are described by the following convection-dispersion equation (CDE):

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}(\theta c + \rho s) = \frac{\partial}{\partial z} \left(\theta D_e \frac{\partial c}{\partial z} - qc\right) - \zeta(\psi)$$
⁽²⁾

where, together with soil depth z and time t, c is the concentration of the substance in the liquid phase, ρ is oven-dry soil bulk density, D_e is effective dispersion (that describes the global mixing caused by both convection and dispersion processes), s is the concentration of the substance in the solid phase, and q is Darcy's flux of water as computed by Eq.(1).

The relationships between the variables θ , ψ , and K are rather complex and depend on many factors, but in most practical cases they are expressed by the soil water retention, $\theta(\psi)$, and hydraulic conductivity functions $K(\psi)$, which are commonly referred to as soil hydraulic properties.

Determining soil physical and hydraulic properties

Soil hydraulic properties were determined by extracting undisturbed soil cores from different depths of three distinct soil horizons. All soil cores were obtained by driving steel cylinders (0.08 m in diameter and 0.15 m in height) vertically into the soil using a hand-operated device while excavating the soil around the cylinder by hand to reduce disturbance during sampling. Before performing the hydraulic tests, the top of each undisturbed soil core (approximately 0.03-0.04 m) is removed and set aside for particlesize analysis, determination of soil organic carbon (SOC) content, and for measuring soil water retention data points in the dry range through the pressure plate apparatus. Particle-size distribution was determined by using standard laboratory techniques based on a set of sieves and the soil hydrometer (Gee and Or, 2002). Particle-size data are primarily grouped into sand (<2000-0.05 µm), silt (50-2 μ m) and clay (<2 μ m) fractions according to the USDA classification. The grouped data (% sand, % silt, and % clay) are used to derive the textural class of each soil sample according to the USDA textural triangle. Soil organic carbon content was determined with the dichromate method (Mebius, 1960), whereas by convention the soil organic matter value was obtained by multiplying the SOC value by the constant factor of 1.724. The height of soil that remains in the core was slowly wetted from below (see the procedure suggested by Romano et al., 2002), until saturated, using a deaerated 0.005 M CaSO4 solution. Saturated water content, θ_{sat} , was measured by the gravimetric method (Topp and Ferré, 2002), whereas saturated hydraulic conductivity, Ksat, was measured in the laboratory by the falling-head method (Reynolds et al., 2002).

Soil hydraulic properties, namely the soil water retention and hydraulic conductivity functions, were determined by subjecting each soil core in the laboratory to an evaporation experiment, analysing the measured variables through the modified Wind method (Peters and Durner, 2008) and using the optimization approach proposed by Romano and Santini (1999). The evaporation experiment starts from an initially saturated soil core and involves the measurements with time of suction head profiles and soil core weights. Starting from a condition of hydrostatic equilibrium, with a nearly zero suction head at the bottom of the soil core, the evaporation experiment is performed by draining the core with a small fan placed near the top and sealing the lower end of the core completely (Nasta *et al.*, 2013). During the transient flow event, the total weight of the soil sample (with a load cell) and the matric head (by horizontally inserted micro-tensiometers) at different positions along the soil core are measured at frequent but irregular times. All data are recorded automatically and processed using a data-logger and a personal computer. On completion of all the hydraulic tests, we measured the oven-dry bulk density by putting the cores in a ventilated oven at the constant temperature of 105°C. In this study, the soil hydraulic functions are described by the bimodal hydraulic model proposed by Durner (1994). For further information on this model the reader is directed to the HYDRUS-1D manual (Šimůnek *et al.*, 2015). Romano *et al.* (2011) and Romano and Nasta (2016) also demonstrated the effectiveness of employing bimodal soil hydraulic properties to obtain better predictions from Richards-based models of unsaturated flow.

Simulated scenarios

The HYDRUS 1-D model (Šimůnek *et al.*, 2018) uses the Richards equation to describe water flow in soil and the advectiondispersion equation to represent solute transport. The main assumptions in this study were as follows: i) one-dimensional flow domain; ii) preferential flow paths are considered; iii) time-invariant contaminant root uptake; iv) phytoremediation based on root extraction of solutes.

The root uptake model was defined by a macroscopic approach for determining the sink term in the Richards equation. This term describes the capacity of the roots to draw water from the soil. The root uptake process is limited when water availability is limited, according to the formulation of the Feddes model. The sink term is delimited by specific threshold values, typical of poplar trees. Contaminant root uptake was computed through two different methods, one passive and one active. The former assumes that solute uptake is proportional to the water sink term and to the concentration of the solute dissolved in water. Active uptake was calculated using Michaelis-Menten kinetics. The maximum theoretical uptake was termed uptake potential $A_p(t)$, which is characteristic of plant-solute coupling. The Michaelis-Menten constant K_m [M L⁻³] is assumed as $K_m = 0.09537$ µg cm⁻³ and $A_p=0.0271$ µg cm⁻² d⁻¹ for Cd²⁺.

The upper boundary conditions were imposed by using the daily values of rainfall and potential evaporation, whereas potential transpiration represents the potential root water uptake exerted along the soil profile. Reference evapotranspiration was calculated using the equation of Penman-Monteith (Allen *et al.*, 1998). The initial conditions were imposed at hydrostatic equilibrium, while the lower boundary was free drainage.

As for the ion-matrix interactions, the adsorption of ions on the solid matrix is considered to be well described by a linear model applicable to all soil horizons. The distribution coefficient K_d was inferred from studies carried out on similar soils, using the value of K_d =140 mL/g (Anderson and Christensen, 1983), while the diffusion coefficient in free water was set according to the standard reference values (Shackelford and Daniel, 1991).

Numerical simulations were organised into three steps: precontamination, contamination and remediation. The first step (lasting one year) was a spin-up time step required to establish suitable initial conditions in the soil profiles. Spontaneous shrubby vegetation was present at the soil surface. During the second step, *true* contamination was simulated by considering the mean value of Cd concentration, 0.546 mg kg⁻¹ (see previous Section). In the third step, phytoremediation of soil was evaluated by comparing the bare soil (BS scenario) with *Populus nigra spp* (PP scenario) scenarios. The simulated period of the third step spanned from September 24th, 2014 to January 15th, 2016. According to an experimental study, this tree species is not affected by toxicity at experimental concentrations. The parameters of Feddes' model for root water uptake were estimated by analogy with similar trees (Guittonny-Larchevêque *et al.*, 2016).

Results and discussion

One of the main issues that arouse when one simulates environmental problems is *how well the simulated transport process resemble the actual one*. Soil water content and its temporal variation are of paramount importance to assess the success of a phytoremediation technique. Therefore, in this study we consider that the good description of soil water flow in a field site is a good proxy of the goodness of the transport simulation.

For this work we consider soil water content as a *witness* variable to evaluate the robustness of model implementation. To do so, we compared observed and simulated soil water content data at the three installation depths in the scatterplot in Figure 4.



Figure 4. Comparison between measured and simulated soil water content values at the three installation depths.



A robust prediction of soil water dynamics can be diagnosed by the alignment of data pairs around the identity line, depicted by the 1:1 line. The root mean squared error, RMSE, values ranged from 0.023 cm³ cm⁻³ for soil water content at 40 cm depths to 0.033 cm³ cm⁻³ for soil water content at the depth of 60 cm, while the RMSE value for the depth of 20 cm shows an intermediate value (0.023 cm³ cm⁻³). These results may be considered acceptable by following the guidelines provided by Moriasi *et al.* (2007). Indeed the RMSE values have the same order of magnitude as the measurement errors obtained by the monitoring devices (see the GS3 Decagon manual, available at: http://manuals.decagon.com/Manuals/13822_GS3_ Web.pdf).

Besides the model performance on the soil water status, the present study focused on the phytoextraction capacity of poplar. In doing so, in Figure 5 we show how complex processes can be monitored with different variables.

The timespan of the graphs is from April 5th to May 7th, 2015 and the time unit is set in hours. This was a period of rapid poplar growth, with trunk diameter increasing from 2.1 cm to 4.0 cm. Initially, soil water storage induced by the antecedent wet season sustained transpiration and cadmium accumulation. As the water content decreased, available water also decreased (see the red line of soil water potential) by inducing root water stress, up to the minimum limit of soil matric potential (y= -527 kPa) on the 480th hour of simulation. Water stress prompted a decrease in actual *simulated* transpiration rate, associated with a decreased *measured* daily difference in trunk diameter (0.02 mm). As soon as rainfall events (33 mm in all) replenished the soil profile, soil matric potential increased and stabilized at around y= -33 kPa, alleviating water stress. Consequently, poplars could again transpire at maximum velocity by supporting potential transpiration.

Very few experiments show attempts to correlate stem variation with other physiological or meteorological variables pertaining to poplar, such as pre-dawn leaf water potential (Giovannelli *et al.*, 2007), vapour pressure deficit (McLaughlin *et al.*, 2003) or groundwater table depth (Xiao *et al.*, 2014). We present here an effective correlation, albeit in a qualitative manner, of stem diameter daily variations with simulated actual transpiration. Further research is desirable, as it should be noted that the dendrometer is a low-cost sensor and relatively easy to maintain. Once an effective relationship could be developed between dendrometric measurements and poplar water status, the use of the dendrometers



Figure 5. Hourly values of A) simulated actual transpiration (green line) and detrended dendrometer measurements (blue line) in the period between April 5, 2015 and May 7, 2015; B) soil matric potential (red line) and rainfall amount (grey bar).





would allow direct control on the effectiveness of irrigation practices or phytoremediation protocols.

The simulated water balance components pertaining to BS and PP scenarios gave us the chance to prove the effectiveness of the phytoremediation protocol (Figure 6). Total rainfall for both simulations was 1124 mm. Cumulative deep drainage, D_{PP} (solid green line) in the PP scenario (total amount of 205 mm) decreased by 36.5% when compared to D_{BS} (dashed green line) simulated in the BS scenario (total amount of 323 mm). This difference was mainly due to higher cumulative actual evapotranspiration (ET_{PP}, solid red line) losses (886 mm) than the sole evaporative (E_{BS}, red dashed line) loss in the BS scenario (812 mm).

In our study the deep drainage in the PP scenario was 18.6% of total rainfall, while it represented 29.3% of total rainfall in the BS scenario. Fan *et al.* (2015) came to similar results, concluding that the presence of a *Pinus elliotii* forest reduces deep drainage with interception and root uptake processes.

Below we evaluate the results in terms of Cd concentration at the soil bottom boundary (1 m depth), and in Figure 7 we show the typical breakthrough curves as defined by Van Ommen (1985) for scenarios BS (dashed line) and PP (solid line).

The relatively rapid release of cadmium through the lower boundary of the modelled soil profile is due to the preferential flow processes, induced by macroporosity. Indeed, for this reason we used dual porosity water retention curves (Durner, 1994). The peak in solute release for scenario BS occurs on April 1st and is equal to 1.17x10⁻⁹ mg mm⁻³ d⁻¹, while the peak pertaining to scenario PP occurs four days later, on April 5th, and amounts to 0.23x10-9 mg mm⁻³ d⁻¹, representing only 19.7% of the former. The large difference in Cd elution between the two scenarios and the consistent reduction in the release of cadmium towards the water table can be explained by two mechanisms. The former is the retardation of Cd migration along the downward direction due to root water extraction. Higher transpiration induced by the poplar tree reduce drainage, and hence cadmium has less chance to migrate towards the bottom boundary. The latter is attributable to the absorption of the solute by the roots and the relative accumulation in the poplar's plant organs. These two mechanisms act together, and their effects reinforce each other in reducing the concentration of cadmium in the soil water moving towards the groundwater. When the cadmium is removed by poplar roots from the soil water and accumulated in the plant organs, its concentration in the soil solution decreases very rapidly. Nonetheless, these two combined mechanisms take effect only if the poplar plant is able to sustain potential transpiration. This eventuality can only take place when two conditions coexist: i) presence of available water (above field capacity) in the root zone during the growing season (Nasta and Gates, 2013); and ii) high evapotranspiration fluxes. This effect is evident from the perusal of Figure 8.

In the first 100 days of simulation, transpiration decreased due to drying conditions of soil water (subplot a in Figure 8). Along with this effect, we observed a concomitant decrease of cadmium phytoextraction in the vadose zone (subplot b in Figure 8). Therefore an optimal irrigation routine should be ensured with the aim of inhibiting root water stress (Gibson *et al.*, 2017; Gibson *et al.*, 2018).

With a view to considering this study as a proof-of-concept, monitoring and modelling activities are basically discussed to show their potential for assessing the effectiveness of techniques to remediate a PTE-contaminated soil. We would emphasise that onedimensional simulations performed at the scale of individual trees should be conveniently integrated with results obtained by running a three-dimensional model at the scale of the entire field. This latter modelling task, albeit even more demanding than the former, definitely gives a more detailed picture of the problem at hand. Also, we envisage it as a key step to properly and effectively transfer the scientific results to the realm of the public officers and stakeholders who should take decisions on the management of contaminated soils and possibly give remediated fields back to their owners to restore farming practices. Capolupo *et al.* (2018) recently showed that coupling photogrammetry by unmanned aerial systems (UAS) and



Figure 6. Daily cumulative values of rainfall, actual evapotranspiration and drainage for poplar (PP), actual evaporation and drainage for bare soil (BS).



Figure 7. Daily values of Cd concentration at the bottom boundary of the soil profile simulated for BS and PP.



Figure 8. Hourly values of actual root water (A) and solute (B) uptake during the first 100 days of simulation.




Figure 9. Maps of Cd concentrations in both scenarios at the beginning (A) and after 300 days of model simulations for scenario BS (B) and scenario PP (C).

the HGS model is a powerful tool for field-scale modelling activities.

In the PP scenario, poplars were virtually allocated in a blockdesigned rectangular grid with an inter-row distance of 10 m and a spacing of 5 m. Figure 9 displays the snapshots of initial soil surface Cd concentrations (Figure 9A). The spatial-average initial Cd concentration on the soil surface is 0.37 mg kg^{-1} in both scenarios. After 300 days of simulation the differences in terms of Cd concentrations are considerable when comparing the map deriving from scenario BS (Figure 9B) and the map from PP (Figure 9C).

The total Cd concentration absorbed by the poplar roots is governed by the time-varying solute uptake exerted by the hybrid poplar roots. The beneficial effect of a poplar plantation not only reduces Cd concentration on the soil surface, but also removes Cd along the soil profile by reducing the risk of contaminant transport towards the groundwater. Indeed, the numerical simulations featuring in the BS scenarios show high levels of Cd (even >0.3 mg kg⁻¹) concentration along the soil profile (Lu et al., 2017). The simulations in the 3D environment evidenced that the phytoextraction efficiency assumes its maximum value during the autumn due to the availability of enough water to ensure solute uptake and to reduce the water stress conditions. Indeed, Cd concentrations diminished by about 64% during the winter, and just 36% during the summer period (Capolupo et al., 2018). As demonstrated in previous studies (Robinson et al., 2000; Wu et al., 2010), poplar trees strongly contribute to the reduction in Cd concentrations by lowering its values to about one third (0.04 mg kg⁻¹ and 0.12 mg kg⁻¹ respectively for scenarios BS and PP). In another study Lugli and Mahler (2015) demonstrated that other plant

species (such as vetiver grass) are able to remove 11% of initial cadmium concentrations after 48 months.

Conclusions

In this study we provided basic guidelines to integrate soil samplings, field campaigns, monitoring activities and 1D and 3D flow and contaminant transport simulators in the soil-vegetationatmosphere system in order to evaluate the performance of phytoremediation of cadmium in a small, potentially contaminated site. Among all the remediation strategies, phytoremediation can be considered the most cost-effective, environmentally friendly and practical approach. The scenario-based simulations proved the effectiveness of phytoremediation for reducing cadmium concentrations and potential risk in food quality (Ding et al., 2018). However, water stress partially inhibited the contaminant uptake and might compromise the phytoextraction of cadmium. In general, transpiration greatly decreased during the dry season in rainfed fields, and hence the removal of cadmium diminished. Under such circumstances, the supply of irrigation water might alleviate water stress and buffer phytoextraction by preventing the potential migration of cadmium to the aquifer.

This scenario-based approach can be considered as a proof-ofconcept and might be extended to compare the effectiveness of other fast-growing trees with the performance of poplar plantations for the phytoremediation of cadmium (Wu *et al.*, 2010; Mayerová *et*



al., 2017). Moreover, the integration of field measurements and 3D flow simulators can be used in future investigations to predict the fate of other potentially hazardous PTEs (such as copper, chromium, mercury and zinc) in the study area. By combining intense data acquisition and robust numerical modelling, the modelling scenarios will provide the chance to gain insights into the complex interplays between soil, water and vegetation governing the water balance and solute transport. We envision the integration of measurement techniques and modelling approaches as learning tools, with a view to transferring precious and basic knowledge to stakeholders and decision-makers. Indeed, the model projections will have tremendous practical relevance to society by promoting sustainable strategies to combat soil contamination.

References

- Agrelli D, Adamo P, Cirillo T, Duri LG, Duro I, Fasano E, Ottaiano L, Ruggiero L, Scognamiglio G, Fagnano M, 2017. Soil versus plant as indicators of agroecosystem pollution by potentially toxic elements. J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. 180:705-19.
- Allen RG, Pereira LS, Raesk D, Smith M, 1998. Crop evapotranspiration-guidelines for computing crop water requirements. Irrigation and Drainage Paper No. 56. FAO, Rome, Italy.
- Anderson PR, Christensen TH, 1983.Parameters controlling the distribution of Cd, Co, Ni, and Zn in soils. In: Int. Conf. Heavy metals in the Environment, vol. 2, pp. 1187-1190.
- Brunner P, Simmons CT, 2012. HydroGeoSphere: A Fully Integrated, Physically Based Hydrological Model. Ground Water 50:170-6.
- Brunone B, Ferrante M, Romano N, Santini A, 2003. Numerical simulations of one-dimensional infiltration into layered soils with the Richards equation using different estimates of the interlayer conductivity. Vadose Zone J. 2:193-200.
- Capolupo A, Nasta P, Palladino M, Cervelli E, Boccia L, Romano N, 2018. Assessing the ability of hybrid poplar for in-situ phytoextraction of cadmium by using UAV – photogrammetry and 3D flow simulator. Int. J. Remote Sensing [Epub ahead of print].
- Carlon C, 2007. Derivation methods of soil screening values in Europe. EC-JRC, Ispra EUR 22805-EN, 306 pp.
- Dagan G, 1986. Statistical theory of groundwater flow and transport: pore to laboratory, laboratory to formation, and formation to regional scale. Water Resour Res. 22:120S-34S.
- Dai HP, Shan CJ, Jia GL, Yang TX, Wei AZ, Zhao H, Wu SQ, Huo KK, Chen WQ, Cao XY, 2013. Responses to cadmium tolerance, accumulation and translocation in Populus × canescens. Water Air Soil Poll. 224:1-9.
- Davison JH, Hwang HT, Sudicky EA, Mallia DV, Lin JC, 2018. Full coupling between the atmosphere, surface, and subsurface for integrated hydrologic simulation. J. Adv. Model. Earth Syst. 10:43-53.
- Ding C, Ma Y, Li X, Zhang T, Wang X, 2018. Determination and validation of soil thresholds for cadmium based on food quality standard and health risk assessment. Sci. Total Environ. 619-620:700-6.
- Durner W, 1994. Hydraulic conductivity estimation for soils with heterogeneous pore structure. Water Resour. Res. 30:211-23.
- Fan J, Baumgartl T, Scheuermann A, Lockington D, 2015. Modelling effects of canopy and roots on soil moisture and deep drainage. Vadose Zone J. [Epub ahead of print].
- Ferguson CC, 1999. Assessing risks from contaminated sites: policy

and practice in 16 European countries. Land Contam. Reclam. 7:33-54.

- Gibson KEB, Yang HS, Franz T, Hanford K, Eisenhauer D, Gates JB, Nasta P, Farmaha BS, Grassini P, 2018. Assessing explanatory factors for variation in on-farm irrigation in US maize-soybean systems, Agric. Water Manag. 197:34-40.
- Gibson J, Franz TE, Wang T, Gates JB, Grassini P, Yang H, Eisenhauer D, 2017. A case study of field-scale maize irrigation patterns in western Nebraska: implications for water managers and recommendations for hyper-resolution land surface modeling. Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci. 21:1051-62.
- Giovannelli A, Deslauriers A, Fragnelli G, Scaletti L, Castro G, Rossi S, Crivellaro A, 2007. Evaluation of drought response of two poplar clones (Populusx canadensis Mönch 'I-214' and P. deltoides Marsh. 'Dvina') through high resolution analysis of stem growth. J. Exp. Bot. 58:2673-83.
- Guittonny-Larchevêque M, Bussiére B, Pednault C, 2016. Treesubstrate water relations and root development in tree plantations used for mine tailings reclamation. J. Environ. Qual. 45:1036-45.
- Komínková D, Fabbricino M, Gurung B, Race M, Tritto C, Ponzo A, 2018. Sequential application of soil washing and phytoremediation in the land of fires. J. Environ. Manag. 206:1081-9.
- Kutilek M, Nielsen DR, 1994. Soil hydrology. GeoEcology textbook. Cremlingen-Destedt, Germany.
- Lu JH, Yang XP, Meng XC, Wang GQ, Lin YS, Wang YJ, Zhao FJ, 2017. Predicting cadmium safety thresholds in soils based on cadmium uptake by chinese cabbage. Pedosphere 27:475-81.
- Lugli F, Mahler CF, 2015. Phytoremediation of metals: A numerical analysis. Intern. J. Phytorem. 17:242-8.
- Mayerová M, Petrová Š, Madaras M, Lipavský J, Šimon T, 2017. Non-enhanced phytoextraction of cadmium, zinc, and lead by high-yielding crops. Environ Sci. Pollut. Res. 24:14706-16.
- McLaughlin SB, Wullschleger SD, Nosal M, 2003. Diurnal and seasonal changes in stem increment and water use by yellow poplar trees in response to environmental stress. Tree Physiol. 23:1125-36.
- Michels E, Annicaerta B, De Moor S, Van Nevel L, De Fraeye M, Meiresonne L, Vangronsveld J, Tack F MG, Ok YS, Meers E, 2018. Limitations for phytoextraction management on metalpolluted soils with poplar short rotation coppice - evidence from a 6-year field trial. Int. J. Phytorem. 20:8-15.
- Mir ZA, Bharose R, Lone AH, Malik ZA, 2017. Review on phytoremediation: An ecofriendly and green technology for removal of heavy metals. Crop Res. 52:74-82.
- Monaco D, Riccio A, Chianese E, Adamo P, Di Rosa S, Fagnano M, 2015. Chemical characterization and spatial distribution of PAHs and heavy hydrocarbons in rural sites of Campania Region, South Italy. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 22:14993-5003.
- Moosavi SG, Seghatoleslami MJ, 2013. Phytoremediation: A review. Adv. Agric. Biol. 1:5-11.
- Moriasi DN, Arnold JG, Van Liew MW, Bingner RL, Harmel RD, Veith TL, 2007. Model evaluation guidelines for systematic quantification of accuracy in watershed simulations. Trans. ASABE 50:885-900.
- Nasta P, Gates JB, 2013. Plot-scale modeling of soil water dynamics beneath rainfed maize during seasonal rainfall extremes in Eastern Nebraska. Agric. Water Manag. 128:120-30.
- Nasta P, Romano N, Assouline S, Vrugt JA, Hopmans JW, 2013. Prediction of spatially-variable unsaturated hydraulic conductivity using scaled particle-size distribution functions. Water Resour. Res. 49:20255.



- Peters A, Durner W, 2008. Simplified evaporation method for determining soil hydraulic properties. J. Hydrol. 356:147-62.
- Pietrini F, Zacchini M, Iori V, Pietrosanti L, Bianconi D, Massacci A, 2010. Screening of poplar clones for cadmium phytoremediation using photosynthesis, biomass and cadmium content analyses. Int. J. Phytoremediat. 12:105-20.
- Qin Y, Yang H, Deng Z, Zhang J, 2014. A simplified model for computing pollutants release from granular pavement base to local aquifer. Environ. Earth Sci. 72:1533-40.
- Raskin I, Ensley BD (eds), 1999. Phytoremediation of toxic metals: using plants to clean up the environment. Wiley, New York, USA.
- Redovniković IR, De Marco A, Proietti C, Hanousek K, Sedak M, Bilandžić N, Jakovljević T, 2017. Poplar response to cadmium and lead soil contamination. Ecotoxic. Environ. Safety 144:482-9.
- Robinson BH, Mills TM, Petit D, Fung LE, Green SR, Clothier BE, 2000. Natural and induced cadmium-accumulation in poplar and willow: implications for phytoremediation. Plant Soil 227:301-6.
- Rocco C, Duro I, Di Rosa S, Fagnano M, Fiorentino N, Vetromile A, Adamo P, 2016. Composite vs. discrete soil sampling in assessing soil pollution of agricultural sites affected by solid waste disposal. J. Geochem. Explor. 170:30-8.
- Romano N, Santini A, 1999. Determining soil hydraulic functions from evaporation experiments by a parameter estimation approach: Experimental verifications and numerical studies. Water Resour. Res. 35:3343-59.
- Romano N, Brunone B, Santini A, 1998. Numerical analysis of onedimensional unsaturated flow in layered soils. Adv. Water Resour. 21:315-24.
- Romano N, Nasta P, 2016. How effective is bimodal soil hydraulic characterization? Functional evaluations for predictions of soil water balance. Eur. J. Soil Sci. 67:523-35.

- Romano N, Nasta P, Severino G, Hopmans JW, 2011. Using bimodal log-normal functions to describe soil hydraulic properties. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 75:468-80.
- Santini A, 1975. Presupposti teorici delle misure idrologiche e idrauliche nel terreno agrario e forestale. Proc. 1st Division of AIGR "Misure Idrologiche e Idrauliche nel Terreno Agrario e Forestale", Milano (Italy), pp. 11-42 (in Italian).
- Shackelford CD, Daniel DE, 1991. Diffusion in Saturated Soil .1. Background. J. Geotechn. Engin. ASCE 117:467-84.
- Šimůnek J, van Genuchten MT, Kodešová R, 2018. Thematic issue on HYDRUS software applications to subsurface fluid flow and contaminant transport. J. Hydrol. Hydromech. 66:129-32.
- Sposito G, 1986. The "physics" of soil water physics. Water Resour. Res. 22:83-8.
- Tian QY, 2014. Daily and seasonal stem radial activity of Populus euphratica and its association with hydroclimatic factors in the lower reaches of China's Heihe River basin. Environ. Earth Sci. 72:609-21.
- Van Ommen HC, 1985. Calculating the quality of drainage water from non-homogeneous soil profiles with an extension to an unsaturated-saturated groundwater quality model including bypass flow. Agric. Water Manag. 10:293-304.
- Vauclin M, Haverkamp R, Vachaud G, 1979. Résolution numérique d'une équation de diffusion non linéaire. Presses Universitaires de Grenoble, Grenoble, France.
- Vidali M, 2001. Bioremediation: An overview. Pure Appl. Chem. 73:1163-72.
- Wu F, Yang W, Zhang J, Zhou L, 2010. Cadmium accumulation and growth responses of a poplar (Populus deltoides x Populus nigra) in cadmium contaminated purple soil and alluvial soil. J. Hazard. Mater. 177:268-73.

PAGEPress Publications via Giuseppe Belli 7 Pavia, Italy www.pagepress.org